## Targeting CD44v6, a co-receptor for Met and VEGFR-2 in endothelial cells, inhibits tumour angiogenesis

INAUGURAL-DISSERTATION

zur

Erlangung der Doktorwürde der Naturwissenschaftlich-Mathematischen Gesamtfakultät der Ruprecht-Karls-Universität Heidelberg

2009

vorgelegt von Martina Tremmel aus Frankfurt / Main

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:

Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Uwe Strähle Dr. Véronique Orian-Rousseau, PD

#### ABSTRACT

Members of the transmembrane glycoprotein family CD44 containing variant exon v6 sequences have been shown to act as co-receptors for the receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) Met in epithelial cells (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2002; Orian-Rousseau et al. 2007).

This work demonstrates that the co-receptor function of CD44v6 can be expanded to endothelial cells (ECs) and to another RTK, VEGFR-2. As VEGFR-2 is the most prominent RTK in angiogenesis, these findings indicate that also CD44v6 is strongly involved in this process.

Both in the case of VEGFR-2 and Met, CD44v6 is not only required for receptor activation, a function performed by the CD44v6 ectodomain, but also plays a role in signal transduction. The intracellular domain of CD44v6 recruits ERM (ezrin, radixin, moesin) proteins bound to the actin cytoskeleton, a prerequisite for activation of further components of the signalling cascades.

Interestingly a small peptide and an antibody directed against CD44v6 block the co-receptor function of CD44v6. Both tools strongly inhibit activation of Met or VEGFR-2 by their respective ligands in ECs. Consequently they interfere with physiologic EC behaviour such as ligand-induced migration, sprouting and tube formation. Treatment with the CD44v6 antibody and the CD44v6 peptide also interfered with tumour vascularisation in two orthotopic tumour models. Both the antibody and the peptide significantly reduced the microvessel density in a mammary carcinoma system. More drastic effects were seen in the case of human pancreatic carcinoma cells injected in the tail of the pancreas of nude mice. There, not only the tumour size was decreased, but also the vessel density and the vessel size were drastically reduced.

In conclusion blocking of CD44v6 is a very attractive approach for inhibition of pathologic angiogenesis as demonstrated in tumour progression. Targeting one single protein, CD44v6, results in the inhibition of two RTKs. Therefore the CD44v6 peptide might be a promising tool to use in an antiangiogenic therapy.

#### ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

# Die gezielte Blockierung von CD44v6, einem Ko-Rezeptor für Met und VEGFR-2, reduziert Angiogenese in Tumoren

Isoformen der Transmembran-Glykoproteinfamilie CD44, die die Sequenz des varianten Exons v6 enthalten, können als Ko-Rezeptoren für die Rezeptortyrosinkinase Met in Epithelzellen dienen (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2002; Orian-Rousseau et al. 2007).

Diese Arbeit zeigt, dass die Funktion von CD44v6 als Ko-Rezeptor auch auf Endothelzellen (ECs, endothelial cells) und auf eine andere Rezeptortyrosinkinase, nämlich VEGFR-2, übertragen werden kann. Da der VEGFR-2 einer der wichtigsten Rezeptoren in der Angiogenese ist, zeigen diese Ergebnisse, dass auch CD44v6 im Prozess der Angiogenese eine bedeutende Rolle spielt.

Sowohl für VEGFR-2 als auch für Met wurde gezeigt, dass CD44v6 nicht nur für die Rezeptoraktivierung benötigt wird, eine Aufgabe, die die Ektodomäne von CD44 übernimmt, sondern auch für die intrazelluläre Signalweiterleitung. Die zytoplasmatische Domäne von CD44v6 kann ERM-Proteine (Ezrin, Radixin, Moesin) binden, welche wiederum an das Aktinzytoskelett gekoppelt sind. Dies ist eine Voraussetzung für die Aktivierung weiterer Bestandteile der Signalkaskade.

Interessanterweise kann die Ko-Rezeptorfunktion von CD44v6 sowohl durch ein kleines Peptid als auch durch einen Antikörper, die beide gegen CD44v6 gerichtet sind, blockiert werden. Sie verhindern die Aktivierung von Met und VEGFR-2 durch die entsprechenden Liganden HGF und VEGF-A. Als Folge davon beeinträchtigen sie das physiologische Verhalten der Endothelzellen, wie zum Beispiel die ligand-gerichtete Migration, das Aussprießen aus einem Zellverbund sowie die Bildung von gefäßähnlichen Strukturen. Die Behandlung mit dem CD44v6 Antikörper oder dem CD44v6 Peptid reduziert auch die Vaskularisierung von Tumoren in zwei orthotopen Tumor-Modellen in Mäusen. Sowohl der Antikörper als auch das Peptid reduzierten die Gefäßdichte in einem Tumor der Brust signifikant. Deutlich stärkere Effekte konnten in einem Pankreas-Karzinom-Modell erzielt werden. Hier waren nicht nur die Gefäßdichte, sondern auch die Gefäßgröße und das Tumorvolumen deutlich reduziert.

Zusammenfassend zeigt diese Arbeit, dass die Blockierung von CD44v6 ein interessanter Ansatz ist, um pathologische Angiogenese wie zum Beispiel bei der Tumorentwicklung zu hemmen. Die gezielte Ausschaltung eines einzigen Proteins, CD44v6, führt zur Inaktivierung von zwei Rezeptortyrosinkinasen. Deshalb ist das CD44v6 Peptid ein vielversprechendes Mittel, das in einer antiangiogenen Therapie eingesetzt werden könnte.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Ab	stract		I
Zu	samm	enfassung	ш.
Fig	ure in	ndex	VII
Ab	brevi	ations	.IX
Int	roduc	ction	1
1	An	igiogenesis under physiologic and pathologic conditions	1
	1.1	Steps of angiogenesis	2
	1.2	Pathological angiogenesis	2
	1.5	Regulation of angiogenesis	3
2	VE	CGF	4
	2.1	Structure of VEGF-A	5
	2.2	Physiologic functions of VEGF-A	6
3	Re	ceptors for VEGF	7
	3.1	VEGFR-1	8
	3.2	VEGFR-2	9
	3.3	Modulation of VEOFR-2 activation	9
4	H(	JF and its receptor Met	.10
	4.1 1 2	Structure of Met	. 1 1
	43	Biological function of HGF/Met	11
	4.4	HGF-induced signalling	. 12
	4.5	Modulators of Met signalling	. 13
5	CI	)44	.14
	5.1	CD44 gene structure	. 14
	5.2	CD44 protein structure	. 15
	5.3 5.4	Functions of CD44 in physiologic and pathologic conditions	.1/
	5.4	Molecular mechanisms of CD44 function	. 20
Ree	mlte		
1		Mark asts as a secont or for Mat in and the list calls	. 27
1	1.1	CD44v6 is required for Met activation and signal transduction in endothelial cells	.27
2	CI	)44v6 acts as a co-receptor for VEGFR-2 in endothelial cells	. 29
_	2.1	CD44v6 is required for activation of VEGFR-2 and signal transduction	. 29
	2.2	CD44 variant 6 alone is sufficient for activation of VEGFR-2 in endothelial cells	. 31
	2.3	The cytoplasmic domain of CD44 promotes signal transduction of activated	<u>.</u>
		VEGFR-2	. 34
3	CI	044v6 is required for physiological ligand-induced behaviour	.36
	3.1	CD44v6 is involved in sprouting of endothelial cells	.36
	5.2 3 3	Tube formation of endothelial cells depends on CD44v6	. 5 / 39
	2.2	The set in the second of the second second of the second s	

## Table of Contents

4	CD	944v6 containing isoforms play a role in angiogenesis <i>in vivo</i>	. 42
	4.1	The response of endothelial cells to the stimulus of isolated angiogenic Langerhans	
		islets depends on CD44v6	. 42
	4.2	CD44v6 is required for the formation of a vascular network in a spheroid-based	
		in vivo angiogenesis assay	.43
	4.3	CD44 is involved in tumour vascularisation	.44
Disc	ussic	n	. 49
Mat	erial	and Methods	.57
	~ 1 Iui		
1	M	iterial	.57
	1.1	Chemicals and cell culture equipment	.57
	1.2	Hardware and consumables	. 58
	1.3	Antibodies	. 59
	1.	3.1 Primary antibodies	59
	1 1.4	A nimela and arganisma	60
	1.4	Animals and organisms	. 00
	1.4	4.1 Annuals	00
	1.4	4.3 Bacterial strain	61
	1.5	Kits	. 61
	16	Growth factors and special reagents	62
	17	Pentides	62
	1.8	Plasmid constructs	62
	1.0		. 02
2	Me	thods	. 63
	2.1	Tissue culture methods	. 63
	2.	1.1 Passaging cells	63
	2.	1.2 Freezing and thawing cells	63
	2.	1.5 Seeding cens	03
	2.	1.5 Transfecting Bsp73AS cells	64
	2.	1.6 Activation of Receptor Tyrosine Kinases and downstream target Erk	64
	2.	1.7 Co-immunoprecipitation	64
	2.2	Protein methods	. 65
	2.2	2.1 Protein extraction and cell lysis	65
	2.	2.2 Separation of proteins via SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	65
	2.2	2.3 Western blotting	66
	2.3	DNA methods	. 6/
	2	3.1 KNA Isolation and CDNA synthesis	0/
	2	3.3 Separation of DNA fragments via agarose gel electrophoresis	07
	2.4	In-vitro experiments	68
	2.4	4.1 Wound closure assay	68
	2.4	4.2 Thymidine incorporation	68
	2.4	4.3 Spheroid sprouting	69
	2.4	4.4 Tube formation on Matrigel	69
	2.5	Experiments with animals	. 70
	2.:	5.1 Islet culturing assay	70
	2.	5.2 Spneroid-based <i>in vivo</i> angiogenesis assay	/0
	2	Detection methods	/1 77
	∠.0 ? /	5.1 Flat-nanel detector volume computed tomography imaging	. 14 72
	2.	5.2 Immunohistological analysis	72
<b>D</b> <sup>11</sup> -		······································	
Bibl	llogra	ipny	.75

## **FIGURE INDEX**

Figure 1: Selection of important activators and inhibitors of angiogenensis	4
Figure 2: Schematic presentation of VEGF-A isoforms	5
Figure 3: Schemeatic presentation of the CD44 gene.	. 15
Figure 4: CD44v6 is required for activation of Met and downstream signalling in several ECs.	28
Figure 5: The soluble CD44v6 ectodomain interferes with HGF-induced signalling	. 29
Figure 6: Activation of VEGFR-2 and signal transduction induced by VEGF-A165	
depends on CD44v6.	. 30
Figure 7: CD44v6 is important for VEGF-A-induced activation of VEGFR-2 and	
signalling to Erk.	. 30
Figure 8: HUVECs express several variant isoforms of CD44, but variants 6 and 3	
are expressed in separate molecules.	. 32
Figure 9: VEGF-A121 requires CD44v6 for activation of VEGFR-2 and signalling to Erk	. 32
Figure 10: Exon v6 in the variant part of CD44 alone suffices for VEGFR-2 activation	. 33
Figure 11: CD44 and VEGFR-2 form a complex.	. 34
Figure 12: The cytoplasmic part of CD44 is involved in VEGF-A-induced signalling	. 35
Figure 13: VEGF-A-induced signalling requires ezrin binding to the actin cytoskeleton	. 36
Figure 14: VEGF-A-induced spheroid sprouting depends on CD44v6.	. 37
Figure 15: CD44v6 is required for EC migration	. 38
Figure 16: The ligands HGF, VEGF-A165 or VEGF-A121 do not induce EC proliferation	. 39
Figure 17: CD44v6 is required for EC tube formation on Matrigel	.41
Figure 18: The response of HUVECs to a mixture of angiogenic factors produced	
by angiogenic Langerhans islets can be reduced by CD44v6 specific inhibitors.	. 43
Figure 19: CD44v6 contributes to in vivo vessel formation of endothelial cell spheroids	. 44
Figure 20: Treatment with the CD44v6 antibody reduces vascularisation of	
MDA-MB231 tumours.	. 46
Figure 21: Blocking of CD44v6 reduces the microvessel density in MDA-MB231 tumours	. 46
Figure 22: Treatment with the CD44v6 peptide blocks tumour growth and tumour	
vascularisation.	. 47

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

AER	apical ectodermal ridge
Arp2/3	actin related protein 2/3
C	Celsius
CAM	cellular adhesion molecule
CD44	cluster of differentiation 44
CD44s	CD44 standard
cDNA	complementary DNA
CEP	circulating endothelial precursors
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon dioxide
Crk	CT10 regulator of kinase
Da	Dalton
DEP	density-enriched phosphatase
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DMSO	dimethylsulfoxide
DNA	desoxy ribonucleic acid
dNTP	desoxy nucleotide triphosphate
DTT	dithiothreitol
E	embryonic day of development
EC	endothelial cell
ECL	enhanced chemiluminescence
ECGM	endothelial cell growth medium
ECGM MV	endothelial cell growth medium microvascular
ECM	extracellular matrix
EDTA	ethylendioxide tetra acetic acid
eg	for example
EGF	epidermal growth factor
Erk	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ERM	ezrin radixin and moesin
F-actin	filamentous actin
FCS	foetal calf serum
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FL	foetal liver
Flt	fsm-like tyrosine kinase recentor: mouse foetal liver kinase
fnVCT	flat-nanel volume computed tomography
g	gram
Gab1	Grb2-associated binding protein 1
GAG	glycosaminoglycans
GEF	guanine nucleotide exchange factor
GF	growth factor
GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulation factor
Grb2	growth factor receptor bound protein 2
HA	hvaluronan
HAOEC	human aortic endothelial cell
HCMEC	human cardiac microvascular endothelial cell
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor
HOS	human osteosarcoma cells
HRE	Hypoxia response element
	Jr

HRP	horseradish peroxidase
HS	heparan sulphate
HSPG	heparan sulphated proteoglycan
HUVEC	human umbilical vein endothelial cell
ICAM	intercellular adhesion molecule
IGF	insuline-like growth factor
IHC	immunchistochemistry
II.	interleukin
INF	interferon
InlB	InternalinB
	kilo
	Kilo Vinaga ingart damain containing recentor
LIBMC	long-term bone marrow culture
μ	
MBD	Met binding domain
Met	mesenchymal-epithelial transition factor
mm	millimetre
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
n	nano
NRP	neuropilin
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
рер	peptide
PI3K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
РКС	protein kinase C
PLC	phospholipase C
PlGF	placenta growth factor
PMSF	phenylmethylsulfonyl-fluoride
PSI	plexin semaphorin and integrin
Psn	nhagocyte glyconrotein
PTB	phosphotyrosine hinding
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNase	ribonuclease
Rnasin	Rnase inhibitor
RTK	recentor tyrosine kinase
	reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
sCD44	soluble CD44
SCD44 Sola	Sha related adapter protein
SUK	sic related adaptor protein
SDS SE	
SF SU2	Scaller Tactor
SП2 S1-1	Sic-nonology 2
SnD	Src nomology 2 domain containing adaptor protein B
Snc	Src-nomology 2 containing protein
SUS	son-ot-sevenless
Src	short for sarcoma: family of proto-oncogenic tyrosine kinases
SV	snake venom
TEMED	tetramethylethylenediamine

transforming growth factor
tissue inhibitors of MMP
tumour necrosis factor
tissue plasminogen activator
translocated promoter region
tumour necrosis factor stimulated gene
thrombospondin
unit
urokinase-like plasminogen activator
variant
vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGF receptor
vascular leak syndrome
vascular permeability factor

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### 1 Angiogenesis under physiologic and pathologic conditions

Every living cell in an organism needs oxygen, nutrients and other metabolites to survive. In addition, it has to remove carbon dioxide and metabolic waste like urea and uric acid. In some small organisms including e.g. flatworms these functions are fulfilled by simple diffusion. In bigger animals diffusion is not sufficient for an adequate supply with oxygen and nutrients. Therefore most invertebrates and all vertebrates developed a circulatory system to handle these important functions during evolution. The circulatory system consists of two components, the cardiovascular and the lymphatic system.

In the closed cardiovascular system blood circulates through the body driven by the heart pump. It reaches the tissue capillaries via arteries and arterioles. The arterial pressure induces extravasation of plasma and nutrients that will invade the surrounding tissues. Oxygen will then diffuse to places with lower partial pressure. In return, CO<sub>2</sub> and the interstitial fluid containing waste products enter the capillaries and are removed via venules and veins.

The open lymphatic system is responsible for the transport of the retained interstitial fluid from the periphery back to the cardiovascular circulatory system. Lymphatic capillaries are blind ending and very permeable, the fluid can easily enter this network and is transported slowly via the thoracic and lymphatic duct to the subclavian vein into the blood system. Additionally the lymphatic system transports antigen-presenting cells and participates in immune responses.

The establishment of the complex network of blood vessels within an organism is the result of two processes: vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. Vasculogenesis occurs during embryonic development. Precursors of endothelial cells (EC), so called angioblasts that emerge from the mesoderm, express some typical EC markers but do not form any lumen. They differentiate into blood islands, which fuse to a primitive vasculature and form a primary vascular plexus (reviewed in (Risau and Flamme 1995)). This is followed by angiogenesis, the formation of new blood vessels that develop from the existing vasculature. New blood vessels are formed by sprouting and branching from the primary vascular plexus (sprouting angiogenesis) or by splitting vessels in a way that the ECs grow into the lumen forming transcapillary pillars (non-sprouting angiogenesis) in order to establish an adequate vasculature for developing and growing organs (Risau and Flamme 1995; Patan et al. 1996).

#### 1.1 Steps of angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is split in different steps that are regulated by activating as well as inhibiting molecules. One of the first events is vasodilatation combined with an increased vascular permeability of pre-existing vessels. Plasma proteins extravasate and generate the optimal microenvironment for EC migration. Pericytes are removed from the branching vessels, and the basement membrane and the extracellular matrix (ECM) are locally degraded and remodelled by specific proteases such as matrix metalloproteinases. Then sprouting occurs. The ECs loosen their contacts to neighbouring cells and to the ECM. Attracted by chemotactic angiogenic stimuli they start to migrate and proliferate. Upon arrest, the ECs adhere to each other and form a lumen. Further proliferation takes place in order to enlarge the vessel diameter. The vessels mature by recruiting mural cells that stabilise the new vasculature (reviewed in (Risau 1997; Papetti and Herman 2002; Bergers and Benjamin 2003)).

#### **1.2** Pathological angiogenesis

In adults the vasculature is usually quiescent and angiogenesis happens primarily in the female ovarian cycle, where the blood vessels supplying the endometrium are established periodically. Also wound healing processes following tissue injury depend on angiogenesis as the newly formed tissue needs to be provided with oxygen.

However uncontrolled angiogenesis is the reason for a number of diseases. During age-related macular degeneration, neovascular glaucoma and diabetic retinopathy, an excessive network of blood vessels grows beneath the retina in the eye and can cause blindness. Overexpression of angiogenic growth factors contributes to the establishment of these diseases. An elevated level of VEGF-A (vascular endothelial growth factor A) is detectable in the retina as well as the vitreous of eyes during proliferative diabetic retinopathy (Adamis et al. 1994). The local treatment of patients suffering from age-related macular degeneration with drugs antagonising VEGF-A like Ranibizumab (Lucentis), which is the antigen-detecting fragment of the humanised monoclonal antibody Bevacizumab (Avastin), decreases disease progression and increases the life quality (Rosenfeld 2006; Rosenfeld et al. 2006; Gillies and Wong 2007).

Chronic inflammatory diseases are another example where angiogenesis is involved in pathologic processes. They include rheumatoid arthritis as well as psoriasis and in both hyper-vascularisation of a specific tissue is part of the clinical picture (summarised in (Polverini 1995)). In psoriasis the exceeded vascularisation is traced back to an increased amount of the

proangiogenic polypeptide interleukin-8 (IL-8) and a reduced level of the angiogenesis inhibitor thrombospondin (Nickoloff et al. 1994).

#### 1.3 Tumour-induced angiogenensis

The best-investigated pathologic process of blood vessel formation is angiogenesis in tumour growth and tumour progression. Like healthy tissues, a tumour needs to be properly supplied with oxygen and nutrients and has to get rid of waste products. Close proximity to blood vessels fulfils these requirements (Papetti and Herman 2002). A discrete step in tumour development is the induction of a tumour vasculature, called the angiogenic switch. The tumour modifies the balance of pro- and antiangiogenic signals emphasising the activating one's and thereby triggers EC sprouting, migration and proliferation.

Tumour-induced angiogenesis is similar to physiologic angiogenesis. Lack of oxygen induces an imbalance of pro- and antiangiogenic factors, existing endothelium starts to sprout, migrate and proliferate. But tumour-induced vessels are often structurally abnormal. They are not strictly organised in arterioles, venules and capillaries but combine the characteristics of all of them. Frequently they are dilated or convoluted, leaky and haemorrhagic as they have many fenestrae and transcellular holes. Some tumour vessels can even be useless as they lead to dead ends or the blood flows alternately in both directions (reviewed in (Bergers and Benjamin 2003)). Furthermore reduced contact with functional pericytes can cause decreased vessels stability (Benjamin et al. 1999; Morikawa et al. 2002) and even tumour cells can be integrated into the vessel walls (Chang et al. 2000).

In addition tumours make use of another mechanism to induce blood vessel formation. Circulating endothelial precursors (CEP) derived from bone marrow are suggested to participate in formation of new tumour blood vessels, a process that reminds "neovasculogenesis". They have angioblast-like characteristics though they are present in the adult circulation (Rafii 2000). When recruitment of these precursors is impaired, tumour angiogenesis and tumour growth are reduced (Lyden et al. 2001).

Tumour-induced blood vessels do not only supply the growing tumour with substances, they even offer a possibility for tumour progression. The newly formed vessels can serve as entry sites into the circulatory system for metastasising tumour cells (Liotta et al. 1974). Once in the blood vessels, they are distributed throughout the organism and are able to give rise to metastases.

### 1.4 Regulation of angiogenesis

A complex interplay between numerous activators and inhibitors controls exactly where angiogenesis takes place (see Figure 1). Angiogenic regulators include soluble mediators that are able to activate their respective receptor on ECs, membrane-bound proteins that influence cell-cell or cell-extracellular matrix interactions and substances that are able to change the environment like matrix metalloproteinases (reviewed in (Papetti and Herman 2002)). This work concentrates on the function of two soluble mediators, vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF).

Angiogenesis activators	Angiogenesis inhibitors
vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs) fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) placenta growth factor (PIGF) angiopoietins angiotropin angiogenin insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) epidermal growth factor (EGF) transforming growth factors (TGFs) tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$ (TNF- $\alpha$ ) hypoxia nitric oxide matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) prostaglandin nicotinamide	angiostatin thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1) tissue inhibitors of MMPs (TIMPs) protamine interferon- $\alpha$ (INF- $\alpha$ ) soluble receptors for VEGF soluble receptors for FGF

**Figure 1: Selection of important activators and inhibitors of angiogenensis.** The function of those angiogenesis modulators is reviewed in (Papetti and Herman 2002)

## 2 VEGF

VEGFs belong to the VEGF/PDGF (Platelet-derived growth factor) supergene family. The VEGF proteins include VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, VEGF-E, svVEGF (snake venom VEGF) and PlGF (Placenta growth factor). All of them are ligands for receptor tyrosine kinases that are primarily expressed on ECs and are involved in angiogenic or lymphangiogenic processes. The predominantly expressed and best-characterised VEGF is VEGF-A.

VEGF-A is the most prominent activator of angiogenesis. It was discovered independently by two groups as a peptide with a unique specificity for vascular ECs (Ferrara and Henzel 1989; Plouet et al. 1989). It turned out that VEGF is identical to the vascular permeability factor (VPF)

that induces vascular leakage, which allows tissue infiltration of plasma proteins (Senger et al. 1983; Keck et al. 1989).

#### 2.1 Structure of VEGF-A

The VEGF-A gene is organised in eight exons (Tischer et al. 1991). Alternative splicing of exons 6 and 7 gives rise to at least nine different isoforms which range in length from 121 to 206 amino acid residues (VEGF-A121 to VEGF-A206) (Tischer et al. 1991) (see Figure 2). Till now it is not clear how the splicing is regulated, but the VEGF producing cells preferentially express VEGF-A121, VEGF-A165 and VEGF-A189.



Figure 2: Schematic presentation of VEGF-A isoforms. Exons 6 and 7 are subject to alternative splicing. The VEGF-A isoforms written in red show inhibitory effects.

VEGF-A isoforms contain eight cysteine residues that are conserved also in other VEGF proteins and PDGF (platelet-derived growth factor) (Keck et al. 1989). Two of them form an intrachain disulfide-bonded knot motif (McDonald and Hendrickson 1993). In order to become biologically active they are organised as homodimers. Two monomers associate via hydrophobic interactions and this aggregation is then stabilised by two interchain disulfide bonds between the cysteines 51 and 61 (Potgens et al. 1994). VEGF-A dimers are ligands for the receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1 (VEGFR-1) and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 (VEGFR-2). Three acidic residues in exon 3 of VEGF-A (Asp63,

Glu64, Glu67) are required for binding to VEGFR-1 whereas three basic residues in exon 4 (Arg82, Lys84, His86) are essential for binding to VEGFR-2 (Keyt et al. 1996).

VEGF-A165 is the predominant VEGF-A isoform. The basic 46 kDa protein is able to bind heparin via a motif containing 15 basic amino acids encoded by exon 7 (Ferrara and Henzel 1989). About 50-70 % of the secreted VEGF-A165 remains associated to the cell surface or the ECM probably via heparan sulphate proteoglycan (HSPG) interactions (Houck et al. 1992).

Another isoform of VEGF-A is VEGF-A165b. It differs from VEGF-A165 by the carboxyterminal amino acid residues encoded by exon 8. It acts as an inhibitor because it can bind to the VEGFR-2 with a similar affinity than VEGF-A165 but is not able to activate downstream signalling pathways (Woolard et al. 2004).

VEGF-A121 is a weakly acidic protein that lacks the amino acids encoded by exons 6 and 7. VEGF-A121 is not able to bind heparin because the heparin binding motives are missing. Therefore it is secreted and not bound to the ECM or to the cell surface (Houck et al. 1992).

The two isoforms VEGF-A189 and VEGF-A206 show strong heparin binding and are completely sequestered in the ECM or to a lesser extend at the cell membrane (Houck et al. 1992). Both isoforms are not able to stimulate EC mitogenesis. VEGFA-189 is able to bind VEGFR-1, but it needs to be cleaved and released to bind and activate VEGFR-2.

VEGF-A145 binds heparin with a similar affinity than VEGF-A165. After secretion it is partly bound to the ECM via heparin and structures independent of heparin or heparan sulphate (HS) (Poltorak et al. 1997).

VEGF-A isoforms that are bound to the ECM via heparin or heparan sulphate constitute a reservoir of these growth factors. They are biologically inactive in the bound form, but they can activate their receptors when they are released. A slow release of bound VEGF-A can take place in presence of heparin, heparan sulphate and heparinases, whereas they are set free rapidly by the proteolytic enzyme plasmin (Houck et al. 1992; Plouet et al. 1997). Interestingly plasminogen activators (that convert enzymatic inactive plasminogen into the proteolytic enzyme plasmin) are expressed by ECs following stimulation of either VEGF-A or bFGF. Consequently activation of ECs with the angiogenic factors VEGF-A or bFGF results in a increased concentration of plasminogen and the local release of stored ECM-bound VEGF-A isoforms that enhance the angiogenic stimulus (Moscatelli et al. 1986; Pepper et al. 1991).

#### 2.2 Physiologic functions of VEGF-A

VEGF-A is essential for embryonic development. Its importance can be deduced from animals where the loss of just one VEGF-A allele results in embryonic lethality. These animals die at an

age of embryonic day 11 to 12 due to a deficiency in EC development and a lack of vessel formation (Carmeliet et al. 1996; Ferrara et al. 1996). VEGF-A contributes both to vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. On the one hand it directly affects the formation of blood vessels because it stimulates EC proliferation, migration, sprouting as well as tube formation. On the other hand it has an indirect impact on angiogenesis as it induces the expression of proteases such as interstitial collagenase, uPA (urokinase-like plaminogen activator) and tPA (tissue plasminogen activator) (Pepper et al. 1991; Unemori et al. 1992). These proteases release the ECs from their environment, a prerequisite for migration and invasion. VEGF-A induces vascular permeability and leakage, so that plasma proteins are able to infiltrate the surrounding tissues (Senger et al. 1983; Keck et al. 1989). In addition it is a key survival factor for ECs (Alon et al. 1995; Benjamin and Keshet 1997) as it induces the expression of the anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and A1.

VEGF-A can act in a paracrine or autocrine way as it is expressed by a number of cells including ECs, macrophages and activated T cells. Elevated levels of VEGF-A were also found in the majority of human tumours (Ferrara and Davis-Smyth 1997). VEGF-A gene expression is tightly regulated. Hypoxia is a strong activator of VEGF-A expression (Levy et al. 1995; Liu et al. 1995). On the one hand HIF-1 (hypoxia-induced factor 1), which is stabilised by low oxygen concentrations, binds to the hypoxia response element (HRE) upstream of the VEGF-A gene and enhances VEGF-A expression. On the other hand the hypoxia-induced stability factor (HuR) increases the half-life of VEGF-A mRNA (Levy et al. 1998). In addition many cytokines and growth factors upregulate VEGF-A mRNA, e.g. EGF (epidermal growth factor), TGF- $\beta$  (transforming growth factor  $\beta$ ), IL-1 $\alpha$  (interleukin 1  $\alpha$ ), IL-6 (interleukin 6) and IGF-1 (insulin-like growth factor 1) (Brogi et al. 1994; Pertovaara et al. 1994; Li et al. 1995; Cohen et al. 1996; Warren et al. 1996) and transformation can also induce VEGF-A expression, e.g. mutations of p53 (Kieser et al. 1994; Mukhopadhyay et al. 1995) or ras (Grugel et al. 1995; Rak et al. 1995) lead to VEGF-A upregulation.

#### **3** Receptors for VEGF

The three main receptors for VEGFs, VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3, are RTKs that get activated upon ligand binding. Ligand induced dimerisation of the receptors causes structural changes of the transmembrane and the juxtamembrane domains and leads to autophosphorylation of the kinase domains. Further phosphorylation of several tyrosine residues forms a platform for adapter molecules that promote signalling.

VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 are mainly localised on the surface of vascular ECs (Ferrara and Davis-Smyth 1997). Additionally they were identified on bone marrow-derived cells (Kabrun et al. 1997) like macrophages and monocytes (Sawano et al. 2001) and vascular smooth muscle cells (Ishida et al. 2001). Their structure is very similar. Seven immunoglobulin-like domains form the extracellular region, of which the 2<sup>nd</sup> (VEGFR-1) or the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> (VEGFR-2) are the binding sites for VEGF-A165 (Davis-Smyth et al. 1996; Wiesmann et al. 1997; Davis-Smyth et al. 1998; Fuh et al. 1998). A single transmembrane region is followed by the intracellular tyrosine sequence that is interrupted by a kinase insert domain (Shibuya et al. 1990; Terman et al. 1991; Pajusola et al. 1992). VEGFR-3 is primarily expressed on lymphatic ECs and can become activated by VEGF-C and VEGF-D. It is an important regulator for lymphangiogenesis. A second group of receptors for VEGFs are two neuropilin (NRP) proteins. NRP-1 was originally identified as a semaphorin receptor involved in neuronal guidance. Later it was found that NRP-1 binds VEGF-A165, VEGF-B, PIGF-2 and some VEGF-E variants. A second NRP protein (NPR-2) was identified because of its sequence homology with NRP-1. It binds VEGF-

A145, VEGF-A165 and VEGF-C. Their function in VEGF signalling is described in chapter 3.3.

#### **3.1 VEGFR-1**

VEGFR-1 (also Flt-1: fms-like tyrosine kinase receptor; mouse fetal liver kinase 1) acts as a receptor for the three ligands VEGF-A (de Vries et al. 1992), VEGF-B (Olofsson et al. 1998) and PIGF (Park et al. 1994). It is the receptor with the highest affinity for VEGF-A, but its activation results only in weak tyrosine phosphorylation and weak mitogenic signalling (de Vries et al. 1992; Waltenberger et al. 1994). Therefore it was proposed that VEGFR-1 might mainly act as a decoy receptor with inhibitory effects (Park et al. 1994). An alternatively spliced soluble VEGFR-1 also acts as an inhibitor of VEGF-A activity, binding VEGF-A and reducing activation of VEGFR-2 (Kendall and Thomas 1993). This inhibitory function of VEGFR-1 is absent in VEGFR-1 knockout mice where an excessive proliferation of angioblasts and an overgrowth of unorganised ECs lead to death between embryonic day 8.5 and 9.5 (Fong et al. 1995; Fong et al. 1999).

Besides its negative function VEGFR-1 appears also to promote a positive effect as it is involved in VEGF-A165-induced migration, where the receptor mediates reorganisation of the actin cytoskeleton via the p38 MAPK pathway (Kanno et al. 2000).

#### **3.2 VEGFR-2**

VEGFR-2 (also KDR: kinase insert domain containing receptor; Flk-1 in mice) is a receptor for VEGF-A, VEGF-E, svVEGF and processed forms of VEGF-C and VEGF-D. It acts as the major mediator of the mitogenic, proliferative, angiogenic, prosurvival and permeability-enhancing effects of VEGF-A. It has an essential role in embryonic development as demonstrated by the lethality of the knockout mice between embryonic day 8.5 and 9.5 due to a lack of vasculogenesis and an impaired development of blood islands and organised blood vessels (Shalaby et al. 1995; Shalaby et al. 1997).

Upon ligand-induced VEGFR-2 dimerisation, several intracellular tyrosine residues are autophosphorylated. Tyr1175 is the major VEGF-A165-dependent autophosphorylation site in the carboxyterminal domain of VEGFR-2 that creates a binding site for cellular adaptor proteins like Sck (Shc related adaptor protein) (Warner et al. 2000), Shb (Src homology 2 domain containing adaptor protein B) (Holmqvist et al. 2004), p85 of PI3K (phosphoinositide 3 kinase) (Dayanir et al. 2001) and for PLC- $\gamma$  (phospholipase C  $\gamma$ ) (Takahashi et al. 2001). Further signal transduction involves different signalling pathways like PLC- $\gamma$ -PKC-raf-MEK-Erk, p38-MAPK, PI3K-PKB/Akt that alone or in combination result in vascular permeability, migration, proliferation and survival of ECs (Guo et al. 1995; Rousseau et al. 1997; Gerber et al. 1998a; Gerber et al. 1998b; Eliceiri et al. 1999; Takahashi et al. 1999; Meadows et al. 2001).

#### 3.3 Modulation of VEGFR-2 activation

VEGFR-2 collaborates with several cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) that are able to modify receptor activation and cellular responses. For example the association of VEGFR-2 with VE-cadherin at cell confluency inhibits receptor phosphorylation presumably by recruitment of the density-enriched phosphatase-1 (DEP-1) and thereby prevents further EC growth (Lampugnani et al. 2003; Lampugnani et al. 2006). On the other hand the complex of VE-cadherin, VEGFR-2 and PI3K induced by VEGF-A appears to be required for survival of ECs (Carmeliet et al. 1999). Furthermore VEGF-A165 requires heparin-like molecules at or in proximity to the cell membrane that increase binding to its receptors (Gitay-Goren et al. 1992).

Also neuropilins can act as co-receptors for VEGFR-2. Expression of NRP-1 in addition to VEGFR-2 on ECs increases the mitogenic activity induced by VEGF-A165 (Soker et al. 1998). A complex containing VEGFR-2 and NRP-1 is required for full bioactivity of the VEGF-A/VEGFR-2 system (Soker et al. 1998; Whitaker et al. 2001; Soker et al. 2002). VEGFR-2 and

NRP-1 do not directly interact (Fuh et al. 2000), but the ligand VEGF-A165 seems to bridge the receptors by binding to both simultaneously (Soker et al. 2002).

#### 4 HGF and its receptor Met

The VEGFRs are mainly expressed on ECs and have been associated with angiogenesis quite early. Met however is expressed in a variety of tissues, predominantly on epithelial cells. Its functions in development have been studied extensively, but its participation in angiogenesis was only recognised in the early 1990ies (Bussolino et al. 1992; Grant et al. 1993).

Hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor (HGF/SF; here abbreviated as HGF) belongs to the plasminogen-related growth factors (PRGFs) and is primarily secreted by mesenchymal cells. It was discovered as a mitogen inducing scattering and local motility of epithelial cells (Stoker et al. 1987). Independently HGF was characterised as a potent mitogen for hepatocytes (Nakamura et al. 1989; Zarnegar and Michalopoulos 1989). Finally it has been shown that both are identical molecules (Naldini et al. 1991). HGF functions by activating the receptor tyrosine kinase Met (mesenchymal-epithelial transition factor), which is primarily expressed on epithelial cells (Chan et al. 1988; Di Renzo et al. 1991). As HGF is secreted by mesenchymal cells in proximity to Met expressing cells, receptor activation is mainly paracrine (Sonnenberg et al. 1993). Met is a protooncogene that was first identified as the oncogene TPR-Met, where the intracellular kinase domain of Met is connected to the gene product of the TPR (translocated promoter region) gene by chromosomal translocation. This chromosomal rearrangement was induced with the chemical carcinogen N-methyl-N'-nitrosoguanidin in human osteosarcoma cells (HOS) (Cooper et al. 1984; Park et al. 1986). As the TPR part of that protein codes for two protein-protein interaction sequences, TPR-Met forms a dimer and is constitutively active (see structure and activation of Met in introduction chapter 4.2).

Met signalling induced by HGF is essential for embryonic development as knockout mice lacking either HGF or Met die during embryonic development at E14.5 due to a placental defect (Bladt et al. 1995; Uehara et al. 1995). Additionally the development of other organs is affected. Reduced cell number and abnormal cell morphology cause a reduced liver size (Schmidt et al. 1995), and defects in skeletal muscle development is due to impaired migration of myogenic precursor cells (Bladt et al. 1995). Also the development of motoneurons is hampered (Ebens et al. 1996).

#### 4.1 Structure of HGF

HGF is a heterodimeric protein that is transcribed as a single chain precursor and proteolytically processed by serine proteases to the biological active heterodimer. The two resulting subunits  $\alpha$  (69 kDa) and  $\beta$  (34 kDa) are linked by a disulfide bond (Miyazawa et al. 1989; Nakamura et al. 1989; Naka et al. 1992). The  $\alpha$ -subunit contains four kringle domains (K1-K4), of which K1, K2 and K4 are required for receptor activation (Hartmann et al. 1992; Holmes et al. 2007). The  $\beta$ -subunit contains a domain homologous to serine proteases but without enzymatic activity. This domain, the K1 domain and the N-terminal part of the  $\alpha$ -subunit form the binding site for the Met receptor (Lokker et al. 1992; Holmes et al. 2007).

#### 4.2 Structure of Met

Similar to its ligand HGF, Met is a heterodimeric protein that is processed by proteolytic cleavage of one precursor protein. The resulting  $\alpha$ -subunit (50 kDa) is located extracellular and is connected to the  $\beta$ -subunit via a disulfide bond. The  $\alpha$ -subunit together with the first 212 amino acids of the  $\beta$ -subunit is homologous to the semaphorin-like sema domain. The  $\beta$ -subunit (145 kDa) is membrane spanning and the extracellular part contains an additional sema domain, a cysteine rich plexin, semaphorin and integrin (PSI) domain as well as four immunoglobulin-like domains (Ig1-4). The tyrosine kinase domain and the carboxyterminal part essential for downstream signalling are localised in the intracellular region (Giordano et al. 1989).

Binding of HGF to the  $\alpha$ -subunit and the first 212 amino acids of the  $\beta$ -subunit allows receptor dimerisation, followed by autophosphorylation of three tyrosine residues in the kinase domain (Bottaro et al. 1991; Gherardi et al. 2003). Phosphorylation of further tyrosine residues is the prerequisite for intracellular signalling.

#### 4.3 Biological function of HGF/Met

Activation of Met by its ligand HGF is the trigger for different cellular responses. Met signalling leads to proliferation of several different cell types like endothelial cells, hepatocytes, keratinocytes, melanocytes and renal cells. Also migration and scattering, suggesting the loss of cell junctions, as well as invasive growth into the ECM are induced by HGF/Met signalling (reviewed in (Bardelli and Comoglio 1997; Birchmeier and Gherardi 1998)). All these cellular responses following Met signalling are necessary during development and wound healing processes. However they also take place in tumour progression. Therefore it is not surprising that deregulation of HGF and Met activation or upregulation of both proteins are found in numerous

human tumours (reviewed in (Bardelli et al. 1997; Birchmeier et al. 2003)). In addition overexpression of Met or HGF often correlates with poor prognosis indicating a role in the metastatic process. Tumour cells make use of different mechanisms to increase Met activation. For example, osteosarcomas express both the ligand HGF and the receptor Met, so that Met can be activated in an autocrine manner (Fukuda et al. 1998). Many carcinomas do overexpress Met, so they are hyperresponsive to normal HGF levels. If the receptors are expressed at very high levels, oligomerisation can lead to ligand-independent constitutive receptor activation. Mutations and structural changes in the receptor are another way to achieve ligand-independent signalling (reviewed in (Hanahan and Weinberg 2000; Birchmeier et al. 2003)).

The evidence that Met is important for tumour progression is given by several experimental approaches. Animal models reveal that invasiveness and metastatic properties of cancer cell lines are increased by overexpression of HGF and/or Met (Giordano et al. 1993; Rong et al. 1994). In line with this observation the tumourigenic potential of tumour cells is reduced when HGF or Met are downregulated (Abounder et al. 2002).

In addition to their direct function on tumour cells, Met and HGF contribute to tumour progression via a second mechanism: they are involved in angiogenesis. Using several animal models the effect of HGF on angiogenesis was proven *in vivo* (Bussolino et al. 1992; Grant et al. 1993; Rosen et al. 1993; Rosen and Goldberg 1997). HGF is a potent proangiogenic factor that activates Met on ECs and thereby contributes to the formation of new blood vessels. HGF promotes angiogenesis in two ways. On the one hand it directly activates the receptor Met on ECs to support EC's growth and motility. On the other hand HGF can stimulate and boost angiogenesis indirectly. Human vascular smooth muscle cells and keratinocytes respond to HGF activation with increased expression of VEGF-A and VEGFR-2 expression is upregulated in ECs after HGF treatment (Van Belle et al. 1998; Wojta et al. 1999). In addition, the angiogenesis inhibitor thrombospondin-1 can be downregulated following HGF induction in tumour cells (Zhang et al. 2003).

#### 4.4 HGF-induced signalling

HGF-induced dimerisation of Met results in autophosphorylation of three tyrosines within the kinase domain, Tyr1230, Tyr1234 and Tyr1235. Additionally the tyrosine residues Tyr1349 and Tyr1256 in the carboxyterminal part of Met are phosphorylated and serve as a docking site for several adaptor proteins (Ponzetto et al. 1994). These interactions between adaptor proteins and Met predominantly occur via Src-homology-2 (SH2) domains, phosphotyrosine binding (PTB) domains or Met binding domains (MBD).

Proteins that directly bind activated Met include Grb2 (growth factor receptor-bound protein 2) (Ponzetto et al. 1996), Gab1 (Grb2-associated binding protein 1) (Weidner et al. 1996), PI3K (phosphoinoditide 3-kinase) (Graziani et al. 1991; Ponzetto et al. 1994) and Shc (SH2-containing protein) (Pelicci et al. 1995). Among these, Gab1 plays a central role for Met signalling as it is a large multi-adaptor protein that provides a docking site for further signalling molecules that thereby indirectly interact with Met (Sachs et al. 1996; Maroun et al. 1999), e.g. the proteins Crk (CT10 regulator of kinase) (Garcia-Guzman et al. 1999; Sakkab et al. 2000), PLC (phospholipase C), Shp2 (a protein tyrosine phosphatase), PI3K and Shc. The important role of Gab1 for Met signalling can be deduced from Gab1 knockout mice that show placental, liver and muscle defects that are similar to the defects observed in HGF or Met knockout mice (Sachs et al. 1996; Sachs et al. 2000). In addition Gab1 itself can bind Met indirectly via Grb2 that also acts as an adapter between Met and other molecules. Grb2 binds also Shc and the Ras guanine nucleotide exchange factor SOS (son-of-sevenless) (Graziani et al. 1993). Further molecules involved in Met signalling are Src (Rahimi et al. 1998) and Stat3 (signal transducer and activator of transcription 3) (Boccaccio et al. 1998; Zhang et al. 2002).

In summary Met signalling is very complex. The recruitment of all these signalling molecules to phosphorylated Met cause the activation of several distinct but interacting signalling pathways including Ras-MAPK, PI3K, Src, Stat3, Akt and JNK (Royal et al. 1997; Campbell et al. 1998; Schaeper et al. 2000; Gu and Neel 2003). Activation of one pathway alone or a combination of several pathways together then results in the HGF-induced cellular responses described in chapter 4.3.

#### 4.5 Modulators of Met signalling

Although Met signalling induced by HGF is already very complex due to the involvement of numerous adapter molecules and signalling pathways, it can be further modulated and influenced by additional transmembrane proteins.

One of the modulators is  $\alpha 6\beta 4$  integrin. It is a cell surface adhesion molecule that can bind laminins and is usually involved in interactions with the ECM. It is upregulated in invasive carcinomas (Rabinovitz and Mercurio 1996), and in carcinoma cells it is shown that Met is able to form a complex with  $\alpha 6\beta 4$  integrin. After activation with HGF the cytoplasmic domains of Met and  $\alpha 6\beta 4$  are tyrosine phosphorylated and both serve as docking sites for signalling molecules like Shc and PI3K (Trusolino et al. 2001). This synergistic cooperation results in activation of the Ras/MAPK pathway and in signal enhancement.

An HGF independent interacting partner for Met is plexinB1. Plexins are receptors for semaphorins and are involved in the control of axon guidance. Interestingly Met, plexins and semaphorins share a similar structure, the sema domain. In cells where plexinB1 and Met are co-expressed, activation of plexinB1 with its ligand semaphorin 4D (Sema4D) leads to tyrosine phosphorylation of Met and results in cellular responses similar to HGF stimulation. (Giordano et al. 2002; Basile et al. 2005). In ECs the activation of Met via Sema4D and plexinB1 induces angiogenesis (Conrotto et al. 2005).

On ECs HGF-induced activation of Met and downstream signalling depends on the presence of neuropilins (NRPs). These proteins were first discovered as semaphorin receptors involved in axonal guidance. Later they were identified as co-receptors for VEGFRs (see introduction chapter 3). When NRP-1 and NRP-2 are downregulated, HGF-induced EC migration and proliferation is impaired (Sulpice et al. 2007).

The best-characterised regulator of Met activation appears to be an isoform of the transmembrane protein family CD44, CD44v6 (see introduction chapter 5.5).

#### 5 CD44

Proteins of the CD44 family form a polymorphic group of transmembrane glycoproteins that are widely expressed on vertebrate cells. Their molecular weights range from 80 to 230 kDa. They were first discovered in 1980 as an antigen that is recognised by a monoclonal antibody raised against human leukocytes (Dalchau et al. 1980). Further studies revealed that these proteins are identical with proteins called Hermes (Goldstein et al. 1989), HUTCH-I (Gallatin et al. 1989), ECM-III (class III extracellular matrix receptor) (Carter and Wayner 1988), HCAM (Goldstein and Butcher 1990) and Pgp-1 (phagocyte glycoprotein 1) (Hughes et al. 1983) (summarised in (Haynes et al. 1989)). The heterogeneity of CD44 proteins is due to alternative splicing of 10 variable exons and additional post-translational modifications, e.g. glycosylation and binding of GAG (glycosaminoglycans).

#### 5.1 CD44 gene structure

A single gene that is localised on chromosome 11 in humans (Goodfellow et al. 1982) and chromosome 2 in mice (Colombatti et al. 1982) encodes all CD44 proteins. The CD44 gene is highly conserved between species and it is organised into 20 exons (Figure 3), where exons 1-17 code for the extracellular part of the proteins, exon 18 encodes the hydrophobic transmembrane domain including 3 intracellular amino acids and exon 19 and 20 give rise to the intracellular

part of CD44. Exons 6-15 are the variant exons (also called variant exons v1-v10) that can be inserted into the protein in different combinations (Screaton et al. 1992; Screaton et al. 1993; Tölg et al. 1993). Also exons 19 and 20 are spliced alternatively. Insertion of exon 19 generates a small cytoplasmic domain of 5 amino acids due to an alternative stop codon, whereas inclusion of exon 20 generates a cytoplasmic tail of 73 amino acids. Inclusion of exon 19 is a rare event, most CD44 isoforms contain exon 20 (Goldstein et al. 1989; Goldstein and Butcher 1990; Thorne et al. 2004). In humans the variant exon v1 (exon 6) is not expressed because it contains a stop codon (Screaton et al. 1993; Tölg et al. 1993), and exon v3 contains a second splice acceptor site and therefore exists in two variants.



**Figure 3: Schematic presentation of the CD44 gene.** Exons 5-15 are subject to alternative splicing and are also known as variant (v) exons v1-v10.

#### 5.2 CD44 protein structure

The smallest CD44 isoform is CD44 standard (CD44s), where all the variant exons are excluded. It is expressed in vertebrates in nearly all cells. The heterogeneity of CD44 molecules is achieved by insertion of different combinations of the variant exons 6-15 (respective variant exons v1-v10) into the extracellular stem region of CD44s between exons 5 and 16 (Screaton et al. 1992) and by posttranslational modifications. The largest CD44 isoform found in human keratinocytes is CD44v2-v10 that contains all variant exons (Bloor et al. 2001).

#### The extracellular domain

The first five exons are highly conserved amongst mammalian species (~85 %). The aminoterminal part (exon 1) is followed by a link-homology hyaluronan-binding domain (exon 2 and 3), that is similar to a domain found in cartilage link protein, proteoglycan core protein (Deak et al. 1986; Neame et al. 1986), aggrecan and tumour necrosis factor stimulated gene 6 (TSG-6) (Kohda et al. 1996; Bajorath et al. 1998) and that has been shown to be the binding site for hyaluronan (HA) (Thorne et al. 2004). Six cysteine residues form intramolecular disulfide bonds (Goldstein et al. 1989) and are involved in correct folding and HA binding (Banerji et al. 1998).

Exons 4, 5, 16 and 17 encode the stem region that is close to the transmembrane domain. In CD44s this region is rather small, but it can be enlarged by insertion of sequences encoded by the variant exons between exons 5 and 16 (Screaton et al. 1992; Tölg et al. 1993). This stem region exhibits a cleavage site for metalloproteases and serine proteases. Cleavage gives rise to a soluble CD44 (sCD44). This mechanism might be used to downregulate CD44 on the cell surface, and sCD44 competes with cell-bound CD44 for ligand binding (Bazil and Strominger 1994; Katoh et al. 1994).

The extracellular part of CD44 provides a number of sites for posttranslational modifications, both in the constant part as well as in the variant part. Among them are N-linked and O-linked glycosilations and GAG modifications, e.g. chondroitin sulphation (Brown et al. 1991; Sleeman et al. 1997; Greenfield et al. 1999). The only site for modifications by heparan sulphate is localised in the variant exon v3 containing the consensus Ser-Gly-X-Gly motif. This modification enables heparin-binding proteins to attach to CD44 (Bennett et al. 1995; Sherman et al. 1998; Jones et al. 2000). All these posttranslational modifications are cell type specific and can modify CD44 function (English et al. 1998).

#### The transmembrane domain

The single-spanning transmembrane domain of CD44 is encoded by exon 18 and consists of hydrophobic amino acids and a cysteine. Mutation studies showed that this cysteine is required for HA binding, possibly by clustering several CD44 molecules (Liu and Sy 1996). The transmembrane region can be posttranslational modified by palmitoylation that enhances the interaction of ankyrin with the cytoplasmic part of CD44 (see below) (Bourguignon et al. 1991).

#### The intracellular domain

The cytoplasmic part of CD44 encoded by exon 20 interacts with different proteins. Ankyrin was the first protein that was found to interact with the intracellular domain. This interaction is involved in hyaluronan-dependent cell adhesion and motility (Lokeshwar et al. 1994). Two stretches of basic amino acids close to the transmembrane domain act as a binding site for the proteins ezrin, moesin and radixin (ERM) (Legg and Isacke 1998). These proteins are able to bind to various membrane proteins via their N-terminal domain while the C terminus attaches to filamentous actin (F-actin) (Turunen et al. 1994). They serve as linkers that connect the actin cytoskeleton with the cell membrane. Merlin, a tumour suppressor protein structurally related to ERMs, also binds to this binding site. It has no actin binding domain and therefore cannot link the cytoskeleton to CD44. Recently it was shown that a HA-induced complex including CD44,

N-WASP (neural Wiskitt-Aldrich syndrome protein) and Arp2/3 (actin related protein 2/3) induces actin polymerisation (Bourguignon et al. 2007). Additionally other proteins such as the Rho-family of GTPases and members of the Src family of non-receptor tyrosine kinases form complexes with the cytoplasmic part of CD44 and link CD44 to downstream signalling pathways. It is not clear if their interaction is functionally relevant (Ponta et al. 2003; Thorne et al. 2004).

The intracellular part of CD44 contains conserved serine residues. In resting cells, Ser325 is phosphorylated and is important in HA mediated cell migration (Peck and Isacke 1998). Activation of the cells by HA leads to a change in phosphorylation, Ser325 gets dephosphorylated, while Ser291 gets phosphorylated by PKC (protein kinase C). This impairs the binding of ERM proteins in a regulated way (Legg et al. 2002). Ankyrin binding to CD44 is also dependent on serine phosphorylation, which is modulated by Rho kinase (Bourguignon et al. 1999).

#### 5.3 Functions of CD44 in physiologic and pathologic conditions

Mainly interference studies with antibodies recognising all or only specific CD44 isoforms demonstrate that CD44 is involved in processes such as adhesion, proliferation and migration. More specifically these studies revealed that CD44 is involved in physiological processes like limb development, haematopoiesis, lymphocyte activation and homing, immune functions and axon guidance, as well as in pathological processes such as inflammation, wound healing and tumourigenesis.

#### CD44 and embryonic development

CD44 isoforms take over an important role in limb development. In the apical ectodermal ridge (AER) of rats the predominantly expressed isoform of CD44 is CD44v3-10. It colocalises temporally and spatially with FGF-8 on the surface of AER cells throughout early limb development. Via heparan sulphate residues at variant exon v3, CD44 can bind FGF-8 (fibroblast growth factor 8) and FGF-4 and present these growth factors to their receptors in the underlying mesenchymal cells in order to induce a proliferative signal and correct limb outgrowth (Wainwright 1998).

Also in the heart and in the somites CD44 is highly expressed during embryonic development, suggesting a role in HA-mediated morphogenesis and organogenesis (Wheatley et al. 1993).

Furthermore CD44 is involved in the maturation of T cells. The migration of foetal liver (FL) cells to the thymus and their development to mature T cells requires CD44 (Kawakami et al. 1999).

CD44 isoforms play a role during embryonic development. An antibody directed against CD44v6 hampered embryonic development until day 16-18 of gestation in pregnant rats, and the use of an antibody recognising all CD44 isoforms leads to a delay in birth and an increased number of intrauterine abortions (Zoller et al. 1997).

#### CD44 and haematopoiesis

CD44 is required for the development of haematopoietic progenitor cells for myelopoiesis and lymphopoiesis. The participation of CD44 in haematopoiesis was characterised in long-term bone marrow cultures (LTBMCs). An antibody recognising all CD44 isoforms blocked the development of progenitor cells and the generation of lymphoid and myeloid cells (Miyake et al. 1990; Khaldoyanidi et al. 1996). Interesting results were obtained with antibodies directed against the variant isoforms CD44v4 and CD44v6. The antibodies induce bone marrow macrophages to produce granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (both antibodies) and interleukin 6 (IL-6) (CD44v6 antibody), thus stimulating myelopoiesis (both antibodies) and lymphopoiesis (CD44v6 antibody) (Rossbach et al. 1996; Khaldoyanidi et al. 2002).

#### CD44 and lymphocyte homing and activation

Lymphocyte homing is the return of lymphocytes from the blood vasculature back to lymphatic tissues. CD44 is involved in this process (Shimizu and Shaw 1991). Specifically the homing to the thymus depends on CD44, as bone-marrow cells treated with CD44 antibody were not able to reach the thymus (O'Neill 1989), whereas homing to lymph nodes was not impaired (Camp et al. 1993).

The extravasation of lymphocytes from the blood vessels into surrounding tissue also depends on CD44. The so-called lymphocyte rolling is impaired by treatment with antibodies against CD44, and also by addition of HA (DeGrendele et al. 1996).

Lymphocytes need CD44 as well for maturation, as T and B lymphocytes require CD44 isoforms containing variant exon v6 to get activated (Huet et al. 1989; Arch et al. 1992).

#### CD44 in inflammation and autoimmune diseases

CD44 and its ligand HA are involved in several inflammatory processes and autoimmune diseases. Leukocytes and parenchymal cells increase their CD44 expression during inflammation (Foster et al. 1998). CD44- and HA-dependent interactions of cells with the ECM seem to be an important part of inflammatory processes, since loss of those interactions leads to an impaired inflammation. An antibody that blocks binding of HA to CD44 reduces inflammation in a mouse model of rheumatoid arthritis, whereas an antibody that increases HA binding to CD44 increases inflammation (Mikecz et al. 1999). Additionally the symptoms of collagen type-II induced rheumatoid arthritis can be reduced with CD44 antibodies (Zeidler et al. 1995).

Antibodies to CD44 also prevent the passage of T cells through the blood-brain barrier in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis and allergic encephalomyelitis, and thereby impair the formation of lesions in the brain (Brocke et al. 1999).

CD44 is also involved in skin inflammation and inflammatory colitis (bowel disease), where it elongates the survival of lymphocytes (Camp et al. 1993; Wittig et al. 2000).

Concerning the endothelium, the infiltration of cytotoxic T cells that leads to interleukin 2 (IL-2) induced vascular leak syndrome (VLS) and EC injury is reduced in CD44 knockout animals (Rafi-Janajreh et al. 1999). Furthermore cultured microvascular ECs increase the expression of HA after incubation with inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$  or TNF- $\alpha$  (Mohamadzadeh et al. 1998).

#### **CD44 and tumourigenesis**

Numerous studies show that the tumourigenic and metastatic behaviour of several cancer cells correlates with expression of CD44 isoforms, especially with the expression of variant isoforms. One of the most striking evidence came from one study where the variant isoform CD44v4-v7 was introduced into non-metastasising rat pancreatic cancer cells and rendered these cells metastatic (Günthert et al. 1991). Metastasis could then be blocked with antibodies directed against CD44v6 (Günthert et al. 1991; Seiter et al. 1993). The expression of variant isoforms of CD44 often correlates with poor prognosis, e.g. the expression of CD44v6 in colorectal carcinoma (Sleeman et al. 1995; Naor et al. 1997; Wielenga et al. 1998) or the expression of CD44 isoforms containing variant exons v6, v7 and v8 in cervical cancer (Kainz et al. 1995), suggesting a role of CD44 in metastasis formation. Also CD44s can be involved in tumour progression. Indeed a CD44 negative Burkitt lymphoma cell line only became metastatic after transfection with CD44s.

However, there are cases where the presence of CD44 isoforms does not influence tumour progression. Interestingly the introduction of CD44v8-v10 did not affect tumour development (Sy et al. 1991; Sy et al. 1992). The same has been shown for mouse melanoma cells, the presence of CD44s was required for tumour growth (Bartolazzi et al. 1994).

Surprisingly, cases where CD44 was claimed to act as a "tumour repressor" were also reported. Indeed, CD44s has even been shown to reduce the malignancy of tumours. Overexpression of the smallest CD44 isoform repressed metastasis formation of a prostate carcinoma cell line (Gao et al. 1997), and tumour growth of transformed fibroblasts was drastically reduced when the cells were transfected with a construct encoding CD44s (Schmits et al. 1997).

#### 5.4 Deletion of CD44 in mice

Targeted deletion of a single gene in animals is a powerful tool to investigate the function of the respective protein *in vivo*. In the case of CD44 two different transgenic animals are available. On the one hand there exist classical total knockout mice in which the CD44 gene is disrupted right from the beginning of development. On the other hand, another knockout strategy was used where CD44 was suppressed specifically in the skin at a later time point, namely at embryonic day E11.5. Interestingly the different mice developed quite different phenotypes.

#### CD44 total knockout

CD44 knockout animals were generated by germline deletion of different sequences of the CD44 gene (Schmits et al. 1997; Protin et al. 1999). Despite the numerous functions of CD44 during development and in adulthood, the CD44 null mice are born in the normal Mendelian ratio, they are viable, fertile and develop normally. They show no alterations in size or tissue architecture but have some abnormalities in the haematopoietic system. Indeed, the tissue distribution of myeloid progenitor cells between bone marrow and spleen is altered (Schmits et al. 1997). In addition, lymphocyte homing to the thymus and lymph nodes is impaired, whereas the lymphocyte development seems not to be affected (Protin et al. 1999). Pregnant mice show some defects after birth, e.g. the maintenance of lactation is impaired and uterine involution is accelerated (Yu et al. 2002).

Additional phenotypes of the CD44 knockout mice were found when the animals were challenged. For example the infection with *Cryptosporidium parvum*, a parasite that settles in the intestinal tract and causes diarrhoea, resulted in increased formation of granuloma compared to wild type mice. This suggests defects in T cell function (Schmits et al. 1997). Another study showed that induced lung injury was followed by accumulation of apoptotic neutrophils and pro-
inflammatory fragments of hyaluronan leading to death in knockout animals. Death of these animals could be prevented by injection of CD44 positive leukocytes, suggesting a role of CD44 in anti-inflammatory processes (Teder et al. 2002).

An insight in the role of CD44 for tumour progression is given in studies where CD44 null mice were crossed with animals containing point mutations in tumour suppressor genes, e.g. p53<sup>+/tm1</sup> (targeted mutation 1 of p53 gene). Wild type animals containing these point mutations develop malign, metastasising tumours, whereas the CD44 knockout mice develop benign sarcomas. The presence of CD44 does not influence tumour incidence, but in these animal models it is required for metastasis (Weber et al. 2002).

## CD44 selectively suppressed in keratinocytes

An alternative approach undertaken to investigate the biological function of CD44 is the generation of transgenic mice expressing an antisense CD44 cDNA. The complete CD44 antisense sequence was cloned downstream of the bovine keratin-5 promoter (Kaya et al. 1997), in order to knock down CD44 in all layers of the epidermis and outer root sheath of hair follicles. In contrast to the absence of phenotype in the skin of animals with germline CD44 gene disruptions, these transgenic animals developed a thick skin with reduced elasticity. The HA distribution was altered, as there was a loss of HA in the interkeratinocyte spaces but an accumulation in the superficial dermis. All this together lead to a 4-7 day delay in wound healing as compared to wild type animals. Delays in hair regrowth (5 days) were caused by reduced keratinocyte proliferation in the hair bulb.

These contradictory data obtained with CD44 inactivation in the classical knockout and in the transgenic animals suggest that the loss of CD44 at different times in development has different consequences. Therefore one hypothesis is that the loss of CD44 in early development can be compensated by other proteins that might be differentially expressed, whereas this compensation is not possible at later times, e.g. when the keratin-5 promoter gets activated.

This compensatory mechanism is supported by an additional study investigating limb bud development. In wild type mice the mesenchymal cells of the limb bud required heparan sulphated isoforms of CD44 to present FGF to its receptor. CD44 knockout animals seem to utilise other HSPGs for this growth factor presentation (Wainwright 1998).

In addition, studies in which CD44<sup>-/-</sup> mice were crossed with Met<sup>+/-</sup> mice showed a role of CD44 in embryogenesis and collaboration between Met and CD44 *in vivo*. Around 70 % of the animals with just one Met allele in the CD44 null background died at birth due to a breathing defect

generated by impaired synaptic transmission in the respiratory rhythm-generating network and alterations in the phrenic nerve (Matzke et al. 2007). In these CD44<sup>-/-</sup> Met<sup>+/-</sup> mice, the potential substitute protein must be present but seems not as effective as CD44.

Analysis of Met activation in cells devoid of CD44v6 lead to the most striking evidence that at least one other protein compensates for CD44v6. Met can get activated by its ligand HGF in the human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line HepG2. In this cell system another transmembrane molecule, ICAM-1, is able to take over the functions of CD44 leading to Met activation and signalling, and inhibition of ICAM-1 results in impaired Met activation (Olaku 2008). Furthermore liver regeneration after partial hepatectomy, a process driven by Met and HGF, also requires CD44v6 in wild type mice, whereas ICAM-1 substitutes for CD44 in CD44 null animals (Olaku, unpublished data).

# 5.5 Molecular mechanisms of CD44 function

The findings that CD44 is involved in several different processes like haematopoiesis, immune system functions, inflammation and tumourigenesis suggests that CD44 might contribute to several mechanisms that lead to signalling.

# CD44 – a ligand binding receptor

CD44 interacts with soluble extracellular components as well as with the ECM. The bestcharacterised interacting partner of CD44 is HA (Aruffo et al. 1990). HA is a hydrophilic linear polysaccharide consisting of repeats of D-glucuronic acid and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine with a high molecular mass. HA binds to the extracellular link domain in the constant region of CD44 (He et al. 1992) and to a domain near the transmembrane region (Peach et al. 1993) and this interaction results in cell migration.

The binding affinity of CD44 to HA can be modulated from inside the cells by changes in glycosylation of the extracellular domains (Skelton et al. 1998) or phosphorylation of specific intracellular serine residues (Naor et al. 1997). These modulations might be important for migration in HA rich matrices as well as for leukocyte rolling. In addition different variant CD44 isoforms show different affinities to HA, whereby CD44v4-v7 binds HA stronger than CD44s (Sleeman et al. 1996; Sleeman et al. 1997).

Interestingly CD44 is also involved in HA metabolism: it mediates HA uptake via endocytosis (Culty et al. 1992; Hua et al. 1993). This is physiologically relevant as expression of antisense CD44 in the skin (see introduction chapter 5.4) leads to abnormal accumulation of HA in the skin (Kaya et al. 1997).

A more passive role of CD44 is its participation in cell-cell contacts. Indeed HA can act as a bridge between cells expressing CD44.

## CD44 – a binding partner for enzymes and growth factors

The extracellular part of CD44 binds several enzymes and growth factors and acts as a platform where crucial interactions take place. For example the matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP9) binds to CD44 on tumour cells and subsequently degrades collagen IV in the ECM mediating tumour cell invasion (Yu and Stamenkovic 1999). In addition MMP9 bound to CD44 cleaves the inactive proform of TGF- $\beta$ , leading to tumour angiogenesis induced by active TGF- $\beta$  (Yu and Stamenkovic 2000).

Heparan sulphated CD44v3 isoforms can recruit MMP7 and the proform of heparin-binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF) to the cell surface of epithelial cells. MMP7 converts the HB-EGF into its active form by proteolytic cleavage, and active HB-EGF activates its receptor ErbB4, thereby increasing cell survival and tissue remodelling (Yu et al. 2002).

As described above also CD44v3 HSPG isoforms on cells of the apical ectodermal ridge (AER) can bind FGF and present the growth factor to its receptor expressed on underlying mesenchymal cells. This process is necessary for limb bud development (Sherman et al. 1998).

#### CD44 – a co-receptor for receptor tyrosine kinases

Numerous growth factors interact with target cells via RTKs. However, only the presence of the growth factors is not sufficient for receptor activation. Several RTKs require a co-receptor in addition to their ligand in order to get activated and to promote signalling (Orian-Rousseau and Ponta 2008).

This co-receptor function can be fulfilled by CD44 isoforms. They have been shown to act as coreceptors for different RTKs, e.g. for members of the ErbB receptor tyrosine kinase family. In that case CD44s seems to be required for the receptor heterodimerisation of ErbB2 and ErbB3 after induction with the ligand neuregulin in primary Schwann cells, a prerequisite for Schwann cell differentiation, survival and development of the peripheral nervous system (Meyer and Birchmeier 1995; Sherman et al. 2000). The collaboration between CD44 and ErbB2 has been shown to be necessary for activation of ovarian tumour cells (Bourguignon et al. 1997).

The best-characterised co-receptor function of CD44 isoforms for an RTK is the collaboration between CD44v6 and Met in epithelial cells. In several cancer cell lines and in primary cells the activation of Met by its ligand HGF depends on the presence of CD44 isoforms containing variant exon v6. Indeed, treatment with an antibody against CD44v6 (Orian-Rousseau et al.

2002) or a CD44v6 peptide (Matzke 2006) prevents Met activation and signal transduction. Furthermore, in a rat pancreatic cancer cell line that expresses CD44s but no variant isoforms, the RTK Met cannot be activated by its ligand HGF. HGF can induce Met activation only when CD44v6 is introduced into this system (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2002). There is evidence that CD44v6 directly interacts with HGF, as biotinylated HGF does not bind to cells expressing only Met (Bsp73AS), whereas it binds to the same cells stably transfected with CD44v6 (Bsp73ASs6) (Matzke 2006). In addition the presence of HGF induces the formation of a ternary complex between CD44v6, HGF and Met (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2002).

The CD44 isoform that collaborates with Met has to include the variant exon v6, as any other isoform plays no role in Met activation. Three amino acids in the variant v6 sequence are necessary for the co-receptor function of CD44v6. When these three amino acids are mutated, CD44v6 cannot act as a co-receptor for Met anymore (Matzke et al. 2005). Interestingly small peptides (at least 5 amino acids) containing the three important amino acids are able to block the co-receptor function of CD44v6. Besides their blocking effect on Met activation in vitro (Matzke et al. 2005), they also inhibit metastasis formation of rat pancreatic tumour cells expressing CD44v6 (Bsp73Ass6) in animals (Matzke, unpublished data). Interestingly these three important amino acids are not conserved in human (RWH), mice (GWQ) and rat (EWQ). This has to be taken into account when the co-receptor function of CD44v6 should be blocked. Antibodies against CD44v6 as well as the CD44v6 peptides act highly species specific and don't cross-react between human, mouse and rat CD44v6. Surprisingly the soluble ectodomain of rat CD44v6 is able to interfere with Met activation on human cells, and addition of the rat v6 peptide abrogates the blocking effect of the rat ectodomain. These data led to the hypothesis that the three amino acids in the v6 sequence are not directly involved in the interaction with the ligand or Met, but rather are required for the right conformation of CD44v6 that allows the function as a coreceptor.

Met requires the co-receptor CD44v6 also for being activated by a second ligand, namely InternalinB (InIB), a protein expressed by the bacteria *Listeria monocytogenes*. InIB is able to activate Met, and Met activation physiologically leads to receptor internalisation. This mechanism is used by the bacteria as they enter the cells by internalisation together with Met after InIB-induced Met activation. In conclusion CD44v6 acts as a co-receptor for Met activation induced by two different ligands, HGF and InIB.

Further investigation revealed that CD44v6 has an additional function as a co-receptor: it is also required for Met signalling. When the cytoplasmic domain of CD44v6 is overexpressed, induction with HGF leads to Met phosphorylation, but not to activation of downstream targets as

Ras or Erk. The excess of cytoplasmic domain seems to "neutralise" all cellular binding partners. In contrast, the overexpression of a cytoplasmic domain of CD44 mutated in the ERM binding site does not influence HGF-induced signalling, as it does not compete with the endogenous cytoplasmic domain. These results lead to the conclusion that the binding of ERM proteins to CD44v6 is necessary for signalling. ERM proteins can directly bind the actin cytoskeleton. This interaction is also required for Met signalling, as ezrin proteins with a defective actin binding site again block activation of downstream signalling components. Thus ERM proteins serve as linkers between the actin cytoskeleton and the cell membrane. CD44v6 recruits the cytoskeleton to the cell membrane via the ERM proteins and the assembly of this complex at the membrane is important for HGF-dependent activation of Ras by its GEF SOS (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2007).

# **RESULTS**

# 1 CD44v6 acts as a co-receptor for Met in endothelial cells

The receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) Met and its ligand hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor (HGF/SF) are involved in the regulation of several cellular responses, including proliferation, survival and migration, the combined action of invasive growth (reviewed by (Bardelli and Comoglio 1997; Birchmeier and Gherardi 1998)). Misregulation of HGF and Met activity and upregulation of both proteins are found in numerous human tumours (reviewed in (Bardelli et al. 1997; Birchmeier et al. 2003)) and lead to poor prognosis in many cases. This suggests a role of both molecules in the metastatic process. However, Met and HGF are not only involved in tumour metastasis but also in angiogenesis. HGF is a potent proangiogenic factor that activates Met expressed on ECs and thereby contributes to the formation of new blood vessels (Bussolino et al. 1992; Grant et al. 1993; Rosen et al. 1993).

In several primary carcinoma cell lines Met needs a co-receptor in order to fulfil its function. This co-receptor is an exon v6 containing variant isoform of the transmembrane protein family CD44 (CD44v6). It is needed for receptor phosphorylation as well as for signal transduction (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2002; Orian-Rousseau et al. 2007).

Since Met is expressed on vascular ECs and contributes to angiogenesis, the question arises if the co-receptor function of CD44v6 is also required in ECs.

# 1.1 CD44v6 is required for Met activation and signal transduction in endothelial cells

In order to analyse whether CD44v6 acts as a co-receptor for Met in angiogenesis, several primary ECs isolated from different kinds of human blood vessels were used. ECs can differ in shape, function and in the type of cell-cell junctions depending on the blood vessel where they are localised (reviewed by (Aird 2007)). ECs in arteries (HAOECs (human aortic endothelial cells)) are subjected to high pressure compared to ECs in veins (HUVECs (human umbilical vein endothelial cells)). In capillaries major exchange of gases and nutrients takes place. There the ECs (e.g. HCMECs (human cardiac microvascular endothelial cells)) are the only barrier to control this exchange.

When these ECs were treated with HGF, the receptor tyrosine kinase Met was phosphorylated and signalling to Erk – a downstream target of Met – was promoted (Figure 4).



Figure 4: CD44v6 is required for activation of Met and downstream signalling in several ECs. Different ECs (HUVEC, HAOEC and HCMEC) were serum starved and incubated with several reagents ( $\alpha$ CD44v6, v6 pep and the controls IgG and ctrl pep). The growth factor HGF was added and the cells were lysed. The proteins in the cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and subjected to Western blot analysis. Activation of Met and of its downstream target Erk was detected by means of phospho-specific antibodies that detect phosphorylated forms of Met and Erk. In order to check equal loading of the different samples the membrane was incubated with stripping solution and reprobed with antibodies recognising all Met and Erk proteins. The numbers indicate the fold induction as calculated with the computer programme ImageJ.

The contribution of CD44v6 to Met signalling in these cells was analysed using different tools. Both, an antibody recognising the exon v6 encoded sequence (referred to as  $\alpha$ CD44v6) and a peptide composed of 14 amino acids originating from the v6 region (referred to as v6 peptide) (Matzke et al. 2005), were able to prevent activation of Met and of its downstream target Erk when added to the cells before induction with HGF (see Figure 4). As incubation with a control antibody and a control peptide did not interfere with Met activation and signalling, these results show that CD44v6 is required for Met activation in all types of ECs that were used.

This result was confirmed by means of a third tool proving the involvement of CD44v6 in Met activation. A soluble form of CD44v6, which comprises only the extracellular domain (v6ECD) connected to a c-myc epitope and a polyhistidine tag, was able to block the HGF-induced activation of the signalling cascade to Erk (Figure 5). This blocking was highly specific as a mutated soluble CD44v6 (v6ECD mut) where just three amino acids in the v6 region are modified (mutation to alanins) (see introduction chapter 5.5) was not able to interfere with Met activation induced by HGF (Figure 5).



**Figure 5: The soluble CD44v6 ectodomain interferes with HGF-induced signalling.** HUVECS were incubated with the ectodomain of CD44v6 (v6ECD) or the ectodomain mutated in the v6 exon (v6ECD mut) after serum-starvation. Upon HGF treatment cells were lysed and the lysates were subjected to SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis to detect activated Erk (see Figure 4).

Thus these experiments reveal that the receptor tyrosine kinase Met needs a co-receptor for activation not only in epithelial cells but also in ECs. In all cell types used this co-receptor is an isoform of CD44 containing the variant exon v6.

# 2 CD44v6 acts as a co-receptor for VEGFR-2 in endothelial cells

Besides HGF, numerous proangiogenic factors are described, e.g. VEGFs, angiopoietins, FGFs, PDGF and TGF-β. The most prominent one is the polypeptide VEGF-A that predominantly acts on endothelium (Plouet et al. 1989) where its two receptors VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 are expressed. VEGFR-2 collaborates with co-receptors like VE-cadherin (Carmeliet et al. 1999; Lampugnani et al. 2003; Lampugnani et al. 2006) or neuropilin-1 (NRP-1) (Soker et al. 1998) that are able to modify receptor activation and cellular responses. It is very likely that in addition other proteins can modulate VEGFR-2 signalling and act as co-receptors. Isoforms of the CD44 protein family might be promising candidates as they have already been shown to bind VEGF-A (Jones et al. 2000). CD44v3 can be modified by covalent binding of heparan sulphate (Bennett et al. 1995) and thereby interact with heparin binding growth factors like bFGF, HB-EGF or VEGF-A.

# 2.1 CD44v6 is required for activation of VEGFR-2 and signal transduction

In order investigate if an isoform of CD44 is necessary for VEGFR-2 activation, the three tools inhibiting CD44v6 activity (see results chapter 1.1) were used in an experiment where VEGFR-2 was activated by VEGF-A. As expected all ECs responded to VEGF-A165 (see introduction chapter 3.2) treatment with VEGFR-2 phosphorylation and signal transduction to Erk.

Surprisingly the same reagents that interfered with Met activation also inhibited VEGFR-2 phosphorylation. The antibody recognising CD44v6 as well as the CD44v6 peptide blocked VEGFR-2 activation and downstream signalling to Erk induced by VEGF-A165 (Figure 6). Thus CD44v6 is also necessary for a functional VEGF-A165/VEGFR-2 system in these cells.



Figure 6: Activation of VEGFR-2 and signal transduction induced by VEGF-A165 depends on CD44v6. Different ECs (HUVEC, HAOEC and HCMEC) were serum starved and incubated with several reagents ( $\alpha$ CD44v6, v6 pep and the controls IgG and ctrl pep). The cells were then induced with VEGF-A165 and lysed. The cell lysates were loaded on SDS-PAGE and subjected to Western blot analysis. Activation of the receptor tyrosine kinase VEGFR-2 and of its downstream target Erk was detected by means of antibodies that detect phosphorylated forms of VEGFR-2 and Erk. The loading control was performed with antibodies recognising total VEGFR-2 and Erk levels. The numbers indicate the fold induction as calculated with the computer programme ImageJ.

Supporting this result, the soluble CD44v6 ectodomain (v6ECD) impaired VEGF-A165 induced activation of Erk, whereas the mutated form (v6ECD mut) was not able to interfere (see Figure 7 left part).



**Figure 7: CD44v6 is important for VEGF-A-induced activation of VEGFR-2 and signalling to Erk.** Left part: The experiment was performed as described in Figure 5 except that the cells were induced with VEGF-A165. Right part: 293 cells were transfected with an expression vector containing the human VEGFR-2 cDNA and serum starved. Pre-incubation with the CD44v6 peptide was performed prior to induction with VEGF-A165. Western blot analysis was performed with phospho-VEGFR-2 and phospho-Erk antibodies.

In addition a further cell system was used in order to test the role of CD44v6 for VEGFR-2 signalling. Recombinant human VEGFR-2 was introduced into the epithelial kidney cell line 293, which can be transiently transfected with high efficiency. As in ECs, VEGFR-2 and Erk were phosphorylated upon VEGF-A165 treatment and this activation was blocked in the presence of the CD44v6 peptide (Figure 7 right part).

In conclusion both receptor tyrosine kinases Met and VEGFR-2 need a CD44v6 isoform for activation by their ligands HGF and VEGF-A165 in ECs.

# 2.2 CD44 variant 6 alone is sufficient for activation of VEGFR-2 in endothelial cells

The three reagents CD44v6 antibody, CD44v6 peptide and CD44v6 ectodomain directly address the exon v6 sequence of CD44 and are able to block VEGFR-2 activation. But due to alternative splicing v6 can be combined with other variant exons to form other variant isoforms that might also be inhibited by the same reagents. Especially exon v3 of CD44 is interesting as it encodes the only sequence that can be heparan-sulphated (Bennett et al. 1995) and thereby can directly bind VEGF-A165 (Jones et al. 2000). Additionally VEGF-A165 requires heparin-like molecules on the cell surface in order to bind its receptor (Gitay-Goren et al. 1992). Thus a CD44v3 isoform containing also exon v6 might be the co-receptor for VEGFR-2.

An exon-specific RT-PCR analysis of HUVEC mRNA showed that several isoforms of CD44 are expressed in HUVECs (see Figure 8). The use of different forward primers that anneal to the variant exons of CD44 in combination with one common reverse primer that binds to an exon in the standard region give rise to DNA fragments of different sizes depending on the combination of the variant exons in the mRNA (see Figure 8). The ladder formation in the agarose gel indicates that the variant exons v6 to v10 are expressed in one protein. As the bands of variant 3 are not in a ladder together with the bands corresponding to variant 6, both variants are probably not expressed in one protein but rather in separate molecules. Thus it is very unlikely that CD44v3 is involved in the co-receptor function for VEGFR-2.



**Figure 8: HUVECs express several variant isoforms of CD44, but variants 6 and 3 are expressed in separate molecules.** cDNA was obtained by RT-PCR from total mRNA extractions. The cDNA was analysed by using exon-specific PCRs with different forward primers that anneal to sequences in the variant exons of CD44 together with a reverse primer that binds to the standard region of CD44. PCR products were separated via an agarose gel. Multiple signals per lane show that the specific exon is present in different CD44 isoforms. The bands that are organised in a ladder indicate that the corresponding exons are organised in one CD44 protein.

In order to see if the ligand itself needs to bind heparin to become bioactive, VEGF-A121, a shorter isoform of VEGF-A165 that does not contain the heparin binding domain encoded by exon 7, was used for EC stimulation. VEGF-A121 was able to activate VEGFR-2 similarly to the heparin binding isoform VEGF-A165 in ECs as well as in epithelial cells transfected with the VEGFR-2 expressing vector (Figure 9).



**Figure 9: VEGF-A121 requires CD44v6 for activation of VEGFR-2 and signalling to Erk.** Left and middle part: HUVECs or 293 cells transfected with an expression vector for VEGFR-2 were serum starved and incubated with CD44v6 antibody, CD44v6 peptide or a control peptide as indicated. After induction with VEGF-A121 the cells were treated as described in Figure 6. Right part: Incubation with the CD44v6 ectodomain (v6ECD) or the mutated CD44v6 ectodomain (v6ECD mut) before treatment with VEGF-A121 and further analysis was performed as described in Figure 5. The numbers refer to fold induction, calculated with the computer programme ImageJ.

This activation and signal transduction depended again on CD44v6 as it could be blocked with the CD44v6 antibody and the v6 peptide. Furthermore the soluble extracellular part of CD44v6 (v6ECD) was also able to interfere with VEGF-A121 induced signalling as it did after induction with VEGF-A165.

Finally, CD44v6 is sufficient for VEGFR-2 activation as demonstrated by transfection of noninducible cells by a CD44v6 isoform. These cells became then inducible by VEGF-A165. For this experiment the pancreatic carcinoma cell line Bsp73AS (referred to as AS), that only expresses the smallest isoform CD44s, and its transfectant Bsp73ASs6 (referred to as ASs6), that in addition expresses a CD44 isoform containing exclusively variant exon v6, were used. After transient transfection with an expression vector encoding for VEGFR-2 both cell lines expressed VEGFR-2 (Figure 10). The AS cells showed a weak background tyrosine phosphorylation of the receptor that was not enhanced when treated with the ligand VEGF-A165. Although the VEGFR-2 in the CD44v6 expressing cells (ASs6) was phosphorylated stronger in absence of the ligand, there was a further increase of receptor activation after induction with VEGF-A165 (Figure 10).



**Figure 10:** Exon v6 in the variant part of CD44 alone suffices for VEGFR-2 activation. Rat pancreas carcinoma cells expressing only CD44s (AS cells) or CD44v6 in addition to CD44s (ASs6) were transiently transfected with an expression vector coding for human VEGFR-2. Induction with VEGF-A165 and detection of activated VEGFR-2 was done as described in Figure 6. The numbers refer to fold induction, calculated with the computer programme ImageJ.

Thus a CD44v6 isoform containing exclusively exon v6 as a variant exon is able to fulfil the coreceptor function for activation and signal transduction of VEGFR-2 and no additional variant exons are needed.

As CD44v6 and VEGFR-2 cooperate in receptor activation and signalling, they should be in close proximity in the membrane. In order to test if they form a complex, a coimmunoprecipitation experiment was performed. Endogenous CD44 was pulled down from

HUVEC lysates either untreated or induced with VEGF-A165 and the precipitate was examined for the presence of VEGFR-2. CD44 and VEGFR-2 are indeed associated, even in absence as well as in presence of VEGF-A165. Both form a complex that appears to be constitutive and not inducible by ligand activation (see Figure 11). This is in contrast to the situation observed for CD44 and Met in epithelial cells were the complex formation of both proteins is triggered by the ligand HGF (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2002).



**Figure 11: CD44 and VEGFR-2 form a complex.** HUVEC cells were serum starved, induced with VEGF-A165 where indicated, and lysed. For protein pull down the lysates were incubated with antibodies recognising CD44, antibodies against VEGFR-2 as a positive control or an unrelated IgG antibody (negative control) and protein A/G agarose beads to pull down the antibody complexes. The antibody complexes were solubilised in sample buffer, separated by SDS-PAGE and blotted with an VEGFR-2 antibody.

# 2.3 The cytoplasmic domain of CD44 promotes signal transduction of activated VEGFR-2

So far the molecular mechanism of action of CD44v6 for VEGFR-2 is very similar to the situation observed for Met. However the contribution of CD44v6 to Met activation is not restricted to the extracellular domain. Also the intracellular part has a role and contributes to signal transduction (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2002). Indeed, CD44 has a binding site for ERM proteins (Legg and Isacke 1998) that are able to bind the actin cytoskeleton (Turunen et al. 1994). Thereby they serve as linkers that connect the cytoskeleton with the cell membrane. This connection is absolutely required for the HGF-dependent activation of Ras, which is a crucial step in the signalling cascade (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2007).

To investigate if VEGF-A signalling also needs the actin cytoskeleton linked to the membrane via CD44 and ERM proteins, two experiments were performed. Both approaches show that the linkage of the cytoskeleton to the cell membrane via ERM proteins and CD44 is necessary also for VEGFR-2 signalling.



293 cells + VEGFR-2

**Figure 12:** The cytoplasmic part of CD44 is involved in VEGF-A-induced signalling. 293 cells were transfected with an expression vector for VEGFR-2 together with a vector coding for a GST-fused cytoplasmic part of CD44 (CD44cyt) or a fusion protein in which the ERM binding region of CD44 is mutated (CD44mutcyt). The cells were serum starved and induced with either VEGF-A165 or VEGF-A121. The cell lysates were subjected to SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis. VEGFR-2 and Erk activation were analysed as described in Figure 5. The numbers refer to fold induction, calculated with the computer programme ImageJ.

An expression vector coding for the cytoplasmic part of CD44 fused to GST (CD44cyt) was transiently introduced into 293 cells together with a vector coding for VEGFR-2. Overexpression of CD44cyt did not abrogate VEGFR-2 phosphorylation by its ligands VEGF-A165 or VEGF-A121 (Figure 12), but the signal transduction to Erk was strongly inhibited. The cytoplasmic domain seems to compete with the endogenous intracellular part of CD44 and sequesters proteins that are essential for signal transfer. Introduction of a cytoplasmic tail that is mutated in the binding site for ERM proteins (CD44mutcyt) was not able to interfere with signalling showing that the ERM proteins recruited to CD44 are important for cellular responses induced by VEGF-A.

What is the function of ERM proteins? This question was answered by utilising an expression vector coding for a dominant negative ezrin protein lacking the binding site for F-actin. Addressing just one of the ERM proteins is justified, as ezrin is the predominant ERM protein in 293 cells. Expression of this truncated ezrin resulted in a reduced phosphorylation of Erk upon induction with VEGF-A165 or VEGF-A121 (Figure 13).



**Figure 13: VEGF-A-induced signalling requires ezrin binding to the actin cytoskeleton.** 293 cells were transfected with a vector encoding an ezrin protein that is not able to interact with the actin cytoskeleton (+) or an empty vector (-) in addition to VEGFR-2. After serum starvation, the cells were incubated with VEGF-A, lysed and proteins were analysed by SDS-PAGE (see Figure 4). The numbers indicate fold induction, calculated with the computer programme ImageJ.

These experiments show that signal transduction upon VEGFR-2 activation depends on the recruitment of the actin cytoskeleton to the cell membrane via CD44 and ERM proteins. Apparently both receptor tyrosine kinases, Met and VEGFR-2, share a common mechanism to transduce signals.

# **3** CD44v6 is required for physiological ligand-induced behaviour

The previous results reveal the important role of CD44v6 as a co-receptor for the two different receptor tyrosine kinases Met and VEGFR-2 on ECs. Both need CD44v6 for receptor activation induced by HGF or VEGF-A as well as for signal transduction. How relevant is the co-receptor function for ligand-induced cellular responses?

Several *in vitro* assays mimic angiogenesis and serve as models for the investigation of EC behaviour. Indeed, angiogenesis is characterised by different consecutive steps, and the contribution of CD44v6 to that process was analysed. At the beginning the basement membrane surrounding the existing vasculature is locally degraded in order to allow the ECs to dissociate from the united cell structure, sprout and form new branches. Proliferation and migration towards an angiogenic stimulus is followed by assembly and finally formation of a complete new capillary (Hanahan and Folkman 1996).

# 3.1 CD44v6 is involved in sprouting of endothelial cells

Early events in angiogenesis can be monitored in the spheroid sprouting assay. Clusters of HUVEC cells, so-called spheroids, were generated in hanging drops and embedded in a threedimensional collagen matrix (Alajati et al. 2008). They were overlaid with medium containing the blocking substances and the growth factors. Activated by the growth factors VEGF-A165

and VEGF-A121 the ECs started to grow out of the spheroids (Figure 14). This ability to sprout in response to VEGF-A treatment was blocked completely when the cells were treated with the v6 peptide. The control peptide did not influence VEGF-A-induced sprouting. Sprouting of the ECs was quantified by analysing the total length of all sprouts originating from one spheroid.



Figure 14: VEGF-A-induced spheroid sprouting depends on CD44v6. Spheroids of HUVECs were generated in hanging drops overnight, then collected by centrifugation and embedded in a collagen gel. Where indicated the spheroids were treated with CD44v6 peptide or control peptide before they were induced with VEGF-A165 or VEGF-A121. Pictures were taken after 48 hours and the total sprout length of the spheroids was quantified (right part). Standard deviation was calculated from three independent experiments and statistical analysis was performed by Student's t-test. P < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant and indicated by an asterisk.

Thus, sprouting from a cell aggregate induced by VEGF-A, an experiment that mimics the early steps of angiogenesis, requires CD44v6. The co-receptor function is therefore an important element of the physiological cellular behaviour.

# 3.2 Endothelial cell migration requires CD44v6

EC migration is another crucial step in the process of angiogenesis. The ECs leave the EC monolayer of existing blood vessels and migrate towards an angiogenic stimulus before they reassemble to a newly formed vessel. Angiogenic growth factors – amongst them HGF and VEGF-A – belong to these angiogenic attractants. HGF (reviewed by (Bardelli and Comoglio 1997; Birchmeier and Gherardi 1998)) as well as VEGF-A (Yoshida et al. 1996) contribute to cellular migration. Thus the requirement for CD44v6 for cellular migratory responses was tested.



**Figure 15: CD44v6 is required for EC migration.** HUVECs and HAOECs were grown to confluence and a wound was made into the cell monolayer with a sterile pipette tip. After washing the cells were incubated with the antibody against CD44v6, the CD44v6 peptide or the control peptide as indicated. The ligands HGF, VEGF-A165 or VEGF-A121 were added and migration of the ECs was analysed after 24 hours. The numbers indicate the percentage of free area in the scratch area quantified by the computer program ImageJ.

In a scratch closure assay migration of either vein or artery ECs was tested. These cells were grown to confluence and a scratch was made into the confluent monolayer using a sterile pipette-

tip. The cells lining the scratch border started to migrate into this empty space in order to close the gap (Figure 15). In presence of either HGF, VEGF-A165, or VEGF-A121 the cells migrated faster than in absence of the ligands and the scratch was closed within one day. The EC migration was reduced to basal levels when the CD44v6 antibody or the CD44v6 peptide interfered with receptor activation (Figure 15).

To rule out that proliferation and not migration was involved in the scratch closure in this experiment, the growth factors and the blocking reagents were tested for their ability to influence proliferation of ECs. The substances alone or in combination were given to HUVEC cells and the incorporation of radioactive labelled thymidin was measured.



**Figure 16: The ligands HGF, VEGF-A165 or VEGF-A121 do not induce EC proliferation.** HUVECs were treated as described in Figure 15. 16 hours before the experiment was stopped tritium-labelled thymidin was added. The cells were washed, trypsinised and the incorporated radioactivity was measured with a liquid scintillation counter. Standard deviation was calculated from three independent experiments.

Neither the growth factors HGF, VEGF-A165 or VEGF-A121 nor the blocking reagents v6 peptide or CD44v6 antibody influenced EC proliferation in this time period of 24 hours (Figure 16). Thus the closure of the scratch was exclusively due to growth factor-induced EC migration. Both types of ECs used in this experiment required CD44v6 for this migration.

# 3.3 Tube formation of endothelial cells depends on CD44v6

Migration, reorganisation and assembly of ECs to new vessels is mimicked by the tube formation assay. There the ECs undergo morphological changes when they come in contact with components of the extracellular matrix in a three-dimensional gel. Within a few hours they

elongate and aggregate to form capillary like structures that contain a lumen (Kubota et al. 1988).

The extracellular matrix used in this experiment is produced by the Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm mouse sarcoma and resembles the basal membrane. It is called Matrigel and its main components are collagen IV, laminin, entactin and heparan sulphate proteoglycans, but the mixture also contains growth factors that are produced by this sarcoma.

In the experiments a Matrigel reduced in the growth factor content was used. However, when HUVECs were seeded on this Matrigel they already formed a tubular network showing that the Matrigel was not completely devoid of growth factors (see Figure 17). This tubular network was more branched and considerably more complex upon treatment with the growth factors HGF, VEGF-A165 or VEGF-A121. Again the co-receptor CD44v6 was needed for this particular cellular behaviour because the tube and network formation on top of Matrigel was completely inhibited in presence of the CD44v6 antibody or the CD44v6 peptide. CD44v6 contributed to the process of tube formation of ECs induced by HGF, VEGF-A165 and VEGF-A121.

For quantification of this assay the number of branching points as well as the total vessel length was determined. The quantification revealed that treatment with the CD44v6 antibody or CD44v6 peptide reduced the number of branching points at least by half compared to the systems treated with growth factor alone. Also the total vessel length was decreased to 45 to 60 % in presence of CD44v6 antibody or CD44v6 peptide.

All these *in vitro* assays mimicking various steps in the complex process of angiogenesis reveal the importance of CD44v6 for cellular responses following both HGF- and VEGF-A-induced signalling. The typical behaviour of ECs is impaired in presence of CD44v6 antibody or CD44v6 peptide. This indicates that CD44v6 promotes physiological features of ECs.



Figure 17: CD44v6 is required for EC tube formation on Matrigel. HUVEC cells were seeded on top of a Matrigel layer and incubated with CD44v6 antibody, CD44v6 peptide or control peptide as indicated. After 10 min HGF, VEGF-A165 or VEGF-A121 was added. Pictures were taken 24 hours later (upper part) and the total vessel length as well as the number of branching points was quantified with the computer program ImageJ (lower part). Standard deviation was calculated from three independent experiments and statistical analysis was performed by Student's t-test. P < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant and indicated with an asterisk.

# 4 CD44v6 containing isoforms play a role in angiogenesis in vivo

The previous data show that CD44v6 plays an important role in EC responses to the growth factors VEGF-A and HGF. The angiogenic process in a living organism however is more complex. There are several different pro- and antiangiogenic factors that tightly control angiogenesis (Folkman and Klagsbrun 1987). They act in concert to establish a functional blood vessel network.

In the following experiments it was tested whether CD44v6 blocking reagents have an effect *in vivo* when several angiogenic factors contribute to the new vessel formation. As CD44v6 is a coreceptor for HGF and VEGF-A, the influence will be observed only if the dominant signal is HGF or VEGF-A or both.

# 4.1 The response of endothelial cells to the stimulus of isolated angiogenic Langerhans islets depends on CD44v6

In order to get closer to an *in vivo* situation, the effects of the CD44v6 peptide and the CD44v6 antibody were tested in an *ex vivo* experiment using the RIP1Tag2 mouse model. These transgenic mice develop pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell tumours as they express an oncogene (simian virus 40 large T antigen: Tag) under the control of the rat insulin promoter 1 (RIP1) (Hanahan 1985; Alpert et al. 1988). At 4 to 5 weeks of age some of the Langerhans islets become hyperplastic and induce angiogenesis (Folkman et al. 1989) by production of angiogenic factors. Finally a few of them form carcinomas at around 12 weeks of age.

The angiogenic hyperplastic islets of Langerhans were isolated by collagenase perfusion. These isolated islets were able to stimulate an angiogenic response when co-cultured with HUVEC cells in a collagen matrix. Attracted by the mixture of angiogenic factors produced by the islets, the ECs started to migrate towards this stimulus and organised themselves into capillary like structures (Folkman et al. 1989). The angiogenic response of the ECs was reduced when the human CD44v6 of the ECs was blocked by means of the CD44v6 antibody or the v6 specific blocking peptide, whereas the control peptide did not interfere with the angiogenic response. In agreement with published data around 60 % of islets stimulated an angiogenic response in the control experiment (Gannon et al. 2002) (see Figure 18).



Figure 18: The response of HUVECs to a mixture of angiogenic factors produced by angiogenic Langerhans islets can be reduced by CD44v6 specific inhibitors. HUVEC cells were mixed with CD44v6 antibody, CD44v6 peptide or control peptide and then suspended in a collagen gel. Hyperplastic angiogenic Langerhans islets isolated from the pancreas of 8-9 week old RIP1Tag2 mice were placed on top of the HUVEC/collagen mixture and overlaid with medium. Every third day new antibody or peptide was added and pictures were taken after 5 to 7 days. The number of islets that induced an angiogenic response of the ECs is given as percentage of all analysed islets. For quantification 60 islets per condition were analysed. Both the CD44v6 antibody and the CD44v6 peptide reduced the angiogenic response, and the reduction obtained with the antibody is significant (p < 0.05).

This *ex vivo* experiment shows that blocking of CD44v6 affects the behaviour of ECs in situations where a combination of angiogenic growth factors stimulates ECs.

# 4.2 CD44v6 is required for the formation of a vascular network in a spheroid-based *in vivo* angiogenesis assay

Do ECs need CD44v6 for new vessel formation *in vivo*? This question was addressed at first in the spheroid-based *in vivo* angiogenesis assay. Spheroids of HUVEC cells embedded in a Matrigel/fibrin matrix together with the angiogenic growth factors FGF-2, VEGF-A165 or a combination of both can engineer a vasculature when grafted into the flank of SCID mice (Alajati et al. 2008). These growth factors induce the ECs in the spheroids to organise themselves into new blood vessels. VEGF-A165 induces the formation of a network with many sprouting ends that are not connected to the mouse vessels. FGF-2 is able to cause a network connected to mouse vessels that is covered with mural cells. When administered together both ligands show an additive effect (Alajati et al. 2008). Although the angiogenic stimulus used in this assay was injected in combination with the ECs, the natural environment of the plug with either activating or inhibiting substances influenced the vessel formation over a period of three weeks.



Figure 19: CD44v6 contributes to *in vivo* vessel formation of endothelial cell spheroids. Spheroids of HUVEC cells were generated as hanging drops overnight. The spheroids were collected by gentle centrifugation, mixed with CD44v6 antibody, CD44v6 peptide or the according controls and the growth factors HGF or VEGF-A165 and suspended in a matrix of Matrigel, EC growth medium and fibrinogen. Thrombin was added and the matrix was injected subcutaneously into the flank of SCID mice. Every other day the antibodies or peptides were injected in proximity to the Matrigel/fibrinogen plugs. The plugs were isolated after three weeks, fixed in 4 % formaldehyde and section were immunohistologically stained with an antibody against the EC marker CD34. For quantification five different plugs and at least three sections per plug were analysed. Significant reduction of the vessel number is indicated by an asterisk (p < 0.05).

HGF was used for the first time in this spheroid-based *in vivo* angiogenesis model to induce the formation of a new vasculature. Figure 19 shows that the ligand HGF was able to initiate the reorganisation of HUVEC cells within the Matrigel/fibrin plug. HGF even seemed to be more potent than VEGF-A165 in respect to the number of microvessels formed per plug. The reagents affecting CD44v6 on the ECs like the CD44v6 antibody or the CD44v6 peptide reduced the number of microvessels and impaired vascularisation mediated by HGF as well as by VEGF-A165.

# 4.3 CD44 is involved in tumour vascularisation

The previous experiments revealed the contribution of CD44v6 to angiogenesis in animals. However they were just partially done under physiologic conditions, e.g. the Langerhans islets that secrete a physiologic mixture of pro- and antiangiogenic factors were removed from the original tissue, isolated and cultured in cell culture dishes. The spheroid-based experiment was performed *in vivo*, but additional growth factors were added. In order to prove the importance of the co-receptor function of CD44v6 for angiogenesis under exclusive *in vivo* conditions, two orthotopic tumour models in mice were chosen that already had been used to study tumour-induced angiogenesis.

The oestrogen independent human breast cancer cell line MDA-MB231 (described in (Yano et al. 1992; Missbach-Guentner et al. 2008)) and the human pancreatic cell line L3.6pl (described in (Bruns et al. 1999)) were implanted orthotopically into the respective mouse tissue. After one week of tumour growth, the animals were split in groups and treated either with the CD44v6 antibody or the CD44v6 peptide or controls injected intraperitoneally three times per week. As the isoforms of CD44 differ in different species, the antibody and the peptide against CD44v6 act species specific. The reagents used in this experiment addressed mouse CD44v6, so they interfered with CD44v6 only in mouse tissue, but they did not directly affect the behaviour of the human tumour cells.

Interestingly the two cancer types respond differently to the treatment with anti-CD44v6 reagents.

The breast cancer cells (MDA-MB231) give rise to tumours with volumes varying from 125 mm<sup>3</sup> to 667 mm<sup>3</sup> after 4 weeks of treatment. The tumour sizes are not significantly changed in animals treated with CD44v6 blocking reagents in comparison to control-treated animals. However vascularisation of the tumours occurred faster in control-treated animals. Using the flat-panel detector volume computed tomography (fpVCT), all contrast agent containing blood vessels with a diameter of more than 150 µm can be visualised. Smaller vessels can be detected when they contain a high amount of contrast agent (Missbach-Guentner et al. 2008). The tumour vasculature in animals treated with control immunoglobulin was already well vascularised after a period of three weeks and the vessel network continuously grew until the end of the experiment (Figure 20). In contrast the tumours of the animals treated with CD44v6 antibody contained just a few blood vessels after a period of three weeks. The vessel number and size increased over time, however it was always clearly reduced in comparison to the IgG treated tumours (Figure 20).



**Figure 20: Treatment with the CD44v6 antibody reduces vascularisation of MDA-MB231 tumours.** Breast cancer cells (MDA-MB231) were orthotopically implanted into the mammary fat pad of SCID mice. After one week of tumour growth, the animals were divided into two groups of six animals each and treated either with CD44v6 antibody or IgG control three times per week intraperitoneally. Tumour vascularisation was followed by pfVCT after injection of contrast agent into the tail vein.

These data obtained from the fpVCT cannot be used for quantification because the visualisation of the vessel depends on the distribution and the stability of the contrast agent. Therefore tumour sections were stained for the EC marker CD31 in order to quantify the vessel density.

	IgG	α <b>CD44v6</b>	ctrl peptide v6 peptide	
average vessel number (per mm <sup>2</sup> )	247.6	220.1	240.3	183.7
stdev	22.5	20.1	24.4	31.7
significance		0.025		0.007
average vessel size (um <sup>2</sup> )	192.9	203.9	207.8	211.4
stdev	11.5	33.7	28.1	31.7

Figure 21: Blocking of CD44v6 reduces the microvessel density in MDA-MB231 tumours. Sections of tumours developed from MDA-MB321 breast cancer cells were stained for the EC marker CD31 and vessel number and vessel size were quantified with the computer program ImageJ. Five to six independent tumours were analysed and at least three sections per tumour were quantified. Statistical analysis was performed by Student's t-test. P < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

Analysis of vessel number confirmed that the microvessel density was significantly reduced in tumours of animals treated with CD44v6 antibody and peptide compared to control animals (Figure 21). Additional examination revealed that the vessel size was not influenced by anti-CD44v6 treatment.

Tumours of the pancreatic cancer cells (L3.6pl; the experiments were performed together with Alexandra Matzke) responded much more to treatment with CD44v6 peptide. After three weeks of treatment with CD44v6 peptide the tumour volume was drastically reduced compared to tumours treated with a control peptide or PBS (Figure 22, left part). Also the microvessel density as well as the vessel size was affected. Treatment with CD44v6 peptide reduced the number of blood vessels per mm<sup>2</sup> by more than 50 %, and the size of the single vessels is reduced to half in control treated animals (Figure 22, middle and right part).



Figure 22: Treatment with the CD44v6 peptide blocks tumour growth and tumour vascularisation. Pancreatic cancer cells (L3.6pl) were orthotopically implanted into the tail of the pancreas of nude mice. After one week of tumour growth, the animals were divided into three groups of five animals each and treated either with CD44v6 peptide, control peptide or PBS three times per week intraperitoneally. After three weeks of treatment the tumours were extracted and tumour volume was measured with a calliper (left part). Additionally sections of the tumours were stained for the EC marker CD31 (middle part) and vessel number and vessel size were quantified with the computer program ImageJ (at least three sections per tumour) (right part). Statistical analysis was performed by Student's t-test. P < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant and indicated by an asterisk.

Both these orthotopic tumour models demonstrate that CD44v6 is involved in tumour angiogenesis *in vivo*. Depending on the tumour type, its contribution to tumour vascularisation and tumour growth differs.

In conclusion all experiments show that the receptor tyrosine kinases Met and VEGFR-2 need the co-receptor CD44v6 for their function in ECs. CD44v6 is required for receptor activation as well as signal transduction to Erk. When CD44v6 is blocked by means of the CD44v6 antibody or the CD44v6 peptide, ligand-induced EC migration, sprouting and tube formation is impaired and most importantly tumour angiogenesis *in vivo* is reduced.

# DISCUSSION

This work shows that CD44 isoforms containing variant exon v6 are required for activation and signal transduction of the receptor tyrosine kinases Met and VEGFR-2 in several endothelial cells originating from different blood vessels (HUVECs, HAOECs and HCMECs). CD44v6 acts therefore as a co-receptor for both RTKs. An antibody directed against CD44v6, a CD44v6 peptide and a soluble ectodomain of CD44v6 are able to block receptor activation as well as downstream signalling, subsequently inhibiting ligand-induced migration, sprouting and tube formation. Most importantly these two reagents addressing CD44v6 also interfere with angiogenic processes *in vivo*. Indeed in two orthotopic tumour models performed in mice the microvessel density was significantly decreased in tumours that were treated with these two reagents.

For long it was believed that RTKs and their ligands work in an isolated manner: the ligands were thought to activate their respective receptor alone and induce all cellular responses. Now there is increasing evidence that additional molecules contribute to the receptor activation and even to signal transduction. Therefore the collaboration between RTKs and co-receptors is now accepted as a common principle (Orian-Rousseau and Ponta 2008). For example following RTK/co-receptor pairs are known to work together: EGFR and E-cadherin (Qian et al. 2004), FGFR and syndecans (Steinfeld et al. 1996), FGFR and NCAM (Francavilla et al. 2007), PDGFR and integrins (Woodard et al. 1998), TGF-b and syndecan-2 (Chen et al. 2004), VEGFR-2 and VE-cadherin (Carmeliet et al. 1999; Lampugnani et al. 2003; Lampugnani et al. 2006) and VEGFR-2 and neuropilin (Soker et al. 1998; Whitaker et al. 2001; Soker et al. 2002). Also for Met collaboration with several co-receptors has been shown, e.g.  $\alpha 6\beta 4$  integrin (Rabinovitz and Mercurio 1996; Trusolino et al. 2001), plexinB1 (Giordano et al. 2002; Basile et al. 2005; Conrotto et al. 2005) and neuropilin (Sulpice et al. 2007). The best-characterised co-receptor for Met on epithelial cells is however CD44v6 (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2002; Orian-Rousseau et al. 2007).

This work now shows that CD44v6 also acts as a co-receptor for Met on endothelial cells, and moreover, it is in addition a co-receptor for a second RTK, namely for VEGFR-2.

The collaboration between RTKs and co-receptors allows expanded and highly regulated receptor activation and cellular responses. For example Sema4D, a ligand for plexins, is able to induce Met-dependent signalling when Met and plexinB1 form a complex (Giordano et al.

2002). Therefore the collaboration of Met with the co-receptor plexinB1 broadens the spectrum of ligands that induce Met activation. In addition the intracellular part of a co-receptor can serve as a platform for signalling molecules. When Met is in a complex with the integrin  $\alpha 6\beta 4$ , Met activation by its ligand HGF leads to phosphorylation of  $\alpha 6\beta 4$ . Signalling molecules can bind both to the Met docking site and the phosphorylated co-receptor and strengthen and broaden signalling (Trusolino et al. 2001). The expression pattern of co-receptors in different cells can determine the tissue specificity of RTK activation and influence the cellular responses.

How can one single molecule, namely CD44v6, control activation and function of two different receptor tyrosine kinases involved in many important cellular processes like growth and motility? And even more strikingly, how can one small peptide (14 amino acids), addressing CD44v6, interfere with the function of two structurally different receptor tyrosine kinases and their two different ligands?

One explanation could be that the co-receptor directly binds the ligands in order to increase the ligand concentration in proximity of the respective receptor or present them to their receptor. This assumption is supported by the finding that rat pancreatic cancer cells that express Met but no CD44v6 (Bsp73AS) are not able to bind HGF, whereas the same cells stably transfected with CD44v6 (Bsp73ASs6) do bind HGF as measured in FACS analysis (Matzke 2006). Furthermore this binding of HGF to Bsp73AS cells can be blocked with the CD44v6 peptide (Matzke, unpublished data).

These data indicate that CD44v6 might bind HGF on cells. However, there is no doubt that *in vitro* purified Met directly binds its ligand HGF in the absence of CD44v6 (Park et al. 1994). How to explain this discrepancy? The situation on cells must differ from the conditions that exist in solution when purified proteins are used. One hypothesis is that the ligand/receptor complex *in vivo* needs to be stabilised by additional molecules, the co-receptors, allowing receptor dimerisation and autophosphorylation. This might explain why it has never been demonstrated that Met dimerises *in vitro* in the presence of HGF.

Another hypothesis is that the receptors are in a negative conformation in the cell membrane, possibly to prevent uncontrolled receptor activation. Such a mechanism has been suggested for the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR). EGFRs exist as pre-formed, but inactive dimers (Teramura et al. 2006). Association with the co-receptor might then enable ligand binding and receptor activation. In addition the co-receptors could also induce clustering of the receptors in order to promote RTK activation.

VEGF-A might also bind directly to the co-receptor CD44v6. This has to be tested in further experiments.

For the co-receptor function of CD44v6 the protein conformation seems to be important. This is concluded from experiments analysing the species specificity of CD44v6. The v6 peptides and v6 antibodies used in this work act in a species specific manner. This means that a mouse peptide/antibody only blocks mouse CD44v6, a human peptide/antibody blocks human CD44v6 and a rat peptide/antibody blocks rat CD44v6. In contrast, the CD44v6 ectodomain (v6ECD) homologue of the rat CD44v6 is able to interfere with mouse or human RTK activation, showing no species specificity. Therefore incubation of human cells with rat v6ECD inhibits HGFinduced activation of Met and downstream signalling (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2002). However, simultaneous treatment with a rat CD44v6 peptide released inhibition of the rat CD44v6 ectodomain. In addition a rat CD44v6 protein introduced into a human cell system is sufficient for Met activation by HGF (Matzke, unpublished). This suggests that the critical region in the v6 sequence, which is addressed by the v6 peptide and antibody, is not directly involved in interactions with either the ligands or the receptors, but rather that this sequence is required for the correct conformation of the total CD44v6 protein. Loss of the right conformation might prevent the protein to act as a co-receptor for Met and VEGFR-2. A change in the structural conformation might also explain how this peptide can interfere with two different ligand/receptor systems, if the binding of both ligands depend on the correct conformation.

The intracellular part of CD44 is necessary for signal transduction from both Met and VEGFR-2. After activation of Met in epithelial cells, the cytoplasmic domain of CD44 recruits ERM proteins that bind the actin cytoskeleton and thereby allow Ras activation by its GEF SOS (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2007). Similar events seem to regulate VEGFR-2 signalling, as ezrin, a member of the ERM proteins, also links the cytoskeleton to the membrane.

Also other RTKs profit from the cytoplasmic domains of their co-receptors (reviewed in (Orian-Rousseau and Ponta 2008)), e.g. the cytoplasmic domain of syndecan-4 is instrumental for fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 (FGFR-1) signalling induced by FGF-2 (Volk et al. 1999). The intracellular domain of syndecan-4 seems to recruit signalling molecules (Horowitz et al. 2002) and interact with the ERM proteins (Granes et al. 2000; Tkachenko et al. 2005). Interestingly many proteins that can act as co-receptors, such as syndecans and ICAMs, share similar features with CD44v6. Besides the fact that they are transmembrane molecules, their extracellular domains often interact with components of the ECM (McCourt et al. 1994; Entwistle et al. 1996), whereas the intracellular parts have been shown to associate with ERM proteins (Heiska et al. 1998; Granes et al. 2000). The collaboration of RTKs with co-receptors

broadens the number and variety of docking sites for adaptors and signalling molecules, so the fine-tuning of signalling is increased after receptor activation.

All blocking experiments in this work were performed with an antibody or a peptide directed against the exon v6 sequence of CD44. Therefore the co-receptor for Met and VEGFR-2 is most likely a CD44 isoform containing variant exon v6. But due to alternative splicing exon v6 can occur in various combinations with other variant exons on the cell. So the blocking reagents might influence sequences of other exons when expressed together with v6 in the same protein. Interesting are the CD44 isoforms expressing variant exon v3, as this is the only sequence that can be modified by heparan sulphate. And both ligands, HGF and VEGF-A165, are known to bind heparin (Ferrara and Henzel 1989; Lyon et al. 1994). Even more, CD44v3 isoforms can directly bind VEGF-A165 (Jones et al. 2000), and VEGF-A165 needs heparin-like molecules in order to potentiate the affinity to its receptor VEGFR-2 (Gitay-Goren et al. 1992). Is a CD44v3 sequence important for the co-receptor function? The sequences of the variant exons v3 and v6 seem not to be located on one CD44 protein and are rather expressed on independent molecules as it has been shown in an exon-specific analysis of EC mRNA. When CD44v6 is blocked, CD44v3 should not be affected. As inhibition of CD44v6 impairs RTK activation and signalling, a CD44v3 sequence seems not to be important for the co-receptor function. In addition experiments with a rat pancreatic carcinoma cell line expressing variant exon v6 as the only variant CD44 isoform (ASs6) showed that CD44v6 is sufficient for activation of VEGFR-2 by VEGF-A165 and CD44v3 and its heparan sulphate residues are not required for VEGFR-2 activation.

The induction of VEGFR-2 also occurs via VEGF-A121, a VEGF-A isoform that is not able to bind heparin, implying that VEGFR-2 activation itself is independent of heparin-like molecules. VEGF-A121 activates the VEGFR-2 and promotes signalling, and this activation can be blocked with the CD44v6 antibody and CD44v6 peptide. What is then the role of HS? It has been shown that the non-heparin binding VEGF-A121 is a less potent mitogen compared to VEGF-A165 (Keyt et al. 1996) and has a lower biological activity (Ogawa et al. 1998). Based on these data one can assume that the presence of heparin-like molecules is not necessary for activation of VEGFR-2 by its ligands per se, but they are required for the full VEGF-A-induced cellular responses.

Possible candidates that could provide the VEGF-A/VEGFR-2 system with heparin are neuropilins. It is known that they are able to bind heparin and VEGF-A165, and their presence enhances VEGF-A165 binding to VEGFR-2 (Soker et al. 1998; Mamluk et al. 2002). Huge

complexes involved in VEGFR-2 signalling containing several co-receptors and other proteins with different functions might exist. All of them contribute to the broad diversity and precise fine-tuning of the cellular responses induces by one single ligand.

An interesting case is the activation of Met by InternalinB (InIB), a ligand produced by *Listeria monocytogenes* (Niemann et al. 2007). The bacteria use InIB to activate Met on host cells and Met activation results in internalisation of the receptor. They make use of this internalisation process and enter the host cells together with Met. In this case, the presence of heparin is required for InIB-induced Met activation, as it induces Met clustering, and thereby allows internalisation of *L. monocytogenes* (Niemann et al. 2007). But here again a CD44v6 isoform as a co-receptor is sufficient for Met activation and internalisation, and the HS motif on CD44v3 is not involved in this process (Jung et al. 2009).

HGF as well is a growth factor that binds heparin and HSPGs, and it forms a trimeric complex together with heparin and Met (Lyon et al. 1994; Gherardi et al. 2003). Similar to the situation of VEGFR-2, HSPGs are not required for Met activation by HGF, as the removal of HA moieties on cell surface proteins by heparinase does not influence Met activation by HGF (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2002). In addition, an HGF mutant devoid of heparin binding sites is a better inducer of Met than wild type HGF (Gherardi et al. 2003).

This work and previous results (Orian-Rousseau et al. 2002; Orian-Rousseau et al. 2007) highlight the important role of CD44v6 for activation and signal transduction of Met and VEGFR-2. These RTKs are both required for embryonic development, e.g. Met for placenta development, and VEGFR-2 for formation of a vasculature (Bladt et al. 1995; Shalaby et al. 1995; Uehara et al. 1995; Shalaby et al. 1997). This suggests that also CD44 is essential during embryogenesis. Surprisingly CD44 knockout mice develop normally. They are born at normal Mendelian ratio, they are fertile and they show no abnormalities in size or tissue architecture (Schmits et al. 1997). Only some minor defects like impaired homing of lymphocytes to lymph nodes or thymus and altered tissue distribution of myeloid progenitor cells can be observed (Schmits et al. 1997; Protin et al. 1999). Interestingly transgenic mice expressing a CD44 antisense cDNA under control of a keratin-5 gene promoter exhibit strong phenotypes (Kaya et al. 1997). From the time when this tissue specific promoter gets activated (E11.5), CD44 function is impaired in keratinocytes. This results in alterations of the skin structure, delayed wound healing and hair regrowth (see introduction chapter 5.4).

This contradiction between the mild phenotype observed in total knockout animals and the more severe phenotype in the transgenic animals suggests that the loss of CD44 can be compensated

during early stages of development, whereas the knock down at later time is not counterbalanced. Other genes might be differentially regulated in order to substitute for CD44 and overtake the functional role of CD44 isoforms. Such a substitution has been found in limb development. In wild type animals, CD44v3 is required for limb development as it binds the ligand FGF and presents it to its high-affinity receptor (Sherman et al. 1998). This function seems to be overtaken by other HSPGs in the CD44 knockout animals (Wainwright 1998).

Another study supports the existence of a substitute molecule. In genetic studies where CD44<sup>-/-</sup> and Met<sup>+/-</sup> mice were crossed, around 70 % of the progenies with a CD44<sup>-/-</sup> Met<sup>+/-</sup> genotype die shortly after birth due to a breathing defect. The synaptic transmission in the respiratory rhythm-generating network is impaired, and alterations in the phrenic nerve are found (Matzke et al. 2007). This haploinsufficiency of Met in the CD44 negative background leads to the conclusion that CD44 and Met collaborate *in vivo*. In addition, CD44 must be substituted in CD44 knockout mice, otherwise there would be a phenotype. This substitute protein is not as efficient as it is present in CD44<sup>-/-</sup> Met<sup>+/-</sup> mice and the animals yet die.

Finally, ICAM-1 acts as a substitute molecule for CD44 in CD44 null mice (Olaku et al, in preparation). This protein is a co-receptor for Met in liver regeneration in CD44 knockout mice, whereas CD44 fulfils this function in the wild type animals.

The relevance of CD44v6 for tumour angiogenesis *in vivo* is demonstrated by the effect of the CD44v6 antibody and CD44v6 peptide in two orthotopic tumour models. Both the human breast cancer cells MDA-MB231 and the human pancreatic cancer cells L3.6pl are known to give rise to well-vascularised tumours, and in both cases the microvessel density is significantly reduced when the animals are treated with CD44v6 antibody or CD44v6 peptide, the reduction in vessel number being more pronounced in the pancreatic tumours. Obviously the pancreatic tumours are more sensitive to the therapy. Whereas the size of the breast cancer tumours was not affected by CD44v6 blocking compared to control animals, the volume of the pancreatic tumours was drastically reduced when the CD44v6 peptide was injected. In addition the average size of the vessels in the tumours was decreased.

The different response of both tumour systems to the treatment regarding tumour growth might be based on intrinsic properties of different cell types. The tumour cells originate from different organs and might produce different proangiogenic factors. The growth factors PDGF and FGF for example activate their receptors independently of CD44v6 (Matzke et al. 2005 and own unpublised data). If tumour angiogenesis is mainly induced by such CD44v6-independent

factors, the blocking effect of CD44v6 antibody and CD44v6 peptide will be less drastic than in cases where tumour angiogenesis is primarily induced by HGF and VEGF-A.

Interestingly CD44v6 is not only involved in angiogenesis but also in tumour progression and metastasis formation. Metastasis formation of rat pancreatic cancer cells expressing CD44v4-7 can be inhibited by treatment with CD44v6 antibodies (Günthert et al. 1991), and introduction of CD44v6 into non-metastatic rat pancreatic cancer cells gives rise to a metastatic phenotype (Matzke, unpublished). Taken together these data and the data reported in this thesis imply that CD44v6 is required in ECs for new vessel formation as well as in tumour cells for invasive and metastatic properties. Consequently blocking of the co-receptor function of CD44v6 addresses both endothelial cells and tumour cells. On the one hand tumour vascularisation is impaired, resulting in a reduction of tumour size and a lower number of possible entry sites of metastatic cells into the blood circulation. On the other hand proliferation and migration of tumour cells is reduced and there is less invasion into surrounding tissues. Therefore reagents that inhibit the co-receptor function of CD44v6 might reduce tumour angiogenesis and metastasis.

Developing a therapy to cure cancer is the goal of numerous efforts. Targeting pathologic angiogenesis is a promising way, as most tumours have to recruit new blood vessels in order to get enough oxygen or to metastasise. An effective inhibition of tumour angiogenesis would prevent tumour growth of several different tumour types, and the malignancy of various tumours could be decreased by one treatment. In addition this antiangiogenic therapy could also be used for other diseases, such as age-related macular degeneration, diabetic retinopathy, psoriasis and arthritis, where hyper-vascularisation causes the symptoms.

So far various approaches were used to interfere with angiogenesis. The most prominent drug that is used in the clinic is bevazicumab (Avastin), a humanised monoclonal antibody that neutralises VEGF-A. Also the VEGFRs are targets of antiangiogenic drugs, e.g. sunitinib that inhibits the tyrosine phosphorylation of VEGFRs. Antiangiogenic drugs are used in combination with other anti-cancer therapies like chemotherapy or radiotherapy in order to increase the success of treatment. Unfortunately these treatments are not able to cure cancer, although they improve life quality and prolong the life span for a couple of month. Therefore further investigations are necessary and as many as possible targets should be addressed by the therapies.

Although antibodies have very high target specificity, their large size is a big disadvantage. Cell surface binding peptides are an interesting alternative to antibodies. They are small in size, their

synthesis is easy and cheap, and in addition they can be chemically modified in order to reduce proteolytical degradation (Ponta, unpublished). Depending on their size small one's might even bypass an immune response.

The CD44v6 peptide used in this work is a promising molecule for further studies in order to develop a new antiangiogenic therapy. Addressing one single protein, namely CD44v6, the peptide interferes with activation and function of at least two different strong activators of angiogenesis, Met and VEGFR-2. It reduces angiogenesis and tumour growth as well as the invasive properties of several cancer cells. This pronounced effect on tumour progression is the ideal prerequisite for a drug that might be used for therapy of many cancer types.
# **MATERIAL AND METHODS**

# 1 Material

#### 1.1 Chemicals and cell culture equipment

All chemicals used in this work were of highest purity grate. The water used for aqueous solutions was desalted.

2-Propanol Acetic acid Acrylamid/N,N'-Methylenbisacrylamid (37, 5:1)Agarose Ampicillin sodium salt Aprotinin APS (Ammonium peroxodisulphate) Bromophenol blue BSA (bovine serum albumine) Calcium acetate Collagenase **DMEM** DMSO **DNAse** dNTP DTT (Dithiothreitol) ECGM MV ECGM ECL western blotting reagents EDTA Ethanol Ethidiumbromide eXia 160 FCS (fetal calf serum) Fluorescent mounting medium Formalin G418 (Neomycin) Glycerol Glycine Goat serum Hepes Hoechst dye 33258 Hydrochloric acid fuming Hydrogen peroxide Igepal Isovist 300 (contrast agent) Leupeptin Kanamycin sulphate

Merck, Darmstadt, Germany Merck, Darmstadt, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany

Peqlab, Erlangen, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany BioRad, München, Germany PAA, Pasching, Austria Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Roche, Mannheim, Germany Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany Fluka, Neu-Ulm, Germany Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany Peqlab, Erlangen, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Promocell, Heidelberg, Germany Promocell, Heidelberg, Germany Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Binitio Biomedical, Ottawa, Canada PAA, Coelbe, Germany Dako, Hamburg, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Calbiochem, Bad Soden, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Dako, Hamburg, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Sigma-Aldrich, Hamburg, Germany Merck, Darmstadt, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany Bayer-Schering, Berlin, Germany Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany

Magnesium chloride hexahydrate Methyl cellulose Mounting medium (fluorescent) Paraffin, Paraplast Bulk PBS Pen/Strep PMSF (Phenylmethylsulfonyl-fluoride) Proteinase K Protein G plus Agarose Protein A Agarose Rabbit serum **RMPI 1640** SDS (Sodiumdodecylsulphate) Sodium chloride Sodium fluoride Sodium hydrogen carbonate Sodium hydroxide Sodium orthovanadate Tag polymerase **TEMED** Thermo Cycler MJ Research PTC-200 Peltier Thermal Cycler <sup>3</sup>H thymidine Tris base Tris-HCl Trypsin 0.25 % Trypsin 0.04 %/EDTA 0.03 % Trypton/Pepton Tween 20 **X**ylene Yeast extract Zinc acetate Zinc chloride

## 1.2 Hardware and consumables

Agarose gel electrophoresis chamber Bacteria petri dishes Cell harvester, 96 well Cell incubator Centrifuge Megafuge 1.0 Volume computed tomography prototype flatpanel detector Cooling centrifugeJ2-HS Cryostatic vials Developer for X-Ray-films Digital Camera Canon Power Shot Eagle eye ECL Hyperfilm Electrophoresis chambers Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland Dako, Hamburg, Germany McCormick Scientific, St. Louis, MO, USA Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germanv Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany Calbiochem, Bad Soden, Germany Calbiochem, Bad Soden, Germany Dako, Hamburg, Germany Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germanv Fermentas, St. Leon-Rot, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Scientiffic Support, Hayward, CA, USA

Hartmann Analytic, Braunschweig, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Becton Dickinson, Heidelberg, Germany Promocell, Heidelberg, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany

Peqlab, Erlangen, Germany Greiner, Nürtingen, Germany Tomtec, Hamden, CT, USA Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA Heraeus Instruments, Hanau, Germany GE Global Research, Niskayuna NY, USA

Beckmann, Stuttgart, Germany Corning Incorporated, Corning, NY, USA Kodak, New Haven, CT, USA Canon, Krefeld, Germany Peqlab, Erlangen, Germany Amersham, Freiburg, Germany Hoefer, Holliston, MA, USA Electroporation cuvettes Electroporator Gene Pulser Freezer -80°C Freezer -20°C Fridge Glass fibre filter Heatblock Thermomixer Comfort Reaction tubes 1,5 ml Immobilon-P (PVDF membrane) Liquid scintillation counter Microscope Microscope Microscope, inverted Microtome NanoDrop Photometer Needles Pipetboy Costar Stripettor Pipettes Pipette tips Power Supply Shaker Sterile filters Syringes Table-Centrifuge Tissue culture plastics Tissue processor Hypercenter XP Vicryl suture Vortex Westernblot chamber Whatman 3MM paper

Peqlab, Erlangen, Germany BioRad, München, Germany New Brunswick, Edison, NJ, USA Liebherr, Ochsenhausen, Germany Siemens, Munich, Germany Wallac, Turku, Finland Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany Millipore, Bedford, USA Wallac, Turku, Finland Leica, Wetzlar, Germany Zeiss, Jena, Germany Olympus, Hamburg, Germany Leica, Wetzlar, Germany Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA Braun, Melsungen, Germany Corning, Tokyo, Japan Gilson, Paris, France Stein Labortechnik, Remchingen, Germany Hoefer, Holliston, MA, USA Fröbel Labortechnik, Lindau, Germany Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany Braun, Melsungen, Germany Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany Greiner, Nürtingen, Germany Shandon, Frankfurt, Germany Ethicon, Norderstedt, Germany Janke & Kunkel, Staufen, Germany BioRad, München, Germany Whatman, Part of GE Healthcare, Munich, Germany

## 1.3 Antibodies

### **1.3.1** Primary antibodies

Antibody	Isotype	Epitope	Company
CD31 (MEC 13.3)	rat monoclonal	mouse CD31	BD Biosciences,
			Heidelberg, Germany
CD34 (QBEND-10)	mouse monoclonal	human, cynomolgus	Novocastra,
		monkey and rhesus	Newcastle upon Tyne,
		monkey CD34	UK
CD44 pan (IM7)	rat monoclonal	mouse and human	BD Biosciences, San
		CD44	Diego, CA
CD44v6 (Biwa)	mouse monoclonal	human CD44v6	Bender, Wien,
			Österreich
CD44v6 (9A4)	rat monoclonal	mouse CD44v6	Caltag Laboratories,
			Burlingame, CA

Erk-1 (K-23)	rabbit polyclonal	human, rat and mouse	Santa Cruz,
		Erk1/2	Heidelberg, Germany
hMet (C-12)	mouse polyclonal	human Met	Santa Cruz,
			Heidelberg, Germany
Phospho-Met	rabbit polyclonal	phosphorylated	Cell signalling,
(Tyr1234/1235)		human, rat and mouse	Beverly, England
		Met	
phospho-p44/42	rabbit polyclonal	phosphorylated	Cell signalling,
MAPK		human, rat and mouse	Beverly, England
(Thr202/Tyr204)		Erk	
Phospho-Tyrosine	mouse monoclonal	phosphorylated	Upstate, Temekula,
(4G10)		tyrosine proteins	CA
Phospho-VEGFR-2	rabbit monoclonal	phosphorylated	Cell signalling,
(Tyr1175)		human VEGFR-2	Beverly, England
VEGFR-2 (A3)	mouse monoclonal	human, rat and mouse	Santa Cruz,
		VEGFR-2	Heidelberg, Germany
Isotype control	mouse IgG		NatuTec, Frankfurt,
antibodies	rat IgG		Germany

### 1.3.2 Secondary antibodies

goat-anti-rabbit-HRP goat-anti-mouse-HPR biotinylated rabbit-anti-rat IgG goat-anti-mouse-Alexa 488 Dako, Hamburg, Germany Dako, Hamburg, Germany Dako, Hamburg, Germany Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany

## 1.4 Animals and organisms

### 1.4.1 Animals

### SCID (severe combined immunodeficiency) mice

strain C.B-17/IcrHanHsd-Prkdc-scid

#### Nude mice

strain Hsd:Athymic Nude-Foxn1 nu/nu

#### RIP1Tag2 mice

used in collaboration with Imke Albrecht and Gerhard Christofori, Department Biomedicine, University of Basel, Switzerland (Schomber et al. 2007)

Harlan, Horst, Netherlands

Harlan, Horst, Netherlands

## 1.4.2 Cell lines

Cell line	Description	Culture medium	Starving	Source
			medium	
HUVEC	human umbilical vein	endothelial cell growth medium MV with supplements	endothelial cell growth medium	Promocell, Heidelberg, Germany; Provitro, Berlin, Germany
HAOEC	human aorta	endothelial cell growth medium MV with supplements	endothelial cell growth medium MV	Promocell, Heidelberg, Germany
HCMEC	human cardiac microvasculature	endothelial cell growth medium with supplements	endothelial cell growth medium MV	Promocell, Heidelberg, Germany
293	donkey kidney	DMEM + 10 % FCS	DMEM	American tissue culture collection, ATCC, Wesel, Germany
Bsp73AS (AS)	rat pancreatic carcinoma	RMPI 1640 + 10 % FCS	RMPI 1640	(Günthert et al. 1991)
Bsp73ASs6 (ASs6)	Bsp73AS cells transfected with CD44v6 (containing exon 15)	RMPI 1640 + 10 % FCS + G418	RMPI 1640	(Günthert et al. 1991)
MDA-MB231	human mammary carcinoma	DMEM + 10 % FCS		American tissue culture collection, ATCC, Wesel, Germany

## 1.4.3 Bacterial strain

E.coli DH5a:

Recombination defect suppressive strain for plasmid expression Genotype: F- 80dlacZ M15 (lacZYAargF)U169 $deoRrecA1endA1hsdR17(r_K^-m_K^+)$  phoAsupE44 thi-1gyrA96relA1

## 1.5 Kits

Qiagen Plasmid Maxi Kit Nucleospin RNA L purification kit Biotin blocking system StreptABComplex DAB substrate kit Qiagen, Hilden, Germany Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany Dako, Hamburg, Germany Dako, Hamburg, Germany Biozol, Eching, Germany

## **1.6 Growth factors and special reagents**

# HGF

Gift from Vande Woude, Van Andel Institute, Grand Rapids MI, USA

# VEGF-A165

Gift from Kurt Ballmer-Hofer, Paul Scherrer Institut, Villigen, Switzerland

## VEGF-A121

Gift from Kurt Ballmer-Hofer, Paus Scherrer Institut, Villigen, Switzerland

# ratCD44v6 ectodomain and rat CD44v6 ectodomain mutated in v6 region

Gift from Kurt Ballmer-Hofer, Paus Scherrer Institut, Villigen, Switzerland

Matrigel (growth factor reduced)	
Collagen	
Thrombin	
Fibrinogen	
PageRuler prestained protein ladder	
GeneRuler DNA ladder mix	

BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany Calbiochem, Beeston, UK Calbiochem, Beeston, UK Fermentas, St. Leon-Rot, Germany Fermentas, St. Leon-Rot, Germany

# 1.7 Peptides

**human CD44v6 peptide:** KEQWFGN**RWH**EGYR NMI Peptides, Reutlingen, Germany

**murine CD44v6 peptide:** QETWFQN**GWQ**GKNP NMI Peptides, Reutlingen, Germany

control peptide:HNREQANLNSRTEETIGift from Jonathan Sleeman, Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe, Germany

# 1.8 Plasmid constructs

## human VEGFR-2 pBE

Cloned into pEGFP-C1 from Clontech, Mountain View, CA Gift from Kurt Ballmer-Hofer, Paus Scherrer Institut Villigen, Switzerland

## GST-CD44 wild type and mutant cytoplasmic tail

Cloned into pGEX-KG (Legg and Isacke 1998) Gift from Clare Isacke, Breakthrough Breast Cancer Research Centre, London, UK

# DN ezrin

The sequence of wt ezrin without the last 29 aa encoding for the actin binding site was cloned into pCB6 (Algrain et al. 1993). Gift from Monique Arpin, Institut Pasteur Paris, France

# 2 Methods

## 2.1 Tissue culture methods

Cells were cultured under sterile conditions in a humidified (85 %) incubator with 5 %  $CO_2$  at 37° C. All experiments were performed in a sterile clean bench. Adherent cells were passaged when they reached about 80 % confluency.

## 2.1.1 Passaging cells

Old growth medium was removed by aspiration and the cells were washed once with PBS. Trypsin containing solution (0.25 % trypsin) was added and the cells were incubated at 37° C until they started to detach from the plate. Trypsin-dependent digestion was stopped with serum containing medium, cells were collected by centrifugation, resuspended in fresh culturing medium and distributed in new tissue culture plates or flasks.

# 2.1.2 Freezing and thawing cells

Cells were trypsinised as described above and collected by centrifugation. They were resuspended in freezing medium (10 % DMSO in FCS) and transferred into cryostatic vials. The vials were slowly frozen in a isopropanol containing box at -80° C and transferred to liquid nitrogen.

Cell lines stored in liquid nitrogen were thawed rapidly in a waterbath (37° C) and immediately mixed with pre-heated growth medium. Cells were collected by centrifugation to remove freezing medium and transferred into tissue culture plates containing growth medium. ECs were directly transferred into tissue culture plates with pre-heated growth medium after thawing. The medium was replaced with fresh medium after 24 hours.

# 2.1.3 Seeding cells

Cells were trypsinised as described above, collected by centrifugation and resuspended in growth medium. 10  $\mu$ l cell suspension were transferred into a Neubauer counting chamber and counted by using a bright field microscope to obtain the cell number per ml. The planned number of cells was mixed with culture medium and distributed in tissue culture pates for the experiments.

# 2.1.4 Transfecting 293 cells

293 cells were seeded at a concentration of  $2 \times 10^5$  cells in 6-well-plates 24 hours before transfection. Cells were transfected with Lipofectamine 2000 according to the manufacturer's

protocol. To transfect one well, 10  $\mu$ l Lipofectamine 2000 reagent were diluted in 250  $\mu$ l DMEM and incubated for 5 min at room temperature. 4  $\mu$ g of vector DNA were filled up to 250  $\mu$ l with DMEM without serum and mixed with the Lipofectamine 2000 solution. The mixture was incubated for 20 min at room temperature (in all 500  $\mu$ l per well). In the meantime old medium on the cells was removed and replaced by 1.5 ml fresh DMEM without serum. 500  $\mu$ l of DNA-transfection reagent-mixture was applied to the cells before they were transferred to the incubator. After 6 hours incubation, medium was replaced again by pre-warmed growth medium containing serum. Cells were allowed to express the newly inserted protein for 48 hours before the experiments were started.

### 2.1.5 Transfecting Bsp73AS cells

The rat pancreatic carcinoma cells were transfected by electroporation.  $3 \times 10^6$  cells were mixed with 5 µg of vector DNA on ice and transferred into a 4-mm electroporation cuvette. Electroporation was performed at 250 F, 0.28 kV. Pre-warmed medium containing serum was added to the cuvette and the cells were distributed into 6 wells of a 6-well plate. Following the transfection the cells were grown for 24 hours then starved for additional 24 hours before they were used for the experiments.

## 2.1.6 Activation of Receptor Tyrosine Kinases and downstream target Erk

Cells were seeded at a concentration of  $1.5 \times 10^5$  in 6-well plates. After 24 hours the growth medium was replaced by basal medium without serum to remove all growth factors that are components of the serum. After a starvation period of 24 hours, the cells were activated with the growth factors HGF (20 ng/ml) at 37° C for 5 min and with VEGF-A165 and VEGF-A121 (40 ng/ml) at 37° C for 8 min. When indicated, the cells were pre-treated with blocking reagents directly before growth factor treatment. The CD44v6 specific antibody (100 µg/ml), the CD44v6 peptide (100 ng/ml) and the CD44v6 ectodomain (0.5 µg/ml) (or according controls) were added in serum free medium for 10 min at 37° C followed by induction with growth factors as described above. The cells were washed with cold PBS before cell lysis.

## 2.1.7 Co-immunoprecipitation

For co-immunoprecipitation  $1.5 \times 10^6$  HUVECs were seeded in 10 cm plates, serum starved for 24 hours and induced with 50 ng/ml VEGF-A165 for 8 min at 37° C. After induction, the cells were washed with cold PBS and lysed in 1 ml lysis buffer for 30 min on ice. The cells were transferred into reaction tubes and cleared by centrifugation (10000 rpm, 20 min, 4° C). 5 µg of a

pan CD44 antibody were added to the supernatant (containing 1000  $\mu$ g total protein) and mixed over night at 4° C. Immunoprecipitation was performed with agarose beads (mixture of protein A and protein G) for 2 hours at 4° C. The mixture was centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 2 min at 4° C and the precipitate was washed 3 times with 500  $\mu$ l lysis buffer. The remaining pellet was dissolved in 25  $\mu$ l SDS lysis buffer to separate the proteins from the beads and boiled for 5 min to denature the proteins and the proteins were subjected to Western blot analysis.

Lysis buffer: 25 mM Hepes pH 7.5; 100 mM NaCl; 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>; 1 mM EDTA; 10 % Glycerol; 1 % Igepal; 10 mM NaF; 1 mM PMSF; 1 mM Na-orthovanadate; 1 mM aprotinin; 1 mM leupeptin

**SDS lysis buffer:** 125 mM TrisHCl pH 6.8; 4 % SDS; 20 % Glycerol; 0.01 % bromophenol blue; 100 mM DTT

## 2.2 Protein methods

### 2.2.1 Protein extraction and cell lysis

In order to determine protein activation by Western blot, cells were washed with cold PBS and lysed in SDS lysis buffer. Cells were transferred to a reaction tube and DNA was sheared through a 24 gauge needle to reduce viscosity and allow better protein separation. Denaturation of proteins was obtained by the presence of DTT in the lysis buffer, which destroys the disulfide bonds and boiling the samples for 5 min. The samples were spun down for 1 min at 12000 rpm before loading on a SDS-Page gel.

**SDS lysis buffer:** 125 mM TrisHCl pH 6.8; 4 % SDS; 20 % Glycerol; 0.01 % bromophenol blue; 100 mM DTT

## 2.2.2 Separation of proteins via SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

Proteins can be separated electrophoretically on the basis of their size. The detergent SDS (sodium dodecyl sulphate) equalizes the charge of the protein by forming aggregates with the positive charged structures. All proteins migrate to the positive pole of an electric field. The gel is composed of two parts. In the stacking gel (5 % acrylamide) the proteins are focussed whereas they are separated by their size in the resolving gel (8-10 % acrylamide). Two vertical glass plates with a distinct distance according to the size of the spacers serve as a mold. The components of the resolving gel are thoroughly mixed, poured into that mold and overlaid with 70 % ethanol. After polymerization the ethanol is removed and the stacking gel is filled into the mold. A comb is inserted to get spaces for loading the samples. The gel is put into an

electrophoresis chamber, the reservoirs are filled with running buffer and the protein samples are loaded on the gel. The electrophoretic separation occurs at a voltage of 100-130 V.

Running buffer: 25 mM Tris; 192 mM Glycine, 0.1% SDS

Stacking gel: 5 % acrylamide; 0.1 % SDS; 0.1 % APS; 0.1 % TEMED; 0.125 M Tris pH 6.8 Resolving gel: 8-10 % acrylamide; 0.1 % SDS; 0.1 % APS; 0.06 % TEMED; 0.375 M Tris pH 8.8

## 2.2.3 Western blotting

The proteins separated by SDS-PAGE were electrophoretically transferred to a PVDF (Polyvinylidene difluoride) membrane in transfer buffer at 34 V for at least 6 hours at 4° C. The PVDF membrane was activated with Methanol for 1 min and equilibrated in transfer buffer. The acrylamide gel was placed onto the PVDF membrane and air bubbles were removed. Both were embedded in three layers of Whatman paper soaked in transfer buffer, placed into a cassette and put into the transfer chamber filled with transfer buffer. The proteins migrate to the membrane in direction of the positive electric pole.

Proteins were detected by immunoblotting. Unspecific binding of antibodies was blocked with 5 % BSA in TBS-T buffer for one hour at room temperature. The membrane was incubated with primary antibodies diluted in blocking buffer at concentrations recommended by the supplier for 3 hours at room temperature or over night at 4° C. After washing 3 times for 5 min each in TBS-T buffer the membrane was treated with secondary antibodies coupled to horseradish peroxidase (HRP) for 1 hour at room temperature. The membrane was washed again 3 times in TBS-T buffer. Detection of specific protein signals was achieved using enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) western blotting detection reagents and ECL hyperfilms as described in the manufacturer's instructions. In order to reprobe the membrane with different antibodies, the membrane was incubated in stripping solution for 45 min at 50° C and treated again as described above.

Transfer buffer: 20 mM Tris; 192 mM Glycine; 10 % MethanolTBS-T buffer: 20 mM Tris; 140 mM NaCl; 0.2 % Tween 20; pH 7.6Stripping buffer: 62.5 mM TrisHCl pH 6.8; 2 % SDS; 5 mM DTT

66

### 2.3 DNA methods

### 2.3.1 RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis

 $5 \times 10^6$  HUVEC cells were lysed and RNA was isolated and purified with the Nucleospin RNA L kit according to the manufacturer's protocol. RNA concentration was measured with a NanoDrop photometer. For denaturation 2 µg RNA was diluted to 40 µl with RNase free water and incubated at 70° C for 3 min, then quickly cooled down in ice water. This 2 µg RNA was subjected to reverse transcription, which was performed with 20 U of AMV reverse transcriptase in 80 µl reactions containing 80 U RNasein, 400 ng of oligo d(T)<sub>18</sub> primer and nucleotides. Reactions were incubated for 45 min at 41° C followed by heat inactivation of the reverse transcriptase at 70° C for 15 min. The cDNA was stored at -80° C.

### 2.3.2 Exon-specific RT-PCR

The exon-specific RT-PCR was done as described before (König et al. 1996). Different sequence specific oligonucleotides recognizing sequences in the mRNA of exon 5 and all variant exons of CD44 (all together 11 forward primers) were used separately with one reverse primer complementary to the mRNA of exon 15. DNA fragments were amplified with the thermo-stable Taq-DNA polymerase in a Thermo-Cycler and afterwards loaded on a 1% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide.

PCR mixture:			
cDNA template		5 µl of reverse transcriptase reaction	
5 x PCR buffer		6 µl	
dNTPs (10 mM)		0.5 μl	
forward primer		10 pmol per primer	
reverse primer		10 pmol	
Taq polymerase (1	U/µl)	0.25 μl	
H <sub>2</sub> O		to 30 µl	
PCR program:			
1 cycle:	1 min	95° C	
36 cycles:	30 sec	95° C	
	1 min	50° C	
	2 min	72° C	
1 cycle:	5 min	75° C	
1 cycle:	hold at 4° C		

## 2.3.3 Separation of DNA fragments via agarose gel electrophoresis

Nucleotides carry a negative charge according to the phosphate residues. In an electric field they move towards the positive charged anode and are separated by size. In order to build a gel the

agarose was mixed with TAE buffer and dissolved by boiling. After cooling down ethidium bromide was added and the solution was poured into an electrophoresis chamber equipped with a comb where it solidified. The gel was overlaid with TAE buffer and the DNA samples mixed with 10 x DNA loading buffer were loaded into the pockets. The separation was performed at 80 to 100 V. DNA can be visualized by UV light because the ethidium bromide intercalates into the DNA double helix.

TAE buffer: 40 mM Tris pH 8.3; 2 mM EDTA; 40 mM sodium acetate

**10 x DNA loading buffer:** 15 % Ficoll 400; 0.5 mM EDTA pH 8; 0.25 % bromophenol blue; 0.25 % xylene cyanol

### 2.4 In-vitro experiments

### 2.4.1 Wound closure assay

This assay mimics the ability of cells to migrate into a wound after injury. HUVECs and HAOECs were seeded in 12-well plates at a concentration of  $2.5 \times 10^5$  cells per well. After 24 hours the cells form a confluent monolayer in which a scratch is inserted using a sterile pipette tip. Medium was aspirated to remove scratched cells and replaced by new growth medium containing blocking reagents as indicated ( $\alpha$ CD44v6 100 µg/ml, v6 peptide 100 ng/ml, ctrl peptide 100 ng/ml). After an incubation time of 10 min at 37° C growth factors were added to induce migration (HGF 20 ng/ml, VEGF-A165 40 ng/ml, VEGF-A121 40 ng/ml). Pictures of the cells were taken 24 hours after induction using a Canon Power Shot S620 digital camera. The computer program ImageJ was used for quantitative evaluation. An area in the wound was defined and the cell free area was measured. The efficiency of wound closure is represented as percentage of cell free area.

## 2.4.2 Thymidine incorporation

HUVEC cells were seeded in 96 well plates at a concentration of  $10^4$  cells per well. The next day the cells were treated with blocking reagents (100 µg ml CD44v6 antibody, 100 ng/ml v6 peptide and control peptide). After 10 min incubation at 30° C the growth factors were added (HGF 20 ng/ml, VEGF-A165 40 ng/ml, VEGF-A121 40 ng/ml) for 24 hours at 37° C. 16 hours before the experiment was stopped the tritium-labelled thymidine (<sup>3</sup>H thymidine) was added to each well at a concentration of 1 µCi per well. At the end the cells were washed twice with PBS and detached from the plate with 50 µl trypsin (40 min at 37° C). In order to detect the incorporated radioactivity the cells were transferred to a glass fibre filter with a cell harvester and analyzed with a liquid scintillation counter.

#### 2.4.3 Spheroid sprouting

Spheroids were formed to investigate the behaviour and competences of EC aggregates in a three-dimensional environment. Spheroids were generated in hanging drops. HUVECs were suspended in growth medium containing 0.25 % (wt/vol) methylcellulose at a concentration of 3 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells per ml. Drops of 25  $\mu$ l (containing 750 cells each) were put on cell culture plastics and incubated up side down in the incubator at 37° C over night that the cells form one spheroid per drop. Spheroids were rinsed off the plate with 10 % FCS in PBS and collected by gentle centrifugation (5 min. 800 rpm). 48-well plates were coated with 100  $\mu$ l of growth medium containing 1 mg/ml rat tail collagen and 0.6 % (wt/vol) methylcellulose at 37° C for 20 min. Spheroids were resuspended in the same mixture (30 spheroids per 400  $\mu$ l) on ice and distributed in the wells to get 30 spheroids per well. After solidification of the collagen at 37° C for 30 min, the matrix was overlaid with 250  $\mu$ l starving medium containing blocking reagents as indicated ( $\alpha$ CD44v6 100  $\mu$ g/ml, v6 peptide 100 ng/ml, ctrl peptide 100 ng/ml calculated to complete well content) and induced by VEGFA-165 and VEGF-A121 (40 ng/ml). Pictures were taken after 48 hours and sprout length was determined using the computer program ImageJ.

Methylcellulose stock solution: 1.2 % methyl cellulose in EC growth medium

#### 2.4.4 **Tube formation on Matrigel**

Matrigel is a mixture of extracellular matrix components and very viscous. It starts to solidify at room temperature, therefore it was kept on ice as long as possible and pipetted with chilled pipette tips. Wells of a 48-well plate were coated with 150  $\mu$ l of growth factor reduced Matrigel mixed with ice cold HUVEC starving medium in equal parts and incubated at 37° C for 30 min. HUVECs were seeded on these Matrigel coated plates at a concentration of 2.5 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells per well in 500  $\mu$ l starving medium. Where indicated blocking reagents were added ( $\alpha$ CD44v6 100  $\mu$ g/ml, v6 peptide 100 ng/ml, ctrl peptide 100 ng/ml calculated to complete well content) and after 10 min at 37° C the growth factors were added additionally (HGF 20 ng/ml, VEGF-A165 40 ng/ml, VEGF-A121 40 ng/ml). Pictures were taken after 24 hours. The quantification was performed by counting the branching points and the total vessel length per field using the computer program ImageJ.

### 2.5 Experiments with animals

### 2.5.1 Islet culturing assay

Isolation of hyperplastic Langerhans islets from Rip1Tag2 mice at the age of 8 to 9 weeks was done by pancreas perfusion with a collagenase/DNase solution (0.3 units/µl collagenase type IV and 10 µg/ml DNase I in HBSS Hank's buffered salt solution) as described previously (Folkman et al. 1989). Mice were sacrificed, the entry of bile duct into duodenum was closed with a fine clamp and perfusion of the pancreas via the bile duct with a bent 30 gauge needle was started. Approximately 2 to 3 ml of collagenase solution was applied with mild pressure. The pancreas was isolated, chopped with small scissors and incubated at 37° C for 45 min. Digested pancreas was resuspended in RMPI 1640 containing 10 % FCS and 20 mM Hepes. Langerhans islets were picked under a dark field illumination microscope.

HUVECs were suspended in RMPI 1640 containing 10 % FCS and 20 mM Hepes (2 x  $10^5$  cells per ml) and mixed on ice with a bovine collagen solution (2.4 mg/ml Vitrogen®, completed with 10 mM NaOH and 0.075 % NaHCO<sub>3</sub> to allow solidification and Glutamine in RMPI 1640) in equal parts. Blocking reagents ( $\alpha$ CD44v6 100 µg/ml, v6 peptide 100 ng/ml, ctrl peptide 100 ng/ml) were added as indicated and the mixture was quickly transferred into 24-well plates (350 µl per well, 3.5 x  $10^4$  cells per well). The isolated Langerhans islets were put on top of this three-dimensional collagen matrix (4 to 5 per well) and co-cultured with HUVECs. Every third day new blocking reagents were added. After 5 to 7 days the response of ECs to the angiogenic islets was determined. Approximately 60 islets per condition were analyzed.

### 2.5.2 Spheroid-based *in vivo* angiogenesis assay

This assay was done as described previously (Alajati et al. 2008). HUVECs were suspended in growth medium containing 0.25 % (wt/vol) methylcellulose at a concentration of 4 x  $10^3$  cells per ml. Drops of 25 µl (containing 100 cells each) were put on cell culture plastics and incubated up side down in the incubator at 37° C over night that the cells form one spheroid per drop. Spheroids were rinsed off the plate with 10 % FCS in PBS, washed once with EC growth medium and collected by gentle centrifugation (5 min 800 rpm). The spheroids were resuspended in a matrix made of EC basal medium and Matrigel (growth factor reduced) in equal parts and fibrinogen at a final concentration of 2 mg/ml on ice. The growth factors HGF or VEGF-A165 were mixed with this matrix at a concentration of 500 ng/ml. Where stated, the mixture also contained the blocking reagents  $\alpha$ CD44v6 or CD44v6 peptide (20 µg/ml each). Thrombin (0.4 U) was added and the matrix was injected subcutaneously on each side lateral to

the abdominal midline region into 4-6 weeks old SCID mice. All in all, one plug consists of  $600 \mu l$  matrix containing 500 spheroids.

Every second day mice were treated with the blocking reagents  $\alpha$ CD44v6 or CD44v6 peptide (20 µg per plug) by injection in proximity to the Matrigel/fibrinogen plugs. Mice were sacrificed 21 days after implantation by cervical dislocation and constructs were retrieved and fixed over night in 4 % formaldehyde for immunohistological analysis.

Methylcellulose stock solution: 1.2 % methyl cellulose in EC growth medium

#### 2.5.3 Orthotopic mouse tumour model

In this experiment the human mammary carcinoma cells MDA-MB231 were implanted orthotopically into the mammary fat pad of female SCID mice.  $1 \times 10^6$  cells were harvested from subconfluency, washed with sterile PBS and resuspended in 50 µl of PBS. Female SCID mice were anesthetized with 75 mg/kg ketamine hydrochloride and 15 mg/kg xylazine by peritoneal injection. The cells were implanted with a 29 gauge syringe very slowly into the mammary fat pad of the fourth mammary complex and the needle was removed carefully with a delay of 1 min. The incision was closed using an interrupted Vicryl suture for the skin. After tumour growth for one week, the animals were split in groups (6 to 7 animals per group) and treated with 20 µg of anti-mouse CD44v6 (clone 9A4), control IgG, mouse v6 peptide or control peptide three times per week by intra-peritoneal injection. Tumour growth was monitored once per week using a calliper or the flat-panel detector volume computed tomography (see below). The tumour volume measured by calliper was calculated as 0.5 x length x width x height. Five weeks after tumour cell implantation the animals were sacrificed by cervical dislocation, the tumours were excised, externally measured, divided in halves and fixed in 4 % formalin or zinc fixative for 24 hours for immunohistological analysis.

The human pancreatic cancer cells L3.6pl were injected orthotopically as described previously into male nude mice (Bruns et al. 1999). In brief, a small left abdominal flank incision was made and the spleen was exteriorised.  $5 \times 10^5$  cells in 40 µl Hanks buffered salt solution were injected into the subcapsular region of the pancreas just beneath the spleen using a 30 gauge needle. An appearing fluid bleb was considered as a sign for successful subcapsular intra-pancreatic injection. One week after injection of the tumour cells, mice were randomly assigned to groups of 5 animals each and treated with PBS, control peptide (20 µg) or CD44v6 peptide (20 µg) three times per week (intraperitoneal injection). Three weeks after initiation of the treatment the tumours were isolated and tumour volume was calculated as 0.5 x length x width x height. The tissues were processed as described above.

Zink fixative: 0.5 g/l calcium acetate, 5 g/l zinc acetate, 5 g/l zinc chloride in 0.1 M Tris pH 7.4

### 2.6 Detection methods

#### 2.6.1 Flat-panel detector volume computed tomography imaging

The tumour growth was monitored with a non clinical volume computed tomography prototype flat-panel detector as described previously (Missbach-Guentner et al. 2008). The mice were placed perpendicularly to the z-axis of the system after anaesthesia with 0.8-1 % vaporized isoflurane. 150  $\mu$ l of the iodine-containing contrast agent Isovist 300 were applied intravenously into the tail vein of the mice 30 sec before scanning. For better demonstration of small blood vessels, Isovist 300 was replaced by the blood pool agent eXia 160 that was used 90 sec before the scan at the day of dissection. All data sets were acquired with the same protocol: 500 views per rotation, 4 sec rotation time, 360 used detector rows, tube voltage of 80 kVp and a current of 100 mA. A modified Feldkamp algorithm was used for image reconstruction resulting in isotropic high-resolution volume data sets (512 x 512 matrix, with an isotropic voxel size of approximately 100  $\mu$ m). For tumour segmentation and volume estimation data sets were analyzed with voxtools 3.0.64 Advantage Workstation 4.2 (GE Healthcare, UK).

### 2.6.2 Immunohistological analysis

The Matrigel/fibrin plugs and the tumour tissues were processed in a tissue processor and embedded in paraffin. 7  $\mu$ m sections of paraffin blocks were deparaffinised and dehydrated. In order to block unspecific binding, the Matrigel/fibrin plug sections were incubated with 10 % goat serum in PBS for 60 min prior to the staining with the antibody against human CD34 (clone QBEND/10, 20  $\mu$ g/ml in blocking solution, 2 hours). The sections were washed three times with TBS-T washing buffer and incubated with the goat-anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 388 secondary antibody (10  $\mu$ g/ml) for 45 min. Nuclei were counterstained with Hoechst dye 33258 for 5 min at a concentration of 5  $\mu$ g/ml after washing with TBS-T washing buffer for three times. The sections were mounted with fluorescent mounting medium, dried over night and analyzed with an Olympus IX50 inverted microscope. Fluorescent structures were manually counted, referred to the complete matrix area and calculated as vessel number per mm<sup>2</sup> with the computer program cell<sup>F</sup>.

In the tumour sections the antigens were retrieved with 8  $\mu$ g/ml Proteinase K in TE buffer for 10 min at 37° C, washed three times with PBS and peroxidases were inactivated with 3 % H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> for 12 min. Endogenous biotin was blocked with the biotin blocking system according to the

manufacturer's instructions (10 min avidin solution, washing, 10 min biotin solution, washing). Before the sections were incubated with the primary antibody against mouse CD31 (0.5  $\mu$ g/ml in blocking solution) over night at 4° C, unspecific binding was blocked with 10 % rabbit serum in PBS for 1 hour. The next day the sections were washed three times with PBS and the biotinylated rabbit-anti-rat antibody was added at a concentration of 2  $\mu$ g/ml for 45 min followed by three washing steps and treatment (30 min) with a streptavidin-peroxidase conjugate (StreptABComplex) as described in the manual. The sections were developed with DAB substrate system (3,3'-diaminobenzidine), dehydrated and mounted with a xylene soluble mounting medium. With the computer program ImageJ all stained structures were analyzed for vessel number per mm<sup>2</sup> and average vessel size.

**TBS-T washing buffer:** 10 mM Tris pH 7.5; 100 mM NaCl; 0.1 % Tween 20 **TE buffer:** 10 mM Tris; 1 mM EDTA; pH 8

#### Bibliography

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Abounader, R., Lal, B., Luddy, C., Koe, G., Davidson, B., Rosen, E.M., and Laterra, J. 2002. In vivo targeting of SF/HGF and c-met expression via U1snRNA/ribozymes inhibits glioma growth and angiogenesis and promotes apoptosis. *Faseb J* **16**(1): 108-110.
- Adamis, A.P., Miller, J.W., Bernal, M.T., D'Amico, D.J., Folkman, J., Yeo, T.K., and Yeo, K.T. 1994. Increased vascular endothelial growth factor levels in the vitreous of eyes with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. *American journal of ophthalmology* **118**(4): 445-450.
- Aird, W.C. 2007. Phenotypic heterogeneity of the endothelium: I. Structure, function, and mechanisms. *Circulation research* **100**(2): 158-173.
- Alajati, A., Laib, A.M., Weber, H., Boos, A.M., Bartol, A., Ikenberg, K., Korff, T., Zentgraf, H., Obodozie, C., Graeser, R., Christian, S., Finkenzeller, G., Stark, G.B., Heroult, M., and Augustin, H.G. 2008. Spheroid-based engineering of a human vasculature in mice. *Nat Methods* 5(5): 439-445.
- Algrain, M., Turunen, O., Vaheri, A., Louvard, D., and Arpin, M. 1993. Ezrin contains cytoskeleton and membrane binding domains accounting for its proposed role as a membrane-cytoskeletal linker. *J Cell Biol* 120(1): 129-139.
- Alon, T., Hemo, I., Itin, A., Pe'er, J., Stone, J., and Keshet, E. 1995. Vascular endothelial growth factor acts as a survival factor for newly formed retinal vessels and has implications for retinopathy of prematurity. *Nat Med* 1(10): 1024-1028.
- Alpert, S., Hanahan, D., and Teitelman, G. 1988. Hybrid insulin genes reveal a developmental lineage for pancreatic endocrine cells and imply a relationship with neurons. *Cell* 53(2): 295-308.
- Arch, R., Wirth, K., Hofmann, M., Ponta, H., Matzku, S., Herrlich, P., and Zöller, M. 1992. Participation in normal immune responses of a splice variant of CD44 that encodes a metastasis-inducing domain. *Science* 257: 682-685.
- Aruffo, A., Stamenkovic, I., Melnick, M., Underhill, C.B., and Seed, B. 1990. CD44 is the principal cell surface receptor for hyaluronate. *Cell* **61**(7): 1303-1313.
- Bajorath, J., Greenfield, B., Munro, S.B., Day, A.J., and Aruffo, A. 1998. Identification of CD44 residues important for hyaluronan binding and delineation of the binding site. *J Biol Chem* 273(1): 338-343.
- Banerji, S., Day, A.J., Kahmann, J.D., and Jackson, D.G. 1998. Characterization of a functional hyaluronan-binding domain from the human CD44 molecule expressed in Escherichia coli. *Protein Expr Purif* **14**(3): 371-381.
- Bardelli, A. and Comoglio, P.M. 1997. Scatter factor receptors are key players in a unique multistep program leading to invasive growth. *Ciba Found Symp* **212**: 133-144.
- Bardelli, A., Pugliese, L., and Comoglio, P.M. 1997. "Invasive-growth" signaling by the Met/HGF receptor: the hereditary renal carcinoma connection. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1333(3): M41-51.
- Bartolazzi, A., Peach, R., Aruffo, A., and Stamenkovic, I. 1994. Interaction between CD44 and hyaluronate is directly implicated in the regulation of tumor development. *J Exp Med* **180**(1): 53-66.
- Basile, J.R., Afkhami, T., and Gutkind, J.S. 2005. Semaphorin 4D/plexin-B1 induces endothelial cell migration through the activation of PYK2, Src, and the phosphatidylinositol 3kinase-Akt pathway. *Mol Cell Biol* 25(16): 6889-6898.
- Bazil, V. and Strominger, J.L. 1994. Metalloprotease and serine protease are involved in cleavage of CD43, CD44, and CD16 from stimulated human granulocytes. Induction of cleavage of L-selectin via CD16. *J Immunol* **152**(3): 1314-1322.

- Benjamin, L.E., Golijanin, D., Itin, A., Pode, D., and Keshet, E. 1999. Selective ablation of immature blood vessels in established human tumors follows vascular endothelial growth factor withdrawal. J Clin Invest 103(2): 159-165.
- Benjamin, L.E. and Keshet, E. 1997. Conditional switching of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression in tumors: induction of endothelial cell shedding and regression of hemangioblastoma-like vessels by VEGF withdrawal. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94(16): 8761-8766.
- Bennett, K.L., Jackson, D.G., Simon, J.C., Tanczos, E., Peach, R., Modrell, B., Stamenkovic, I., Plowman, G., and Aruffo, A. 1995. CD44 isoforms containing exon v3 are responsible for the presentation of heparin-binding growth factor. *J Cell Biol* 128: 687-698.
- Bergers, G. and Benjamin, L.E. 2003. Tumorigenesis and the angiogenic switch. *Nat Rev Cancer* **3**(6): 401-410.
- Birchmeier, C., Birchmeier, W., Gherardi, E., and Vande Woude, G.F. 2003. Met, metastasis, motility and more. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **4**(12): 915-925.
- Birchmeier, C. and Gherardi, E. 1998. Developmental roles of HGF/SF and its receptor, the c-Met tyrosine kinase. *Trends Cell Biol* **8**(10): 404-410.
- Bladt, F., Riethmacher, D., Isenmann, S., Aguzzi, A., and Birchmeier, C. 1995. Essential role for the c-met receptor in the migration of myogenic precursor cells into the limb bud. *Nature* 376(6543): 768-771.
- Bloor, B.K., Jelvagharan, M., White, K.N., and Odell, E.W. 2001. Characterization of CD44 splicing patterns in normal keratinocytes, dysplastic and squamous carcinoma cell lines. *Int J Oncol* **18**(5): 1053-1059.
- Boccaccio, C., Ando, M., Tamagnone, L., Bardelli, A., Michieli, P., Battistini, C., and Comoglio, P.M. 1998. Induction of epithelial tubules by growth factor HGF depends on the STAT pathway. *Nature* **391**(6664): 285-288.
- Bottaro, D.P., Rubin, J.S., Faletto, D.L., Chan, A.M., Kmiecik, T.E., Vande Woude, G.F., and Aaronson, S.A. 1991. Identification of the hepatocyte growth factor receptor as the c-met proto-oncogene product. *Science* **251**(4995): 802-804.
- Bourguignon, L.Y., Kalomiris, E.L., and Lokeshwar, V.B. 1991. Acylation of the lymphoma transmembrane glycoprotein, GP85, may be required for GP85-ankyrin interaction. *J Biol Chem* **266**(18): 11761-11765.
- Bourguignon, L.Y., Peyrollier, K., Gilad, E., and Brightman, A. 2007. Hyaluronan-CD44 interaction with neural Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (N-WASP) promotes actin polymerization and ErbB2 activation leading to beta-catenin nuclear translocation, transcriptional up-regulation, and cell migration in ovarian tumor cells. *J Biol Chem* **282**(2): 1265-1280.
- Bourguignon, L.Y., Zhu, H., Chu, A., Iida, N., Zhang, L., and Hung, M.C. 1997. Interaction between the adhesion receptor, CD44, and the oncogene product, p185HER2, promotes human ovarian tumor cell activation. *J Biol Chem* **272**(44): 27913-27918.
- Bourguignon, L.Y., Zhu, H., Shao, L., Zhu, D., and Chen, Y.W. 1999. Rho-kinase (ROK) promotes CD44v(3,8-10)-ankyrin interaction and tumor cell migration in metastatic breast cancer cells. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* **43**(4): 269-287.
- Brocke, S., Piercy, C., Steinman, L., Weissman, I.L., and Veromaa, T. 1999. Antibodies to CD44 and integrin alpha4, but not L-selectin, prevent central nervous system inflammation and experimental encephalomyelitis by blocking secondary leukocyte recruitment. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**(12): 6896-6901.
- Brogi, E., Wu, T., Namiki, A., and Isner, J.M. 1994. Indirect angiogenic cytokines upregulate VEGF and bFGF gene expression in vascular smooth muscle cells, whereas hypoxia upregulates VEGF expression only. *Circulation* **90**(2): 649-652.

#### Bibliography

- Brown, T.A., Bouchard, T., St. John, T., Wayner, E., and Carter, W.G. 1991. Human keratinocytes express a new CD44 core protein (CD44E) as a heparin-sulfate intrinsic membrane proteoglycan with additional exons. *J Cell Biol* **113**: 207-221.
- Bruns, C.J., Harbison, M.T., Kuniyasu, H., Eue, I., and Fidler, I.J. 1999. In vivo selection and characterization of metastatic variants from human pancreatic adenocarcinoma by using orthotopic implantation in nude mice. *Neoplasia* **1**(1): 50-62.
- Bussolino, F., Di Renzo, M.F., Ziche, M., Bocchietto, E., Olivero, M., Naldini, L., Gaudino, G., Tamagnone, L., Coffer, A., and Comoglio, P.M. 1992. Hepatocyte growth factor is a potent angiogenic factor which stimulates endothelial cell motility and growth. *J Cell Biol* 119(3): 629-641.
- Camp, R.L., Scheynius, A., Johansson, C., and Pure, E. 1993. CD44 is necessary for optimal contact allergic responses but is not required for normal leukocyte extravasation. *J Exp Med* **178**(2): 497-507.
- Campbell, S.L., Khosravi-Far, R., Rossman, K.L., Clark, G.J., and Der, C.J. 1998. Increasing complexity of Ras signaling. *Oncogene* 17(11 Reviews): 1395-1413.
- Carmeliet, P., Ferreira, V., Breier, G., Pollefeyt, S., Kieckens, L., Gertsenstein, M., Fahrig, M., Vandenhoeck, A., Harpal, K., Eberhardt, C., Declercq, C., Pawling, J., Moons, L., Collen, D., Risau, W., and Nagy, A. 1996. Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. *Nature* 380(6573): 435-439.
- Carmeliet, P., Lampugnani, M.G., Moons, L., Breviario, F., Compernolle, V., Bono, F., Balconi, G., Spagnuolo, R., Oostuyse, B., Dewerchin, M., Zanetti, A., Angellilo, A., Mattot, V., Nuyens, D., Lutgens, E., Clotman, F., de Ruiter, M.C., Gittenberger-de Groot, A., Poelmann, R., Lupu, F., Herbert, J.M., Collen, D., and Dejana, E. 1999. Targeted deficiency or cytosolic truncation of the VE-cadherin gene in mice impairs VEGF-mediated endothelial survival and angiogenesis. *Cell* 98(2): 147-157.
- Carter, W.G. and Wayner, E.A. 1988. Characterization of the class III collagen receptor, a phosphorylated, transmembrane glycoprotein expressed in nucleated human cells. *J Biol Chem* **263**(9): 4193-4201.
- Chan, A.M., King, H.W., Deakin, E.A., Tempest, P.R., Hilkens, J., Kroezen, V., Edwards, D.R., Wills, A.J., Brookes, P., and Cooper, C.S. 1988. Characterization of the mouse met proto-oncogene. *Oncogene* 2(6): 593-599.
- Chang, Y.S., di Tomaso, E., McDonald, D.M., Jones, R., Jain, R.K., and Munn, L.L. 2000. Mosaic blood vessels in tumors: frequency of cancer cells in contact with flowing blood. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97(26): 14608-14613.
- Chen, L., Klass, C., and Woods, A. 2004. Syndecan-2 regulates transforming growth factor-beta signaling. *J Biol Chem* **279**(16): 15715-15718.
- Cohen, T., Nahari, D., Cerem, L.W., Neufeld, G., and Levi, B.Z. 1996. Interleukin 6 induces the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor. *J Biol Chem* **271**(2): 736-741.
- Colombatti, A., Hughes, E.N., Taylor, B.A., and August, J.T. 1982. Gene for a major cell surface glycoprotein of mouse macrophages and other phagocytic cells is on chromosome 2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **79**(6): 1926-1929.
- Conrotto, P., Valdembri, D., Corso, S., Serini, G., Tamagnone, L., Comoglio, P.M., Bussolino, F., and Giordano, S. 2005. Sema4D induces angiogenesis through Met recruitment by Plexin B1. *Blood* 105(11): 4321-4329.
- Cooper, C.S., Park, M., Blair, D.G., Tainsky, M.A., Huebner, K., Croce, C.M., and Vande Woude, G.F. 1984. Molecular cloning of a new transforming gene from a chemically transformed human cell line. *Nature* 311(5981): 29-33.
- Culty, M., Nguyen, H.A., and Underhill, C.B. 1992. The hyaluronan receptor (CD44) participates in the uptake and degradation of hyaluronan. *J Cell Biol* **116**(4): 1055-1062.

- Dalchau, R., Kirkley, J., and Fabre, J.W. 1980. Monoclonal antibody to a human braingranulocyte-T lymphocyte antigen probably homologous to the W 3/13 antigen of the rat. *Eur J Immunol* **10**(10): 745-749.
- Davis-Smyth, T., Chen, H., Park, J., Presta, L.G., and Ferrara, N. 1996. The second immunoglobulin-like domain of the VEGF tyrosine kinase receptor Flt-1 determines ligand binding and may initiate a signal transduction cascade. *Embo J* **15**(18): 4919-4927.
- Davis-Smyth, T., Presta, L.G., and Ferrara, N. 1998. Mapping the charged residues in the second immunoglobulin-like domain of the vascular endothelial growth factor/placenta growth factor receptor Flt-1 required for binding and structural stability. J Biol Chem 273(6): 3216-3222.
- Dayanir, V., Meyer, R.D., Lashkari, K., and Rahimi, N. 2001. Identification of tyrosine residues in vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2/FLK-1 involved in activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and cell proliferation. *J Biol Chem* **276**(21): 17686-17692.
- de Vries, C., Escobedo, J.A., Ueno, H., Houck, K., Ferrara, N., and Williams, L.T. 1992. The fms-like tyrosine kinase, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Science* 255(5047): 989-991.
- Deak, F., Kiss, I., Sparks, K.J., Argraves, W.S., Hampikian, G., and Goetinck, P.F. 1986. Complete amino acid sequence of chicken cartilage link protein deduced from cDNA clones. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 83(11): 3766-3770.
- DeGrendele, H.C., Estess, P., Picker, L.J., and Siegelman, M.H. 1996. CD44 and its ligand hyaluronate mediate rolling under physiologic flow: a novel lymphocyte-endothelial cell primary adhesion pathway. *J Exp Med* **183**(3): 1119-1130.
- Di Renzo, M.F., Narsimhan, R.P., Olivero, M., Bretti, S., Giordano, S., Medico, E., Gaglia, P., Zara, P., and Comoglio, P.M. 1991. Expression of the Met/HGF receptor in normal and neoplastic human tissues. *Oncogene* **6**(11): 1997-2003.
- Ebens, A., Brose, K., Leonardo, E.D., Hanson, M.G., Jr., Bladt, F., Birchmeier, C., Barres, B.A., and Tessier-Lavigne, M. 1996. Hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor is an axonal chemoattractant and a neurotrophic factor for spinal motor neurons. *Neuron* **17**(6): 1157-1172.
- Eliceiri, B.P., Paul, R., Schwartzberg, P.L., Hood, J.D., Leng, J., and Cheresh, D.A. 1999. Selective requirement for Src kinases during VEGF-induced angiogenesis and vascular permeability. *Molecular cell* 4(6): 915-924.
- English, N.M., Lesley, J.F., and Hyman, R. 1998. Site-specific de-N-glycosylation of CD44 can activate hyaluronan binding, and CD44 activation states show distinct threshold densities for hyaluronan binding. *Cancer Res* **58**(16): 3736-3742.
- Entwistle, J., Hall, C.L., and Turley, E.A. 1996. HA receptors: regulators of signalling to the cytoskeleton. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* **61**(4): 569-577.
- Ferrara, N., Carver-Moore, K., Chen, H., Dowd, M., Lu, L., O'Shea, K.S., Powell-Braxton, L., Hillan, K.J., and Moore, M.W. 1996. Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. *Nature* 380(6573): 439-442.
- Ferrara, N. and Davis-Smyth, T. 1997. The biology of vascular endothelial growth factor. *Endocrine reviews* **18**(1): 4-25.
- Ferrara, N. and Henzel, W.J. 1989. Pituitary follicular cells secrete a novel heparin-binding growth factor specific for vascular endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 161(2): 851-858.
- Folkman, J. and Klagsbrun, M. 1987. Angiogenic factors. Science 235(4787): 442-447.
- Folkman, J., Watson, K., Ingber, D., and Hanahan, D. 1989. Induction of angiogenesis during the transition from hyperplasia to neoplasia. *Nature* **339**(6219): 58-61.

- Fong, G.H., Rossant, J., Gertsenstein, M., and Breitman, M.L. 1995. Role of the Flt-1 receptor tyrosine kinase in regulating the assembly of vascular endothelium. *Nature* **376**(6535): 66-70.
- Fong, G.H., Zhang, L., Bryce, D.M., and Peng, J. 1999. Increased hemangioblast commitment, not vascular disorganization, is the primary defect in flt-1 knock-out mice. *Development* 126(13): 3015-3025.
- Foster, L.C., Arkonac, B.M., Sibinga, N.E., Shi, C., Perrella, M.A., and Haber, E. 1998. Regulation of CD44 gene expression by the proinflammatory cytokine interleukin-1beta in vascular smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem* **273**(32): 20341-20346.
- Francavilla, C., Loeffler, S., Piccini, D., Kren, A., Christofori, G., and Cavallaro, U. 2007. Neural cell adhesion molecule regulates the cellular response to fibroblast growth factor. *J Cell Sci* 120(Pt 24): 4388-4394.
- Fuh, G., Li, B., Crowley, C., Cunningham, B., and Wells, J.A. 1998. Requirements for binding and signaling of the kinase domain receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *J Biol Chem* 273(18): 11197-11204.
- Fuh, G., Pisabarro, M.T., Li, Y., Quan, C., Lasky, L.A., and Sidhu, S.S. 2000. Analysis of PDZ domain-ligand interactions using carboxyl-terminal phage display. *J Biol Chem* 275(28): 21486-21491.
- Fukuda, T., Ichimura, E., Shinozaki, T., Sano, T., Kashiwabara, K., Oyama, T., Nakajima, T., and Nakamura, T. 1998. Coexpression of HGF and c-Met/HGF receptor in human bone and soft tissue tumors. *Pathol Int* 48(10): 757-762.
- Gallatin, W.M., Wayner, E.A., Hoffman, P.A., St John, T., Butcher, E.C., and Carter, W.G. 1989. Structural homology between lymphocyte receptors for high endothelium and class III extracellular matrix receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **86**(12): 4654-4658.
- Gannon, G., Mandriota, S.J., Cui, L., Baetens, D., Pepper, M.S., and Christofori, G. 2002. Overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor-A165 enhances tumor angiogenesis but not metastasis during beta-cell carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res* **62**(2): 603-608.
- Gao, A.C., Lou, W., Dong, J.T., and Isaacs, J.T. 1997. CD44 is a metastasis suppressor gene for prostatic cancer located on human chromosome 11p13. *Cancer Res* **57**(5): 846-849.
- Garcia-Guzman, M., Dolfi, F., Zeh, K., and Vuori, K. 1999. Met-induced JNK activation is mediated by the adapter protein Crk and correlates with the Gab1 Crk signaling complex formation. *Oncogene* **18**(54): 7775-7786.
- Gerber, H.P., Dixit, V., and Ferrara, N. 1998a. Vascular endothelial growth factor induces expression of the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and A1 in vascular endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* **273**(21): 13313-13316.
- Gerber, H.P., McMurtrey, A., Kowalski, J., Yan, M., Keyt, B.A., Dixit, V., and Ferrara, N. 1998b. Vascular endothelial growth factor regulates endothelial cell survival through the phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase/Akt signal transduction pathway. Requirement for Flk-1/KDR activation. *J Biol Chem* **273**(46): 30336-30343.
- Gherardi, E., Youles, M.E., Miguel, R.N., Blundell, T.L., Iamele, L., Gough, J., Bandyopadhyay, A., Hartmann, G., and Butler, P.J. 2003. Functional map and domain structure of MET, the product of the c-met protooncogene and receptor for hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100(21): 12039-12044.
- Gillies, M.C. and Wong, T.Y. 2007. Ranibizumab for neovascular age-related macular degeneration. *N Engl J Med* **356**(7): 748-749; author reply 749-750.
- Giordano, S., Corso, S., Conrotto, P., Artigiani, S., Gilestro, G., Barberis, D., Tamagnone, L., and Comoglio, P.M. 2002. The semaphorin 4D receptor controls invasive growth by coupling with Met. *Nat Cell Biol* **4**(9): 720-724.
- Giordano, S., Ponzetto, C., Di Renzo, M.F., Cooper, C.S., and Comoglio, P.M. 1989. Tyrosine kinase receptor indistinguishable from the c-met protein. *Nature* **339**(6220): 155-156.

#### Bibliography

- Giordano, S., Zhen, Z., Medico, E., Gaudino, G., Galimi, F., and Comoglio, P.M. 1993. Transfer of motogenic and invasive response to scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor by transfection of human MET protooncogene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **90**(2): 649-653.
- Gitay-Goren, H., Soker, S., Vlodavsky, I., and Neufeld, G. 1992. The binding of vascular endothelial growth factor to its receptors is dependent on cell surface-associated heparin-like molecules. *J Biol Chem* **267**(9): 6093-6098.
- Goldstein, L.A. and Butcher, E.C. 1990. Identification of mRNA that encodes an alternative form of H-CAM(CD44) in lymphoid and nonlymphoid tissues. *Immunogenetics* **32**(6): 389-397.
- Goldstein, L.A., Zhou, D.F., Picker, L.J., Minty, C.N., Bargatze, R.F., Ding, J.F., and Butcher, E.C. 1989. A human lymphocyte homing receptor, the hermes antigen, is related to cartilage proteoglycan core and link proteins. *Cell* **56**(6): 1063-1072.
- Goodfellow, P.N., Banting, G., Wiles, M.V., Tunnacliffe, A., Parkar, M., Solomon, E., Dalchau, R., and Fabre, J.W. 1982. The gene, MIC4, which controls expression of the antigen defined by monoclonal antibody F10.44.2, is on human chromosome 11. *Eur J Immunol* 12(8): 659-663.
- Granes, F., Urena, J.M., Rocamora, N., and Vilaro, S. 2000. Ezrin links syndecan-2 to the cytoskeleton. *J Cell Sci* **113** ( **Pt 7**): 1267-1276.
- Grant, D.S., Kleinman, H.K., Goldberg, I.D., Bhargava, M.M., Nickoloff, B.J., Kinsella, J.L., Polverini, P., and Rosen, E.M. 1993. Scatter factor induces blood vessel formation in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **90**(5): 1937-1941.
- Graziani, A., Gramaglia, D., Cantley, L.C., and Comoglio, P.M. 1991. The tyrosinephosphorylated hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor receptor associates with phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *J Biol Chem* **266**(33): 22087-22090.
- Graziani, A., Gramaglia, D., dalla Zonca, P., and Comoglio, P.M. 1993. Hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor stimulates the Ras-guanine nucleotide exchanger. *J Biol Chem* **268**(13): 9165-9168.
- Greenfield, B., Wang, W.C., Marquardt, H., Piepkorn, M., Wolff, E.A., Aruffo, A., and Bennett, K.L. 1999. Characterization of the heparan sulfate and chondroitin sulfate assembly sites in CD44. *J Biol Chem* **274**(4): 2511-2517.
- Grugel, S., Finkenzeller, G., Weindel, K., Barleon, B., and Marme, D. 1995. Both v-Ha-Ras and v-Raf stimulate expression of the vascular endothelial growth factor in NIH 3T3 cells. *J Biol Chem* **270**(43): 25915-25919.
- Gu, H. and Neel, B.G. 2003. The "Gab" in signal transduction. Trends Cell Biol 13(3): 122-130.
- Günthert, U., Hofmann, M., Rudy, W., Reber, S., Zöller, M., Haußmann, I., Matzku, S., Wenzel, A., Ponta, H., and Herrlich, P. 1991. A new variant of glycoprotein CD44 confers metastatic potential to rat carcinoma cells. *Cell* **65**: 13-24.
- Guo, D., Jia, Q., Song, H.Y., Warren, R.S., and Donner, D.B. 1995. Vascular endothelial cell growth factor promotes tyrosine phosphorylation of mediators of signal transduction that contain SH2 domains. Association with endothelial cell proliferation. *J Biol Chem* 270(12): 6729-6733.
- Hanahan, D. 1985. Heritable formation of pancreatic beta-cell tumours in transgenic mice expressing recombinant insulin/simian virus 40 oncogenes. *Nature* **315**(6015): 115-122.
- Hanahan, D. and Folkman, J. 1996. Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. *Cell* **86**(3): 353-364.
- Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, R.A. 2000. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100(1): 57-70.
- Hartmann, G., Naldini, L., Weidner, K.M., Sachs, M., Vigna, E., Comoglio, P.M., and Birchmeier, W. 1992. A functional domain in the heavy chain of scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor binds the c-Met receptor and induces cell dissociation but not mitogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89(23): 11574-11578.

- Haynes, B.F., Telen, M.J., Hale, L.P., and Denning, S.M. 1989. CD44--a molecule involved in leukocyte adherence and T-cell activation [published erratum appears in Immunol Today 1990 Mar;11(3):80]. *Immunol Today* 10(12): 423-428.
- He, Q., Lesley, J., Hyman, R., Ishihara, K., and Kincade, P.W. 1992. Molecular isoforms of murine CD44 and evidence that the membrane proximal domain is not critical for hyaluronate recognition. *J Cell Biol* 119(6): 1711-1719.
- Heiska, L., Alfthan, K., Gronholm, M., Vilja, P., Vaheri, A., and Carpen, O. 1998. Association of ezrin with intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and -2 (ICAM-1 and ICAM-2). Regulation by phosphatidylinositol 4, 5-bisphosphate. J Biol Chem 273(34): 21893-21900.
- Holmes, O., Pillozzi, S., Deakin, J.A., Carafoli, F., Kemp, L., Butler, P.J., Lyon, M., and Gherardi, E. 2007. Insights into the structure/function of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor from studies with individual domains. *J Mol Biol* **367**(2): 395-408.
- Holmqvist, K., Cross, M.J., Rolny, C., Hagerkvist, R., Rahimi, N., Matsumoto, T., Claesson-Welsh, L., and Welsh, M. 2004. The adaptor protein shb binds to tyrosine 1175 in vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor-2 and regulates VEGF-dependent cellular migration. *J Biol Chem* 279(21): 22267-22275.
- Horowitz, A., Tkachenko, E., and Simons, M. 2002. Fibroblast growth factor-specific modulation of cellular response by syndecan-4. *J Cell Biol* **157**(4): 715-725.
- Houck, K.A., Leung, D.W., Rowland, A.M., Winer, J., and Ferrara, N. 1992. Dual regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor bioavailability by genetic and proteolytic mechanisms. *J Biol Chem* 267(36): 26031-26037.
- Hua, Q., Knudson, C.B., and Knudson, W. 1993. Internalization of hyaluronan by chondrocytes occurs via receptor-mediated endocytosis. *J Cell Sci* **106**(Pt 1): 365-375.
- Huet, S., Groux, H., Caillou, B., Valentin, H., Prieur, A.M., and Bernard, A. 1989. CD44 contributes to T cell activation. *J Immunol* 143(3): 798-801.
- Hughes, E.N., Colombatti, A., and August, J.T. 1983. Murine cell surface glycoproteins. Purification of the polymorphic Pgp-1 antigen and analysis of its expression on macrophages and other myeloid cells. *J Biol Chem* 258(2): 1014-1021.
- Ishida, A., Murray, J., Saito, Y., Kanthou, C., Benzakour, O., Shibuya, M., and Wijelath, E.S. 2001. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor receptors in smooth muscle cells. *J Cell Physiol* 188(3): 359-368.
- Jones, M., Tussey, L., Athanasou, N., and Jackson, D.G. 2000. Heparan sulfate proteoglycan isoforms of the CD44 hyaluronan receptor induced in human inflammatory macrophages can function as paracrine regulators of fibroblast growth factor action. *J Biol Chem* **275**(11): 7964-7974.
- Jung, C., Matzke, A., Niemann, H.H., Schwerck, C., Tenenbaum, m., and Orian-Rousseau, V. 2009. Involvement of CD44v6 in InlB-dependent Listeria invasion *Molecular Microbiology* in press.
- Kabrun, N., Buhring, H.J., Choi, K., Ullrich, A., Risau, W., and Keller, G. 1997. Flk-1 expression defines a population of early embryonic hematopoietic precursors. *Development* **124**(10): 2039-2048.
- Kainz, C., Kohlberger, P., Tempfer, C., Sliutz, G., Gitsch, G., Reinthaller, A., and Breitenecker, G. 1995. Prognostic value of CD44 splice variants in human stage III cervical cancer. *Eur J Cancer* **31A**(10): 1706-1709.
- Kanno, S., Oda, N., Abe, M., Terai, Y., Ito, M., Shitara, K., Tabayashi, K., Shibuya, M., and Sato, Y. 2000. Roles of two VEGF receptors, Flt-1 and KDR, in the signal transduction of VEGF effects in human vascular endothelial cells. *Oncogene* **19**(17): 2138-2146.

- Katoh, S., McCarthy, J.B., and Kincade, P.W. 1994. Characterization of soluble CD44 in the circulation of mice. Levels are affected by immune activity and tumor growth. *J Immunol* 153(8): 3440-3449.
- Kawakami, N., Nishizawa, F., Sakane, N., Iwao, M., Tsujikawa, K., Ikawa, M., Okabe, M., and Yamamoto, H. 1999. Roles of integrins and CD44 on the adhesion and migration of fetal liver cells to the fetal thymus. *J Immunol* 163(6): 3211-3216.
- Kaya, G., Rodriguez, I., Jorcano, J.L., Vassalli, P., and Stamenkovic, I. 1997. Selective suppression of CD44 in keratinocytes of mice bearing an antisense CD44 transgene driven by a tissue-specific promoter disrupts hyaluronate metabolism in the skin and impairs keratinocyte proliferation. *Genes Dev* **11**(8): 996-1007.
- Keck, P.J., Hauser, S.D., Krivi, G., Sanzo, K., Warren, T., Feder, J., and Connolly, D.T. 1989. Vascular permeability factor, an endothelial cell mitogen related to PDGF. *Science* 246(4935): 1309-1312.
- Kendall, R.L. and Thomas, K.A. 1993. Inhibition of vascular endothelial cell growth factor activity by an endogenously encoded soluble receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **90**(22): 10705-10709.
- Keyt, B.A., Berleau, L.T., Nguyen, H.V., Chen, H., Heinsohn, H., Vandlen, R., and Ferrara, N. 1996. The carboxyl-terminal domain (111-165) of vascular endothelial growth factor is critical for its mitogenic potency. *J Biol Chem* 271(13): 7788-7795.
- Khaldoyanidi, S., Denzel, A., and Zoller, M. 1996. Requirement for CD44 in proliferation and homing of hematopoietic precursor cells. *J Leukoc Biol* **60**(5): 579-592.
- Khaldoyanidi, S., Karakhanova, S., Sleeman, J., Herrlich, P., and Ponta, H. 2002. CD44 variantspecific antibodies trigger hemopoiesis by selective release of cytokines from bone marrow macrophages. *Blood* **99**(11): 3955-3961.
- Kieser, A., Weich, H.A., Brandner, G., Marme, D., and Kolch, W. 1994. Mutant p53 potentiates protein kinase C induction of vascular endothelial growth factor expression. *Oncogene* **9**(3): 963-969.
- Kohda, D., Morton, C.J., Parkar, A.A., Hatanaka, H., Inagaki, F.M., Campbell, I.D., and Day, A.J. 1996. Solution structure of the link module: a hyaluronan-binding domain involved in extracellular matrix stability and cell migration. *Cell* **86**(5): 767-775.
- König, H., Moll, J., Ponta, H., and Herrlich, P. 1996. Trans-acting factors regulate the expression of CD44 splice variants. *EMBO J* **15**: 4030-4039.
- Kubota, Y., Kleinman, H.K., Martin, G.R., and Lawley, T.J. 1988. Role of laminin and basement membrane in the morphological differentiation of human endothelial cells into capillarylike structures. *J Cell Biol* 107(4): 1589-1598.
- Lampugnani, G.M., Zanetti, A., Corada, M., Takahashi, T., Balconi, G., Breviario, F., Orsenigo, F., Cattelino, A., Kemler, R., Daniel, T.O., and Dejana, E. 2003. Contact inhibition of VEGF-induced proliferation requires vascular endothelial cadherin, beta-catenin, and the phosphatase DEP-1/CD148. *J Cell Biol* 161(4): 793-804.
- Lampugnani, M.G., Orsenigo, F., Gagliani, M.C., Tacchetti, C., and Dejana, E. 2006. Vascular endothelial cadherin controls VEGFR-2 internalization and signaling from intracellular compartments. *J Cell Biol* 174(4): 593-604.
- Legg, J.W. and Isacke, C.M. 1998. Identification and functional analysis of the ezrin-binding site in the hyaluronan receptor, CD44. *Curr Biol* **8**(12): 705-708.
- Legg, J.W., Lewis, C.A., Parsons, M., Ng, T., and Isacke, C.M. 2002. A novel PKC-regulated mechanism controls CD44 ezrin association and directional cell motility. *Nat Cell Biol* **4**(6): 399-407.
- Levy, A.P., Levy, N.S., Wegner, S., and Goldberg, M.A. 1995. Transcriptional regulation of the rat vascular endothelial growth factor gene by hypoxia. *J Biol Chem* **270**(22): 13333-13340.

- Levy, N.S., Chung, S., Furneaux, H., and Levy, A.P. 1998. Hypoxic stabilization of vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA by the RNA-binding protein HuR. *J Biol Chem* **273**(11): 6417-6423.
- Li, J., Perrella, M.A., Tsai, J.C., Yet, S.F., Hsieh, C.M., Yoshizumi, M., Patterson, C., Endege, W.O., Zhou, F., and Lee, M.E. 1995. Induction of vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression by interleukin-1 beta in rat aortic smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem* 270(1): 308-312.
- Liotta, L.A., Kleinerman, J., and Saidel, G.M. 1974. Quantitative relationships of intravascular tumor cells, tumor vessels, and pulmonary metastases following tumor implantation. *Cancer Res* **34**(5): 997-1004.
- Liu, D. and Sy, M.S. 1996. A cysteine residue located in the transmembrane domain of CD44 is important in binding of CD44 to hyaluronic acid. *J Exp Med* **183**(5): 1987-1994.
- Liu, Y., Cox, S.R., Morita, T., and Kourembanas, S. 1995. Hypoxia regulates vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression in endothelial cells. Identification of a 5' enhancer. *Circulation research* **77**(3): 638-643.
- Lokeshwar, V.B., Fregien, N., and Bourguignon, L.Y. 1994. Ankyrin-binding domain of CD44(GP85) is required for the expression of hyaluronic acid-mediated adhesion function. *J Cell Biol* **126**(4): 1099-1109.
- Lokker, N.A., Mark, M.R., Luis, E.A., Bennett, G.L., Robbins, K.A., Baker, J.B., and Godowski, P.J. 1992. Structure-function analysis of hepatocyte growth factor: identification of variants that lack mitogenic activity yet retain high affinity receptor binding. *Embo J* 11(7): 2503-2510.
- Lyden, D., Hattori, K., Dias, S., Costa, C., Blaikie, P., Butros, L., Chadburn, A., Heissig, B., Marks, W., Witte, L., Wu, Y., Hicklin, D., Zhu, Z., Hackett, N.R., Crystal, R.G., Moore, M.A., Hajjar, K.A., Manova, K., Benezra, R., and Rafii, S. 2001. Impaired recruitment of bone-marrow-derived endothelial and hematopoietic precursor cells blocks tumor angiogenesis and growth. *Nat Med* 7(11): 1194-1201.
- Lyon, M., Deakin, J.A., Mizuno, K., Nakamura, T., and Gallagher, J.T. 1994. Interaction of hepatocyte growth factor with heparan sulfate. Elucidation of the major heparan sulfate structural determinants. *J Biol Chem* **269**(15): 11216-11223.
- Mamluk, R., Gechtman, Z., Kutcher, M.E., Gasiunas, N., Gallagher, J., and Klagsbrun, M. 2002. Neuropilin-1 binds vascular endothelial growth factor 165, placenta growth factor-2, and heparin via its b1b2 domain. *J Biol Chem* 277(27): 24818-24825.
- Maroun, C.R., Holgado-Madruga, M., Royal, I., Naujokas, M.A., Fournier, T.M., Wong, A.J., and Park, M. 1999. The Gab1 PH domain is required for localization of Gab1 at sites of cell-cell contact and epithelial morphogenesis downstream from the met receptor tyrosine kinase. *Mol Cell Biol* 19(3): 1784-1799.
- Matzke, A. 2006. Funktion der extrazellulären Domäne von CD44 v6 als Ko-Rezeptor für Wachstumsfaktorrezeptoren. *PhD Thesis, University of Karlsruhe.*
- Matzke, A., Herrlich, P., Ponta, H., and Orian-Rousseau, V. 2005. A 5-amino-acid peptide blocks Met and Ron dependent cell migration. *Cancer research* **65**: 6105-6110.
- Matzke, A., Sargsyan, V., Holtmann, B., Aramuni, G., Asan, E., Sendtner, M., Pace, G., Howells, N., Zhang, W., Ponta, H., and Orian-Rousseau, V. 2007. Haploinsufficiency of c-Met in cd44-/- mice identifies a collaboration of CD44 and c-Met in vivo. *Mol Cell Biol* 27(24): 8797-8806.
- McCourt, P.A., Ek, B., Forsberg, N., and Gustafson, S. 1994. Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 is a cell surface receptor for hyaluronan. *J Biol Chem* **269**(48): 30081-30084.
- McDonald, N.Q. and Hendrickson, W.A. 1993. A structural superfamily of growth factors containing a cystine knot motif. *Cell* **73**(3): 421-424.

- Meadows, K.N., Bryant, P., and Pumiglia, K. 2001. Vascular endothelial growth factor induction of the angiogenic phenotype requires Ras activation. *J Biol Chem* **276**(52): 49289-49298.
- Meyer, D. and Birchmeier, C. 1995. Multiple essential functions of neuregulin in development. *Nature* **378**(6555): 386-390.
- Mikecz, K., Dennis, K., Shi, M., and Kim, J.H. 1999. Modulation of hyaluronan receptor (CD44) function in vivo in a murine model of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* **42**(4): 659-668.
- Missbach-Guentner, J., Dullin, C., Kimmina, S., Zientkowska, M., Domeyer-Missbach, M., Malz, C., Grabbe, E., Stuhmer, W., and Alves, F. 2008. Morphologic changes of mammary carcinomas in mice over time as monitored by flat-panel detector volume computed tomography. *Neoplasia* 10(7): 663-673.
- Miyake, K., Medina, K.L., Hayashi, S., Ono, S., Hamaoka, T., and Kincade, P.W. 1990. Monoclonal antibodies to Pgp-1/CD44 block lympho-hemopoiesis in long- term bone marrow cultures. J Exp Med 171(2): 477-488.
- Miyazawa, K., Tsubouchi, H., Naka, D., Takahashi, K., Okigaki, M., Arakaki, N., Nakayama, H., Hirono, S., Sakiyama, O., Takahashi, K., and et al. 1989. Molecular cloning and sequence analysis of cDNA for human hepatocyte growth factor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 163(2): 967-973.
- Mohamadzadeh, M., DeGrendele, H., Arizpe, H., Estess, P., and Siegelman, M. 1998. Proinflammatory stimuli regulate endothelial hyaluronan expression and CD44/HAdependent primary adhesion. *J Clin Invest* **101**(1): 97-108.
- Morikawa, S., Baluk, P., Kaidoh, T., Haskell, A., Jain, R.K., and McDonald, D.M. 2002. Abnormalities in pericytes on blood vessels and endothelial sprouts in tumors. *Am J Pathol* **160**(3): 985-1000.
- Moscatelli, D., Presta, M., and Rifkin, D.B. 1986. Purification of a factor from human placenta that stimulates capillary endothelial cell protease production, DNA synthesis, and migration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **83**(7): 2091-2095.
- Mukhopadhyay, D., Tsiokas, L., and Sukhatme, V.P. 1995. Wild-type p53 and v-Src exert opposing influences on human vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression. *Cancer Res* **55**(24): 6161-6165.
- Naka, D., Ishii, T., Yoshiyama, Y., Miyazawa, K., Hara, H., Hishida, T., and Kidamura, N. 1992. Activation of hepatocyte growth factor by proteolytic conversion of a single chain form to a heterodimer. *J Biol Chem* 267(28): 20114-20119.
- Nakamura, T., Nishizawa, T., Hagiya, M., Seki, T., Shimonishi, M., Sugimura, A., Tashiro, K., and Shimizu, S. 1989. Molecular cloning and expression of human hepatocyte growth factor. *Nature* **342**(6248): 440-443.
- Naldini, L., Weidner, K.M., Vigna, E., Gaudino, G., Bardelli, A., Ponzetto, C., Narsimhan, R.P., Hartmann, G., Zarnegar, R., Michalopoulos, G.K., and et al. 1991. Scatter factor and hepatocyte growth factor are indistinguishable ligands for the MET receptor. *Embo J* 10(10): 2867-2878.
- Naor, D., Sionov, R.V., and Ish-Shalom, D. 1997. CD44: Structure, Function and Association with the Malignant Process. in *Advances in Cancer Research* (ed. G.F. Vande Woude and G. Klein), pp. 243-318, San-Diego.
- Neame, P.J., Christner, J.E., and Baker, J.R. 1986. The primary structure of link protein from rat chondrosarcoma proteoglycan aggregate. *J Biol Chem* **261**(8): 3519-3535.
- Nickoloff, B.J., Mitra, R.S., Varani, J., Dixit, V.M., and Polverini, P.J. 1994. Aberrant production of interleukin-8 and thrombospondin-1 by psoriatic keratinocytes mediates angiogenesis. *Am J Pathol* **144**(4): 820-828.

- Niemann, H.H., Jager, V., Butler, P.J., van den Heuvel, J., Schmidt, S., Ferraris, D., Gherardi, E., and Heinz, D.W. 2007. Structure of the human receptor tyrosine kinase met in complex with the Listeria invasion protein InIB. *Cell* **130**(2): 235-246.
- O'Neill, H.C. 1989. Antibody which defines a subset of bone marrow cells that can migrate to thymus. *Immunology* **68**(1): 59-65.
- Ogawa, S., Oku, A., Sawano, A., Yamaguchi, S., Yazaki, Y., and Shibuya, M. 1998. A novel type of vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-E (NZ-7 VEGF), preferentially utilizes KDR/Flk-1 receptor and carries a potent mitotic activity without heparin-binding domain. *J Biol Chem* **273**(47): 31273-31282.
- Olaku, V. 2008. Intercellular Adheasion Molecule 1 (ICAM-1) a Novel Co-Receptor for c-Met. *PhD Thesis, University of Karlsruhe.*
- Olofsson, B., Korpelainen, E., Pepper, M.S., Mandriota, S.J., Aase, K., Kumar, V., Gunji, Y., Jeltsch, M.M., Shibuya, M., Alitalo, K., and Eriksson, U. 1998. Vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGF-B) binds to VEGF receptor-1 and regulates plasminogen activator activity in endothelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95(20): 11709-11714.
- Orian-Rousseau, V., Chen, L., Sleeman, J.P., Herrlich, P., and Ponta, H. 2002. CD44 is required for two consecutive steps in HGF/c-Met signaling. *Genes Dev* **16**(23): 3074-3086.
- Orian-Rousseau, V., Morrison, H., Matzke, A., Kastilan, T., Pace, G., Herrlich, P., and Ponta, H. 2007. Hepatocyte growth factor-induced Ras activation requires ERM proteins linked to both CD44v6 and F-actin. *Mol Biol Cell* 18(1): 76-83.
- Orian-Rousseau, V. and Ponta, H. 2008. Chapter 4 Adhesion Proteins Meet Receptors A Common Theme? *Adv Cancer Res* 101C: 63-92.
- Pajusola, K., Aprelikova, O., Korhonen, J., Kaipainen, A., Pertovaara, L., Alitalo, R., and Alitalo, K. 1992. FLT4 receptor tyrosine kinase contains seven immunoglobulin-like loops and is expressed in multiple human tissues and cell lines. *Cancer Res* 52(20): 5738-5743.
- Papetti, M. and Herman, I.M. 2002. Mechanisms of normal and tumor-derived angiogenesis. *American journal of physiology* **282**(5): C947-970.
- Park, J.E., Chen, H.H., Winer, J., Houck, K.A., and Ferrara, N. 1994. Placenta growth factor. Potentiation of vascular endothelial growth factor bioactivity, in vitro and in vivo, and high affinity binding to Flt-1 but not to Flk-1/KDR. *J Biol Chem* 269(41): 25646-25654.
- Park, M., Dean, M., Cooper, C.S., Schmidt, M., O'Brien, S.J., Blair, D.G., and Vande Woude, G.F. 1986. Mechanism of met oncogene activation. *Cell* **45**(6): 895-904.
- Patan, S., Haenni, B., and Burri, P.H. 1996. Implementation of intussusceptive microvascular growth in the chicken chorioallantoic membrane (CAM): 1. pillar formation by folding of the capillary wall. *Microvascular research* **51**(1): 80-98.
- Peach, R.J., Hollenbaugh, D., Stamenkovic, I., and Aruffo, A. 1993. Identification of hyaluronic acid binding sites in the extracellular domain of CD44. *J Cell Biol* **122**(1): 257-264.
- Peck, D. and Isacke, C.M. 1998. Hyaluronan-dependent cell migration can be blocked by a CD44 cytoplasmic domain peptide containing a phosphoserine at position 325. *J Cell Sci* 111(Pt 11): 1595-1601.
- Pelicci, G., Giordano, S., Zhen, Z., Salcini, A.E., Lanfrancone, L., Bardelli, A., Panayotou, G., Waterfield, M.D., Ponzetto, C., Pelicci, P.G., and et al. 1995. The motogenic and mitogenic responses to HGF are amplified by the Shc adaptor protein. *Oncogene* 10(8): 1631-1638.
- Pepper, M.S., Ferrara, N., Orci, L., and Montesano, R. 1991. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) induces plasminogen activators and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in microvascular endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 181(2): 902-906.

- Pertovaara, L., Kaipainen, A., Mustonen, T., Orpana, A., Ferrara, N., Saksela, O., and Alitalo, K. 1994. Vascular endothelial growth factor is induced in response to transforming growth factor-beta in fibroblastic and epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 269(9): 6271-6274.
- Plouet, J., Moro, F., Bertagnolli, S., Coldeboeuf, N., Mazarguil, H., Clamens, S., and Bayard, F. 1997. Extracellular cleavage of the vascular endothelial growth factor 189-amino acid form by urokinase is required for its mitogenic effect. *J Biol Chem* 272(20): 13390-13396.
- Plouet, J., Schilling, J., and Gospodarowicz, D. 1989. Isolation and characterization of a newly identified endothelial cell mitogen produced by AtT-20 cells. *Embo J* **8**(12): 3801-3806.
- Poltorak, Z., Cohen, T., Sivan, R., Kandelis, Y., Spira, G., Vlodavsky, I., Keshet, E., and Neufeld, G. 1997. VEGF145, a secreted vascular endothelial growth factor isoform that binds to extracellular matrix. *J Biol Chem* **272**(11): 7151-7158.
- Polverini, P.J. 1995. The pathophysiology of angiogenesis. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 6(3): 230-247.
- Ponta, H., Sherman, L., and Herrlich, P.A. 2003. CD44: from adhesion molecules to signalling regulators. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **4**(1): 33-45.
- Ponzetto, C., Bardelli, A., Zhen, Z., Maina, F., dalla Zonca, P., Giordano, S., Graziani, A., Panayotou, G., and Comoglio, P.M. 1994. A multifunctional docking site mediates signaling and transformation by the hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor receptor family. *Cell* 77(2): 261-271.
- Ponzetto, C., Zhen, Z., Audero, E., Maina, F., Bardelli, A., Basile, M.L., Giordano, S., Narsimhan, R., and Comoglio, P. 1996. Specific uncoupling of GRB2 from the Met receptor. Differential effects on transformation and motility. J Biol Chem 271(24): 14119-14123.
- Potgens, A.J., Lubsen, N.H., van Altena, M.C., Vermeulen, R., Bakker, A., Schoenmakers, J.G., Ruiter, D.J., and de Waal, R.M. 1994. Covalent dimerization of vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor is essential for its biological activity. Evidence from Cys to Ser mutations. *J Biol Chem* 269(52): 32879-32885.
- Protin, U., Schweighoffer, T., Jochum, W., and Hilberg, F. 1999. CD44-deficient mice develop normally with changes in subpopulations and recirculation of lymphocyte subsets. J Immunol 163(9): 4917-4923.
- Qian, X., Karpova, T., Sheppard, A.M., McNally, J., and Lowy, D.R. 2004. E-cadherin-mediated adhesion inhibits ligand-dependent activation of diverse receptor tyrosine kinases. *Embo J* 23(8): 1739-1748.
- Rabinovitz, I. and Mercurio, A.M. 1996. The integrin alpha 6 beta 4 and the biology of carcinoma. *Biochemistry and cell biology = Biochimie et biologie cellulaire* **74**(6): 811-821.
- Rafi-Janajreh, A.Q., Chen, D., Schmits, R., Mak, T.W., Grayson, R.L., Sponenberg, D.P., Nagarkatti, M., and Nagarkatti, P.S. 1999. Evidence for the involvement of CD44 in endothelial cell injury and induction of vascular leak syndrome by IL-2. *J Immunol* 163(3): 1619-1627.
- Rafii, S. 2000. Circulating endothelial precursors: mystery, reality, and promise. *J Clin Invest* **105**(1): 17-19.
- Rahimi, N., Hung, W., Tremblay, E., Saulnier, R., and Elliott, B. 1998. c-Src kinase activity is required for hepatocyte growth factor-induced motility and anchorage-independent growth of mammary carcinoma cells. *J Biol Chem* **273**(50): 33714-33721.
- Rak, J., Filmus, J., Finkenzeller, G., Grugel, S., Marme, D., and Kerbel, R.S. 1995. Oncogenes as inducers of tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer metastasis reviews* 14(4): 263-277.
- Risau, W. 1997. Mechanisms of angiogenesis. *Nature* **386**(6626): 671-674.

- Risau, W. and Flamme, I. 1995. Vasculogenesis. Annual review of cell and developmental biology 11: 73-91.
- Rong, S., Segal, S., Anver, M., Resau, J.H., and Vande Woude, G.F. 1994. Invasiveness and metastasis of NIH 3T3 cells induced by Met-hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor autocrine stimulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* 91(11): 4731-4735.
- Rosen, E.M. and Goldberg, I.D. 1997. Regulation of angiogenesis by scatter factor. *Exs* **79**: 193-208.
- Rosen, E.M., Grant, D.S., Kleinman, H.K., Goldberg, I.D., Bhargava, M.M., Nickoloff, B.J., Kinsella, J.L., and Polverini, P. 1993. Scatter factor (hepatocyte growth factor) is a potent angiogenesis factor in vivo. *Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology* 47: 227-234.
- Rosenfeld, P.J. 2006. Intravitreal avastin: the low cost alternative to lucentis? *American journal* of ophthalmology **142**(1): 141-143.
- Rosenfeld, P.J., Brown, D.M., Heier, J.S., Boyer, D.S., Kaiser, P.K., Chung, C.Y., and Kim, R.Y. 2006. Ranibizumab for neovascular age-related macular degeneration. N Engl J Med 355(14): 1419-1431.
- Rossbach, H.C., Krizanac-Bengez, L., Santos, E.B., Gooley, T.A., and Sandmaier, B.M. 1996. An antibody to CD44 enhances hematopoiesis in long-term marrow cultures. *Exp Hematol* 24(2): 221-227.
- Rousseau, S., Houle, F., Landry, J., and Huot, J. 1997. p38 MAP kinase activation by vascular endothelial growth factor mediates actin reorganization and cell migration in human endothelial cells. *Oncogene* **15**(18): 2169-2177.
- Royal, I., Fournier, T.M., and Park, M. 1997. Differential requirement of Grb2 and PI3-kinase in HGF/SF-induced cell motility and tubulogenesis. *J Cell Physiol* **173**(2): 196-201.
- Sachs, M., Brohmann, H., Zechner, D., Muller, T., Hulsken, J., Walther, I., Schaeper, U., Birchmeier, C., and Birchmeier, W. 2000. Essential role of Gab1 for signaling by the c-Met receptor in vivo. J Cell Biol 150(6): 1375-1384.
- Sachs, M., Weidner, K.M., Brinkmann, V., Walther, I., Obermeier, A., Ullrich, A., and Birchmeier, W. 1996. Motogenic and morphogenic activity of epithelial receptor tyrosine kinases. *J Cell Biol* 133(5): 1095-1107.
- Sakkab, D., Lewitzky, M., Posern, G., Schaeper, U., Sachs, M., Birchmeier, W., and Feller, S.M. 2000. Signaling of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor (HGF) to the small GTPase Rap1 via the large docking protein Gab1 and the adapter protein CRKL. *J Biol Chem* 275(15): 10772-10778.
- Sawano, A., Iwai, S., Sakurai, Y., Ito, M., Shitara, K., Nakahata, T., and Shibuya, M. 2001. Flt-1, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1, is a novel cell surface marker for the lineage of monocyte-macrophages in humans. *Blood* 97(3): 785-791.
- Schaeper, U., Gehring, N.H., Fuchs, K.P., Sachs, M., Kempkes, B., and Birchmeier, W. 2000. Coupling of Gab1 to c-Met, Grb2, and Shp2 mediates biological responses. *J Cell Biol* 149(7): 1419-1432.
- Schmidt, C., Bladt, F., Goedecke, S., Brinkmann, V., Zschiesche, W., Sharpe, M., Gherardi, E., and Birchmeier, C. 1995. Scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor is essential for liver development. *Nature* 373(6516): 699-702.
- Schmits, R., Filmus, J., Gerwin, N., Senaldi, G., Kiefer, F., Kundig, T., Wakeham, A., Shahinian, A., Catzavelos, C., Rak, J., Furlonger, C., Zakarian, A., Simard, J.J., Ohashi, P.S., Paige, C.J., Gutierrez-Ramos, J.C., and Mak, T.W. 1997. CD44 regulates hematopoietic progenitor distribution, granuloma formation, and tumorigenicity. *Blood* 90(6): 2217-2233.
- Schomber, T., Kopfstein, L., Djonov, V., Albrecht, I., Baeriswyl, V., Strittmatter, K., and Christofori, G. 2007. Placental growth factor-1 attenuates vascular endothelial growth

factor-A-dependent tumor angiogenesis during beta cell carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res* 67(22): 10840-10848.

- Screaton, G.R., Bell, M.V., Bell, J.I., and Jackson, D.G. 1993. The identification of a new alternative exon with highly restricted tissue expression in transcripts encoding the mouse Pgp-1 (CD44) homing receptor. Comparison of all 10 variable exons between mouse, human, and rat. *J Biol Chem* 268(17): 12235-12238.
- Screaton, G.R., Bell, M.V., Jackson, D.G., Cornelis, F.B., Gerth, U., and Bell, J.I. 1992. Genomic structure of DNA encoding the lymphocyte homing receptor CD44 reveals at least 12 alternatively spliced exons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89(24): 12160-12164.
- Seiter, S., Arch, R., Reber, S., Komitowski, D., Hofmann, M., Ponta, H., Herrlich, P., Matzku, S., and Zoller, M. 1993. Prevention of tumor metastasis formation by anti-variant CD44. *J Exp Med* **177**(2): 443-455.
- Senger, D.R., Galli, S.J., Dvorak, A.M., Perruzzi, C.A., Harvey, V.S., and Dvorak, H.F. 1983. Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. *Science* 219(4587): 983-985.
- Shalaby, F., Ho, J., Stanford, W.L., Fischer, K.D., Schuh, A.C., Schwartz, L., Bernstein, A., and Rossant, J. 1997. A requirement for Flk1 in primitive and definitive hematopoiesis and vasculogenesis. *Cell* 89(6): 981-990.
- Shalaby, F., Rossant, J., Yamaguchi, T.P., Gertsenstein, M., Wu, X.F., Breitman, M.L., and Schuh, A.C. 1995. Failure of blood-island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1deficient mice. *Nature* **376**(6535): 62-66.
- Sherman, L., Wainwright, D., Ponta, H., and Herrlich, P. 1998. A splice variant of CD44 expressed in the apical ectodermal ridge presents fibroblast growth factors to limb mesenchyme and is required for limb outgrowth. *Genes Dev* **12**(7): 1058-1071.
- Sherman, L.S., Rizvi, T.A., Karyala, S., and Ratner, N. 2000. CD44 enhances neuregulin signaling by Schwann cells. *J Cell Biol* **150**(5): 1071-1084.
- Shibuya, M., Yamaguchi, S., Yamane, A., Ikeda, T., Tojo, A., Matsushime, H., and Sato, M. 1990. Nucleotide sequence and expression of a novel human receptor-type tyrosine kinase gene (flt) closely related to the fms family. *Oncogene* 5(4): 519-524.
- Shimizu, Y. and Shaw, S. 1991. Lymphocyte interactions with extracellular matrix. *Faseb J* **5**(9): 2292-2299.
- Skelton, T.P., Zeng, C., Nocks, A., and Stamenkovic, I. 1998. Glycosylation provides both stimulatory and inhibitory effects on cell surface and soluble CD44 binding to hyaluronan. *J Cell Biol* **140**: 431-446.
- Sleeman, J., Kondo, K., Moll, J., Ponta, H., and Herrlich, P. 1997. Variant exons v6 and v7 together expand the repertoire of glycosaminoglycans bound by CD44. *J Biol Chem* **272**: 31837-31844.
- Sleeman, J., Moll, J., Sherman, L., Dall, P., Pals, S.T., Ponta, H., and Herrlich, P. 1995. The role of CD44 splice variants in human metastatic cancer. *Ciba Found Symp* 189: 142-151; discussion 151-146, 174-146.
- Sleeman, J.P., Arming, S., Moll, J.F., Hekele, A., Rudy, W., Sherman, L.S., Kreil, G., Ponta, H., and Herrlich, P. 1996. Hyaluronate-independent metastatic behavior of CD44 variant-expressing pancreatic carcinoma cells. *Cancer Res* **56**(13): 3134-3141.
- Soker, S., Miao, H.Q., Nomi, M., Takashima, S., and Klagsbrun, M. 2002. VEGF165 mediates formation of complexes containing VEGFR-2 and neuropilin-1 that enhance VEGF165-receptor binding. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* **85**(2): 357-368.
- Soker, S., Takashima, S., Miao, H.Q., Neufeld, G., and Klagsbrun, M. 1998. Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoform-specific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cell* **92**(6): 735-745.

- Sonnenberg, E., Meyer, D., Weidner, K.M., and Birchmeier, C. 1993. Scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor and its receptor, the c-met tyrosine kinase, can mediate a signal exchange between mesenchyme and epithelia during mouse development. *J Cell Biol* **123**(1): 223-235.
- Steinfeld, R., Van Den Berghe, H., and David, G. 1996. Stimulation of fibroblast growth factor receptor-1 occupancy and signaling by cell surface-associated syndecans and glypican. J Cell Biol 133(2): 405-416.
- Stoker, M., Gherardi, E., Perryman, M., and Gray, J. 1987. Scatter factor is a fibroblast-derived modulator of epithelial cell mobility. *Nature* **327**(6119): 239-242.
- Sulpice, E., Plouet, J., Berge, M., Allanic, D., Tobelem, G., and Merkulova-Rainon, T. 2007. Neuropilin-1 and neuropilin-2 act as coreceptors, potentiating proangiogenic activity. *Blood* 111(4): 2036-2045.
- Sy, M.S., Guo, Y.J., and Stamenkovic, I. 1991. Distinct effects of two CD44 isoforms on tumor growth in vivo. *J Exp Med* **174**(4): 859-866.
- Sy, M.S., Guo, Y.J., and Stamenkovic, I. 1992. Inhibition of tumor growth in vivo with a soluble CD44-immunoglobulin fusion protein. *J Exp Med* **176**(2): 623-627.
- Takahashi, T., Ueno, H., and Shibuya, M. 1999. VEGF activates protein kinase C-dependent, but Ras-independent Raf-MEK-MAP kinase pathway for DNA synthesis in primary endothelial cells. *Oncogene* **18**(13): 2221-2230.
- Takahashi, T., Yamaguchi, S., Chida, K., and Shibuya, M. 2001. A single autophosphorylation site on KDR/Flk-1 is essential for VEGF-A-dependent activation of PLC-gamma and DNA synthesis in vascular endothelial cells. *Embo J* **20**(11): 2768-2778.
- Teder, P., Vandivier, R.W., Jiang, D., Liang, J., Cohn, L., Pure, E., Henson, P.M., and Noble, P.W. 2002. Resolution of lung inflammation by CD44. *Science* **296**(5565): 155-158.
- Teramura, Y., Ichinose, J., Takagi, H., Nishida, K., Yanagida, T., and Sako, Y. 2006. Singlemolecule analysis of epidermal growth factor binding on the surface of living cells. *Embo* J 25(18): 4215-4222.
- Terman, B.I., Carrion, M.E., Kovacs, E., Rasmussen, B.A., Eddy, R.L., and Shows, T.B. 1991. Identification of a new endothelial cell growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase. *Oncogene* 6(9): 1677-1683.
- Thorne, R.F., Legg, J.W., and Isacke, C.M. 2004. The role of the CD44 transmembrane and cytoplasmic domains in co-ordinating adhesive and signalling events. *J Cell Sci* **117**(Pt 3): 373-380.
- Tischer, E., Mitchell, R., Hartman, T., Silva, M., Gospodarowicz, D., Fiddes, J.C., and Abraham, J.A. 1991. The human gene for vascular endothelial growth factor. Multiple protein forms are encoded through alternative exon splicing. *J Biol Chem* 266(18): 11947-11954.
- Tkachenko, E., Rhodes, J.M., and Simons, M. 2005. Syndecans: new kids on the signaling block. *Circulation research* **96**(5): 488-500.
- Tölg, C., Hofmann, M., Herrlich, P., and Ponta, H. 1993. Splicing choice from ten variant exons establishes CD44 variability. *Nucleic Acids Res* **21**: 1225-1229.
- Trusolino, L., Bertotti, A., and Comoglio, P.M. 2001. A signaling adapter function for alpha6beta4 integrin in the control of HGF-dependent invasive growth. *Cell* **107**(5): 643-654.
- Turunen, O., Wahlstrom, T., and Vaheri, A. 1994. Ezrin has a COOH-terminal actin-binding site that is conserved in the ezrin protein family. *J Cell Biol* **126**(6): 1445-1453.
- Uehara, Y., Minowa, O., Mori, C., Shiota, K., Kuno, J., Noda, T., and Kitamura, N. 1995. Placental defect and embryonic lethality in mice lacking hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. *Nature* **373**(6516): 702-705.

- Unemori, E.N., Ferrara, N., Bauer, E.A., and Amento, E.P. 1992. Vascular endothelial growth factor induces interstitial collagenase expression in human endothelial cells. *J Cell Physiol* **153**(3): 557-562.
- Van Belle, E., Witzenbichler, B., Chen, D., Silver, M., Chang, L., Schwall, R., and Isner, J.M. 1998. Potentiated angiogenic effect of scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor via induction of vascular endothelial growth factor: the case for paracrine amplification of angiogenesis. *Circulation* 97(4): 381-390.
- Volk, R., Schwartz, J.J., Li, J., Rosenberg, R.D., and Simons, M. 1999. The role of syndecan cytoplasmic domain in basic fibroblast growth factor-dependent signal transduction. *J Biol Chem* **274**(34): 24417-24424.
- Wainwright, D.M. 1998. Growth factor presentation by CD44 variant proteins. *PhD Thesis, Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine, London.*
- Waltenberger, J., Claesson-Welsh, L., Siegbahn, A., Shibuya, M., and Heldin, C.H. 1994. Different signal transduction properties of KDR and Flt1, two receptors for vascular endothelial growth factor. *J Biol Chem* 269(43): 26988-26995.
- Warner, A.J., Lopez-Dee, J., Knight, E.L., Feramisco, J.R., and Prigent, S.A. 2000. The Shcrelated adaptor protein, Sck, forms a complex with the vascular-endothelial-growth-factor receptor KDR in transfected cells. *The Biochemical journal* **347**(Pt 2): 501-509.
- Warren, R.S., Yuan, H., Matli, M.R., Ferrara, N., and Donner, D.B. 1996. Induction of vascular endothelial growth factor by insulin-like growth factor 1 in colorectal carcinoma. *J Biol Chem* **271**(46): 29483-29488.
- Weber, G.F., Bronson, R.T., Ilagan, J., Cantor, H., Schmits, R., and Mak, T.W. 2002. Absence of the CD44 Gene Prevents Sarcoma Metastasis. *Cancer Res* **62**(8): 2281-2286.
- Weidner, K.M., Di Cesare, S., Sachs, M., Brinkmann, V., Behrens, J., and Birchmeier, W. 1996. Interaction between Gab1 and the c-Met receptor tyrosine kinase is responsible for epithelial morphogenesis. *Nature* 384(6605): 173-176.
- Wheatley, S.C., Isacke, C.M., and Crossley, P.H. 1993. Restricted expression of the hyaluronan receptor, CD44, during postimplantation mouse embryogenesis suggests key roles in tissue formation and patterning. *Development* **119**(2): 295-306.
- Whitaker, G.B., Limberg, B.J., and Rosenbaum, J.S. 2001. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 and neuropilin-1 form a receptor complex that is responsible for the differential signaling potency of VEGF(165) and VEGF(121). *J Biol Chem* 276(27): 25520-25531.
- Wielenga, V.J., van der Voort, R., Mulder, J.W., Kruyt, P.M., Weidema, W.F., Oosting, J., Seldenrijk, C.A., van Krimpen, C., Offerhaus, G.J., and Pals, S.T. 1998. CD44 splice variants as prognostic markers in colorectal cancer. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 33(1): 82-87.
- Wiesmann, C., Fuh, G., Christinger, H.W., Eigenbrot, C., Wells, J.A., and de Vos, A.M. 1997. Crystal structure at 1.7 A resolution of VEGF in complex with domain 2 of the Flt-1 receptor. *Cell* 91(5): 695-704.
- Wittig, B.M., Johansson, B., Zoller, M., Schwarzler, C., and Gunthert, U. 2000. Abrogation of experimental colitis correlates with increased apoptosis in mice deficient for CD44 variant exon 7 (CD44v7). *J Exp Med* **191**(12): 2053-2064.
- Wojta, J., Kaun, C., Breuss, J.M., Koshelnick, Y., Beckmann, R., Hattey, E., Mildner, M., Weninger, W., Nakamura, T., Tschachler, E., and Binder, B.R. 1999. Hepatocyte growth factor increases expression of vascular endothelial growth factor and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in human keratinocytes and the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor flk-1 in human endothelial cells. *Lab Invest* **79**(4): 427-438.
- Woodard, A.S., Garcia-Cardena, G., Leong, M., Madri, J.A., Sessa, W.C., and Languino, L.R. 1998. The synergistic activity of alphavbeta3 integrin and PDGF receptor increases cell migration. *J Cell Sci* **111** ( **Pt 4**): 469-478.

- Woolard, J., Wang, W.Y., Bevan, H.S., Qiu, Y., Morbidelli, L., Pritchard-Jones, R.O., Cui, T.G., Sugiono, M., Waine, E., Perrin, R., Foster, R., Digby-Bell, J., Shields, J.D., Whittles, C.E., Mushens, R.E., Gillatt, D.A., Ziche, M., Harper, S.J., and Bates, D.O. 2004. VEGF165b, an inhibitory vascular endothelial growth factor splice variant: mechanism of action, in vivo effect on angiogenesis and endogenous protein expression. *Cancer Res* 64(21): 7822-7835.
- Yano, T., Pinski, J., Groot, K., and Schally, A.V. 1992. Stimulation by bombesin and inhibition by bombesin/gastrin-releasing peptide antagonist RC-3095 of growth of human breast cancer cell lines. *Cancer Res* 52(16): 4545-4547.
- Yoshida, A., Anand-Apte, B., and Zetter, B.R. 1996. Differential endothelial migration and proliferation to basic fibroblast growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor. *Growth factors (Chur, Switzerland)* **13**(1-2): 57-64.
- Yu, Q. and Stamenkovic, I. 1999. Localization of matrix metalloproteinase 9 to the cell surface provides a mechanism for CD44-mediated tumor invasion. *Genes Dev* **13**(1): 35-48.
- Yu, Q. and Stamencovic, I. 2000. Cell surface-localized matrix metalloproteinase-9 proteolytically activates TGF-beta and promotes tumor invasion and angiogenesis. *Genes Dev* 14(2): 163-176.
- Yu, W.H., Woessner, J.F., Jr., McNeish, J.D., and Stamenkovic, I. 2002. CD44 anchors the assembly of matrilysin/MMP-7 with heparin-binding epidermal growth factor precursor and ErbB4 and regulates female reproductive organ remodeling. *Genes Dev* 16(3): 307-323.
- Zarnegar, R. and Michalopoulos, G. 1989. Purification and biological characterization of human hepatopoietin A, a polypeptide growth factor for hepatocytes. *Cancer Res* **49**(12): 3314-3320.
- Zeidler, A., Brauer, R., Thoss, K., Bahnsen, J., Heinrichs, V., Jablonski-Westrich, D., Wroblewski, M., Rebstock, S., and Hamann, A. 1995. Therapeutic effects of antibodies against adhesion molecules in murine collagen type II-induced arthritis. *Autoimmunity* 21(4): 245-252.
- Zhang, Y.W., Su, Y., Volpert, O.V., and Vande Woude, G.F. 2003. Hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor mediates angiogenesis through positive VEGF and negative thrombospondin 1 regulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**(22): 12718-12723.
- Zhang, Y.W., Wang, L.M., Jove, R., and Vande Woude, G.F. 2002. Requirement of Stat3 signaling for HGF/SF-Met mediated tumorigenesis. *Oncogene* **21**(2): 217-226.
- Zoller, M., Herrmann, K., Buchner, S., Seiter, S., Claas, C., Underhill, C.B., and Moller, P. 1997. Transient absence of CD44 expression and delay in development by anti-CD44 treatment during ontogeny: a surrogate of an inducible knockout? *Cell Growth Differ* 8(11): 1211-1223.
## Acknowledgments

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work has been done in the Institute for Toxicology and Genetics at the Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe. Without the help of the following people this work wound not have been possible. Therefore I would like to cordially thank

Dr. Véronique Orian-Rousseau PD for supervising my work and guiding and supporting me throughout my entire PhD

Prof Dr. Helmut Ponta for all the helpful discussions and advises

Prof Dr. Uwe Strähle for evaluating this thesis

Dr. Alexandra Matzke for special support with experiments

Anna Laib, Dr. Imke Albrecht, Dr. Katharina Jannasch and Dr. Jeannine Missbach-Guentner for fruitful collaborations

Selma Huber, Simone Maier and Sabine Müller for assistance and support with the animals

All my colleagues, especially in Lab 205, for numerous helpful advises and a nice working environment

My family

Tobias